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Preface

Ladies and Gentlemen
It is our pleasure to present the Swiss National Bank’s Annual Report for
2020. The first part of the report comprises the accountability report
submitted by the Governing Board to the Federal Assembly, and sets out how
the SNB has fulfilled its tasks pursuant to art. 5 of the National Bank Act
during the past year. The second part comprises the financial report, which
provides information on organisational and operational developments as
well as the financial result. The financial report is submitted for approval first
to the Federal Council and then to the General Meeting of Shareholders.
2020 was dominated by the coronavirus pandemic. Developments in the
Swiss and the global economy were shaped by the worldwide spread of
coronavirus and the measures taken to contain the pandemic. Following
a sharp downturn in the first half of the year, which was unusual even by
historical standards, there was a strong recovery in the third quarter. The fall
in new infections and the easing of containment measures in the summer
led to this recovery, which, however, remained incomplete. Pre-crisis levels
were not reached. In the autumn, infection numbers in Europe – including
Switzerland – and in the US rose again rapidly, which brought renewed
containment measures. This again adversely affected the economy towards
the end of the year. Over the course of 2020, inflation in Switzerland fell
significantly into negative territory. At the same time, the Swiss franc was
repeatedly subject to strong upward pressure owing to its status as a safe
haven.
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In this situation, expansionary monetary policy continued to be necessary in
order to ensure appropriate monetary conditions. The SNB’s monetary policy
contributed to crisis management via three channels. First, it countered the
increased upward pressure on the Swiss franc with stronger interventions in
the foreign exchange market, as well as the negative SNB policy rate and
negative interest on sight deposits held at the SNB. Strong appreciation would
have further impaired the Swiss economy in the crisis. Second, the low level
of interest rates created favourable financing conditions for the economy and
the public sector. This eased the burden in particular on those companies
and institutions that face increased funding needs as a result of the crisis.
Third, the SNB supported the supply of credit and liquidity to the economy
with further measures to enhance the banks’ latitude for lending.
At the forefront of these was the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility (CRF),
set up in March 2020 as part of a joint package of measures with the federal
government, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA)
and the banks. Via the CRF, the SNB provided the banks with additional
liquidity at the SNB policy rate. This contributed to banks being able to grant
COVID-19 loans to businesses at an interest rate of 0%. Furthermore, in
March the SNB raised the exemption thresholds, thereby reducing the burden
on the banking system. In addition, after consulting with FINMA, the SNB
submitted a proposal to the Federal Council to deactivate the countercyclical
capital buffer. The Federal Council accepted this recommendation on
27 March. Finally, together with other central banks, the SNB participated in
the standing swap arrangement with the US Federal Reserve in March to
enhance the provision of US dollar liquidity, thereby lessening the strain on
the global US dollar funding markets.
The SNB’s day-to-day operations were also affected by the pandemic. At
times, about 70% of staff were working from home. Units performing critical
activities that required on-site presence were split and moved to alternative
workplaces. Meetings were held mainly in the form of telephone and video
conferences, rather than face to face. This ensured good cooperation internally
as well as with external parties, at both national and international level.
A key success factor for maintaining the continuity of the SNB’s operations
was the robust IT infrastructure already in place.

6
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The SNB’s 2020 annual financial statements closed with a profit of CHF 20.9
billion, following a profit of CHF 48.9 billion in 2019. The allocation to
the provisions for currency reserves amounts to CHF 7.9 billion. After taking
into account the distribution reserve of CHF 84.0 billion, the net profit comes
to CHF 96.9 billion. This allows a dividend payment of the legally stipulated
maximum amount of CHF 15 per share.
In January 2021, the SNB and the Federal Department of Finance decided
on a new profit distribution agreement covering the period through to 2025,
and that it should already apply to the 2020 financial year. Accordingly, the
Confederation and the cantons are entitled to a profit distribution of CHF 6
billion, as the net profit meets the conditions defined in the agreement for
a distribution of this amount.
We would like to thank our employees for their hard work and support, which
proved particularly valuable during the many challenges of this extraordinary
past year.
Berne and Zurich, 26 February 2021

barbara janom steiner
President of the Bank Council

thomas j. jordan
Chairman of the Governing Board

Annual Report 2020, Preface

7

Goals and responsibilities
of the Swiss National Bank

The Swiss National Bank conducts the country’s monetary policy as an
independent central bank. It is obliged by Constitution and statute to act in
accordance with the interests of the country as a whole. Its primary goal is
to ensure price stability, while taking due account of economic developments.
In so doing, it creates an appropriate environment for economic growth.

Mandate

Price stability is an important condition for growth and prosperity. Inflation
and deflation, by contrast, impair economic activity. They hinder the role
of prices in allocating labour and capital to their most efficient use, and result
in a redistribution of income and wealth. The SNB equates price stability
with a rise in consumer prices of less than 2% per annum. Deflation – i.e.
a sustained decrease in the price level – also breaches the objective of price
stability. A medium-term inflation forecast serves as the main indicator for
monetary policy decisions.

Price stability

The SNB implements its monetary policy by steering the interest rate level
on the money market. It sets the SNB policy rate and seeks to keep the secured
short-term Swiss franc money market rates close to the SNB policy rate. The
SNB can influence money market rates by means of its open market operations
or adjust the interest rate on sight deposits held by banks and other financial
market participants at the SNB. In order to influence monetary policy conditions,
the SNB also intervenes in the foreign exchange market, as necessary.

Implementation of
monetary policy

The SNB is entrusted with the note-issuing privilege. It supplies the Swiss
economy with banknotes that meet high standards with respect to quality and
security. It is also charged by the Confederation with the task of coin
distribution.

Cash supply and distribution

The SNB facilitates and secures the operation of cashless payment systems. To
this end, it is involved in the Swiss Interbank Clearing (SIC) payment system.
The payments are settled in the SIC system via sight deposit accounts held with
the SNB.

Cashless payment
transactions

The SNB manages the currency reserves, the most important component of its
assets. It requires currency reserves to ensure that it has room for manoeuvre in
its monetary policy at all times. The level of the currency reserves is largely
dictated by the implementation of monetary policy.

Asset management

The SNB contributes to the stability of the financial system. It fulfils this
mandate by analysing sources of risk to the financial system and identifying
areas where action is needed. In addition, it helps to create and implement
a regulatory framework for the financial sector, and oversees systemically
important financial market infrastructures.

Financial system stability

The SNB participates in international monetary cooperation. To this end, it
works in conjunction with the federal authorities. It participates in multilateral
institutions, cooperates with the Confederation in providing international
monetary assistance, and works on a bilateral level with other central banks and
authorities.

International monetary
cooperation

The SNB acts as banker to the Confederation. It keeps accounts for and
processes payments on behalf of the Confederation, issues money market debt
register claims and bonds, handles the custody of securities and carries out
foreign exchange transactions.

Banker to the Confederation

The SNB compiles statistical data on banks and financial markets, the balance of
payments, direct investment, the international investment position and the Swiss
financial accounts.

Statistics
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On 22 March 2021, the Governing Board of the Swiss National Bank submitted
its accountability report for 2020 to the Federal Assembly in accordance with
art. 7 para. 2 of the National Bank Act (NBA). The report provides information
about how the SNB has fulfilled its mandate pursuant to art. 5 NBA – in
particular as regards its conduct of monetary policy and its contribution to the
stability of the financial system. It is submitted to the Federal Council and the
General Meeting of Shareholders for information purposes.

SUMMARY
The SNB pursues a monetary policy serving the interests of the country as
a whole. It must ensure price stability, while taking due account of economic
developments. Its monetary policy strategy consists of the following
elements: a definition of price stability, a medium-term conditional inflation
forecast, and the SNB policy rate. The SNB seeks to keep the secured 
short-term money market rates close to the SNB policy rate.

Monetary policy

The spread of coronavirus worldwide and the measures taken to contain the
pandemic saw the global economy enter a sharp recession in 2020. The
downturn in the global economy in the first half of the year was unusually
strong, also by historical comparison. The decline in new infections and
the easing of the containment measures in the summer led to a robust recovery
of the global economy in the third quarter. In autumn, infection numbers rose
again rapidly in Europe and the US, which prompted renewed containment
measures. This once again weighed on the economy towards the end of the
year. Extensive monetary and fiscal policy measures were introduced
worldwide in light of the economic downturn in the first half of year. Even
so, at the end of 2020 GDP was below pre-crisis levels, and inflation was
lower in the advanced economies.

12
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The coronavirus pandemic also pushed the Swiss economy into a sharp
recession. GDP fell by 2.9%, following a rise of 1.1% in 2019. The recession
in Switzerland was thus less pronounced than in many other countries.
The containment measures implemented, the caution on the part of consumers,
the pronounced decline in foreign demand, and delivery problems led to
a marked downturn in business activity in the first half of the year. In contrast
to previous recessions, services in particular were hit hard. Unemployment
rose, and there was a massive increase in short-time working. Economic
activity picked up from May onwards as public health measures were eased,
and was further supported by fiscal and monetary policy. Coronavirus spread
again quickly in October, however, and the recovery slowed markedly in the
fourth quarter. As was the case abroad, the recovery in Switzerland remained
incomplete.
In 2020, annual inflation as measured by the consumer price index stood at
– 0.7%, down from 0.4% in 2019. The strong decrease in inflation is attributable
to the pandemic. The conditional forecasts published by the SNB in
2020 indicated that inflation should in the medium term return to the range
the SNB equates with price stability.
The coronavirus crisis also presented a powerful challenge to monetary
policy in terms of ensuring appropriate monetary conditions. The SNB
contributed to crisis management via three channels. First, it countered the
increased upward pressure on the Swiss franc. The decisive factors here
were its willingness to intervene more strongly in the foreign exchange
market, the unchanged SNB policy rate, and the interest rate of – 0.75% on
sight deposits at the SNB. In 2020, the SNB purchased foreign exchange
worth CHF 110 billion. Second, the low level of interest rates created
favourable financing conditions for Swiss businesses and the public sector.
This eased the burden in particular on those companies and institutions
that face increased funding needs as a result of the crisis. Third, the SNB
took further measures to increase banks’ latitude for lending, thereby
supporting the supply of credit and liquidity to the economy. Thus, as part of
a joint package of measures with the federal government, the Swiss Financial
Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) and the banks, the SNB provided
additional liquidity at the SNB policy rate through the creation of the SNB
COVID-19 refinancing facility (CRF) in March. This contributed to banks
being able to grant COVID-19 loans to businesses at an interest rate of 0%.
Also in March, after consulting with FINMA, the SNB submitted a proposal
to the Federal Council to deactivate the countercyclical capital buffer.
The Federal Council accepted this recommendation. In addition, the SNB
significantly reduced the burden on banks as of 1 April by exempting
a larger part of the sight deposits at the SNB from the negative interest rate.

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

13

The SNB has been working intensively on the topic of climate change for
some time now. The assessment of possible consequences of climate change
for the economy and thus for monetary policy, for financial stability and
for the management of currency reserves is important in order for the SNB
to be able to fulfil its statutory mandate at all times.
In 2020, the interest rate on sight deposits held by banks and other financial
market participants at the SNB remained unchanged at – 0.75%, the same
level as the SNB policy rate. The significant increase in the exemption
thresholds reduced the negative interest burden on the banking system and
broadened the scope for additional liquidity redistribution. This led to more
trading activity on the repo market and to a temporary rise in short-term
money market rates. In order to keep money market rates close to the SNB
policy rate, the SNB conducted liquidity-providing open market operations
in the form of bilateral repo transactions and repo auctions. At the end of
2020, the most representative money market rate, the interest rate for secured
overnight money (Swiss Average Rate Overnight, SARON), stood at
– 0.73%.

Implementation of
monetary policy

The CRF allows banks to obtain liquidity from the SNB at the SNB policy
rate against collateral. As collateral, the SNB accepts credit claims in respect
of loans guaranteed by the federal government or a canton by means of
a loan guarantee or credit default guarantee. The acceptance of individual
bank loans was not provided for under the previous conditions or eligibility
criteria for collateral. Quick and efficient acceptance of these claims was
only possible because the COVID-19 ordinance on joint and several
guarantees created the basis for a simplified transfer to the SNB. At the end
of 2020, the liquidity drawn by the banks via the CRF amounted to CHF 11.2
billion, and claims in respect of around 112,000 loans had been transferred
as collateral to the SNB.
In the wake of the coronavirus crisis, there was upheaval in the global US
dollar funding markets. The SNB participated in coordinated central bank
action to enhance the provision of liquidity via the standing swap
arrangement with the US Federal Reserve; this action eased tensions
on global funding markets.

14
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SARON continued to gain importance as a reference interest rate on
the money and cash markets in 2020. As expected, at the beginning
of March 2021 the administrator of Libor (London Interbank Offered Rate),
the Intercontinental Exchange Benchmark Administration, announced
its intention to discontinue the Swiss franc Libor at the end of 2021. In order
to enable a smooth transition to SARON, the remaining conversion work
on the cash and swap markets must be completed by then. In 2020, the SNB
continued to contribute to the work of the National Working Group on
Swiss Franc Reference Rates, which is managing the transition from Libor
to SARON.
Banknotes in circulation in 2020 averaged CHF 84.4 billion. This constituted
an increase of 5.8%, following 1.0% in the previous year. As is usual
during periods of crisis, there was higher demand for the larger banknote
denominations as a store of value during the pandemic. By contrast, weaker
than usual demand for the smaller denominations was registered during
spring and during the fourth quarter.

Cash supply and distribution

In 2020, the SNB conducted its second representative survey on the usage
of the different payment methods in Switzerland. Initial analyses indicate that
notably less cash was used for payment purposes during autumn 2020 than
three years previously. The SNB will provide comprehensive information on
the results of the survey in mid-2021.
Cashless payment transactions have continued to grow in importance.
In 2020, the Swiss Interbank Clearing (SIC) payment system settled a daily
average of approximately 2.9 million transactions amounting to CHF 178
billion. Compared to the previous year, the number of transactions increased
by 9.3%, while turnover rose by 12.8%. The rise in turnover is attributable
to increased trading activity on the repo market and to the gradual migration
of PostFinance’s payment transactions with other banks to the SIC system.

Cashless payment
transactions

As commissioning party of the SIC system, the SNB ensures appropriate
conditions for the further development of cashless payment transactions
affected by many innovations in the financial industry. In 2020, the SNB
and SIX Interbank Clearing Ltd jointly initiated the SIC5 project for
the settlement of instant payments, i.e. cashless retail payments that are
processed around the clock with the amount being credited to the final
recipient within seconds. The new SIC5 platform is expected to commence
operations in 2023.
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The project launched together with SIX Group Ltd (SIX) to develop a secure
network for the Swiss financial centre (Secure Swiss Finance Network,
SSFN) was in its pilot phase in 2020. After conclusion of the pilot phase, the
SSFN is to gradually replace the existing solution for communicating with
the SIC system from 2021. Given the growing cyber risks, the aim is to increase
the security and resilience of network connections to the SIC system and to
other financial market infrastructures (FMIs).
The SNB admitted the first company with a fintech licence to the SIC system
in 2020.
At the end of 2020, the SNB’s assets amounted to CHF 999 billion, compared
to CHF 861 billion one year earlier. The increase was mainly due to the rise
in foreign currency investments and thus to the inflows from foreign currency
purchases. Total currency reserves stood at CHF 962 billion at year-end. The
majority of these reserves was held in the form of foreign currency investments,
the remainder in gold.

Asset management

The most important risk factor to which the investments are exposed is
currency risk, which the SNB cannot hedge for monetary policy reasons.
Even minor changes in the Swiss franc exchange rates lead to substantial
fluctuations in investment income, which is measured in Swiss francs. In
2020, currency losses due to Swiss franc appreciation were more than offset
by high returns on investments in the investment currencies. Measured in
Swiss francs, the return on currency reserves was 1.9%. Returns on gold and
foreign exchange reserves were positive, at 13.5% and 1.2% respectively.
The SNB makes most of its foreign currency investments in government
bonds. However, it also invests in shares and corporate bonds in order to take
advantage of the positive return contribution of these asset classes and
improve the long-term risk/return ratio. When managing securities of private
sector issuers, the SNB also takes non-financial aspects into consideration.
For instance, owing to its special role vis-à-vis the banking sector, it refrains
from investing in shares of systemically important banks worldwide.

16
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The SNB also takes account of Switzerland’s fundamental standards
and values in its investment policy. Consequently, it does not invest
in shares and bonds of companies whose products or production processes
grossly violate broadly accepted values. The SNB therefore does not
purchase securities issued by companies that seriously violate fundamental
human rights, systematically cause severe environmental damage or are
involved in the production of internationally condemned weapons. At the end
of 2020, the SNB expanded the exclusion criterion pertaining to the
environment. It now also excludes shares and bonds of companies primarily
active in the mining of coal, as there is a broad consensus in Switzerland
in favour of phasing out coal.
In the current environment, the level of the currency reserves is largely
dictated by the implementation of monetary policy. The currency reserves
volume has multiplied since the onset of the financial and debt crisis.
While these reserves amounted to CHF 85 billion at the end of 2007, by the
end of 2020 they had risen to CHF 962 billion. The growth in the balance
sheet resulted in higher loss risk in absolute terms and to a significant
decrease in the ratio of equity capital to currency reserves. The balance sheet
total continued to increase in 2020, with monetary policy instruments being
used to manage the coronavirus crisis.
The SNB aims for a robust balance sheet with sufficient equity capital,
to ensure that it can also absorb potentially high losses. Equity capital is
composed of the provisions for currency reserves and the distribution
reserve. The provisions for currency reserves correspond to the desired level
of equity capital at the given point in time. According to the National Bank
Act, the SNB must set aside provisions that allow it to maintain the currency
reserves at the necessary level, while taking into account the development
of the Swiss economy.
In January 2021, the Federal Department of Finance (FDF) and the Swiss
National Bank concluded a new agreement on the SNB’s profit distributions
to the Confederation and the cantons, covering the period through to 2025.
It provides for a maximum distribution of CHF 6 billion per annum and was
already applied retroactively to the 2020 financial year. The SNB also
increased the minimum annual allocation to the provisions for currency
reserves from 8% to 10% of the provisions. In 2020, the allocation amounted
to CHF 7.9 billion, after which the provisions totalled CHF 87 billion.
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Financial system stability

Within the context of monitoring the financial system, the SNB analyses
developments and risks in the Swiss banking sector. Its assessment is
published, in particular, in its annual Financial Stability Report. The SNB
noted in its June 2020 report that the economic consequences of the
coronavirus pandemic posed significant challenges for the banking system.
Moreover, uncertainty about the impact of the pandemic on the economy,
and hence the banks, was exceptionally high.
The two globally active Swiss banks, Credit Suisse Group AG (Credit
Suisse) and UBS Group AG (UBS), were well placed to face these challenges
and support the real economy. This was attributable in particular to the
capital buffers which the two globally active banks had been building up in
recent years, in line with the ‘too big to fail’ (TBTF) regulations. The
SNB also noted in its scenario analysis that the capital requirements under
the current TBTF regulations were necessary to ensure adequate resilience
at both globally active banks.
In the case of the domestically focused banks, the SNB assumed under
its baseline scenario that the main impact of the pandemic would be higher
provisions and write-downs on loans to Swiss corporations. In addition,
a more persistent period of low interest rates would likely put further pressure
on interest rate margins. However, the SNB’s analysis indicated that the
economic consequences of the pandemic on the domestically focused banks
would be limited under the baseline scenario. Furthermore, it assessed their
resilience as being adequate thanks to the sizeable capital buffers available.
The mortgage and real estate markets’ vulnerability to shocks persisted in
2020. Mortgage loans as well as transaction prices for residential properties
and affordability risks rose further despite the economic downturn. This
vulnerability represented an additional risk factor in an environment of
heightened uncertainty about future economic developments. Larger declines
in income than assumed under the baseline scenario could trigger a price
correction in the real estate market. Equally, such declines in income could
lead to a materialisation of the historically high affordability risks.

18
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The pandemic also posed particular challenges to systemically important
FMIs in Switzerland. The SNB therefore intensified its monitoring in this area,
particularly with respect to operations and the management of credit and
liquidity risk. It noted that FMIs were successfully ensuring the continuous
operation of systemically important business processes as well as the
timely processing of – at times – very high transaction volumes. Their credit
and liquidity risk management models also proved their worth during the
turbulence on the financial markets in March. Systemically important FMIs
thus made an important contribution to financial stability.
The threat posed by cyber risks remained high, and reducing these risks
through appropriate protective measures continued to be vitally important for
FMIs and their participants. The SNB therefore expects FMI operators to
coordinate their business continuity plans and the measures contained therein
with their participants and to test them regularly on a cross-institutional
basis. SIX proceeded in 2020 with its programme to improve information
security and strengthen its cyber resilience.
Not only can cyberincidents impact individual financial institutions, they can
also jeopardise the functioning of the financial system. While responsibility
for protecting themselves against cyber risks lies with the individual financial
institutions, the authorities also contribute to the cybersecurity of the
financial sector within the scope of their mandates. For instance, the SNB is
participating in a project under the direction of the National Cyber Security
Centre that promotes institutionalised cooperation between the private sector
and the authorities in strategic and operational cybersecurity matters with
a view to further strengthening the financial centre’s cyber defences.
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International monetary
cooperation

The SNB participates in international monetary cooperation through
its involvement in the relevant multilateral institutions and bodies, and its
collaboration on a bilateral level with other central banks and authorities.
The multilateral institutions include the International Monetary Fund (IMF),
the Bank for International Settlements (BIS), the Financial Stability Board
(FSB), the G20 Finance Track, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD), and the Central Banks and Supervisors Network
for Greening the Financial System (NGFS).
In 2020, the IMF granted financial assistance to numerous emerging economies
and low-income countries to cushion them from the economic effects
of the pandemic. Switzerland participated in the measures to ensure that the
IMF had sufficient financial means. At the end of 2020, Switzerland’s
maximum commitment to the IMF in respect of financing the latter’s regular
lending totalled CHF 23 billion; the effective outstanding amount was
CHF 1.85 billion. The SNB finances these commitments, with loans granted
under the bilateral borrowing agreement being guaranteed by the
Confederation.
In 2020, eight employees of the BIS and SNB commenced their activities
at the BIS Innovation Hub Swiss Centre, founded in 2019. Work is underway
on two projects. In Project Helvetia, the SNB, the BIS and SIX jointly
investigated and tested two different approaches to integrating central bank
digital currency for the settlement of tokenised assets into a financial market
infrastructure based on distributed ledger technology (DLT). The report on
the first phase of the project, published in December, indicates that the
approaches analysed are technically feasible and legally implementable, but
with different advantages and disadvantages. In Project Rio, the Swiss Centre
is addressing the rise in requirements placed on central banks to be able
to effectively monitor fast-paced electronic markets. To this end, a prototype
for a new data architecture is in development, which will enable the rapid
movements and large volumes of data emanating from fast-paced markets to
be processed in real time.

20
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The focus of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision at the BIS was on
monitoring the consequences of the coronavirus crisis for the banking sector
as well as on implementing and reviewing the effectiveness of the regulatory
standards. The committee extended the deadline for implementation of the
Basel III reform package by one year, to 1 January 2023, to free up additional
resources for crisis management on the part of the authorities as well as
the banks.
The impact of the pandemic on the global financial system was also at
the heart of the FSB’s activities in 2020. A major focus was the improvement
of cross-border payments. The FSB also considered the possible effects of
stablecoins and regulatory approaches in this field. Stablecoins are privately
issued digital assets for payment purposes (payment tokens) that are designed
to remain stable relative to specific assets or state currencies.
In the autumn edition of its biannual Economic Outlook report, the OECD
advised the SNB to extend the CRF if necessary, in order to support the
banks in their lending to companies experiencing liquidity bottlenecks due
to the pandemic.
In 2020, the SNB continued to engage in international dialogue in the NGFS
in order to better gauge the potential impact of climate risks on
macroeconomics and financial stability. The SNB took part in NGFS working
groups, focusing among other things on scenario analysis of climate risks
and on the coordination of relevant research among central banks.
As part of its bilateral monetary cooperation, the SNB collaborates with
other central banks, cultivates contacts with foreign authorities and provides
technical assistance. The main recipients of technical assistance are the
central banks of countries in Central Asia and the Caucasus, i.e. the members
of the Swiss constituency at the IMF. Technical assistance in 2020 was
shaped by the pandemic, which sharply limited the possibilities for cooperation
from March onwards. Some bilateral projects could, however, be successfully
implemented, in part by virtual means rather than locally.
In December 2020, in a report on the foreign exchange policies of major
trading partners of the United States, the US Treasury designated Switzerland
a currency manipulator. The Swiss authorities and the SNB rejected this
accusation. The SNB’s foreign exchange market interventions are necessary
to ensure appropriate monetary conditions and thus price stability.
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Banking services
to the Confederation

In 2020, the measures to cushion the economic consequences of the
coronavirus crisis raised the Confederation’s short-term financing needs. On
behalf of and for the account of the Confederation, the SNB issued, by
auction, money market debt register claims amounting to CHF 40.7 billion
and Confederation bonds amounting to CHF 3.8 billion. This was almost
double the volume of the previous year. The SNB also carried out roughly
182,000 payments on behalf of the Confederation.

Statistics

The SNB compiles statistical data on banks and financial markets, the balance
of payments, the international investment position, direct investment and the
Swiss financial accounts. To this end, it collaborates with the relevant federal
government bodies, with FINMA, and also with the authorities of other
countries and international organisations.
At the end of March 2020, the SNB extended its qualitative survey of banks
on lending and credit demand. In doing so, it responded to the urgent need
for data in connection with the pandemic. In addition, the reporting platform
eSurvey was expanded to enable the exchange of documents with banks in
connection with their use of the CRF.
The data portal was further developed in 2020. Since the end of September,
the SNB has been publishing more detailed data on its money market
and foreign exchange market operations. Furthermore, the range of direct
investment statistics data was expanded.
As of the beginning of December, Switzerland joined the IMF’s new SDDS
Plus data standard. The standard is aimed at countries with systemically
important financial sectors. It obliges the participating countries to publish
comprehensive data. In Switzerland, the data required to comply with SDDS
Plus are supplied by different federal agencies. The SNB is responsible for
data in several areas, including data for the ‘external sector’ category and for
the Swiss financial accounts. The latter are now published quarterly instead
of annually.
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1
Monetary policy

1.1 Mandate and monetary policy strategy
Article 99 of the Federal Constitution entrusts the Swiss National Bank,
as an independent central bank, with the conduct of monetary policy in the
interests of the country as a whole. The mandate is explained in detail in
the National Bank Act (art. 5 para. 1 NBA), which requires the SNB to ensure
price stability and, in so doing, to take due account of economic developments.

Constitutional and
legal mandate

Price stability means that money retains its value over time, and it is an
important prerequisite for growth and prosperity. By seeking to keep prices
stable, the SNB creates an environment in which households and companies
can make plans on a reliable basis. Inflation (a sustained increase in the
price level) and deflation (a sustained decrease in the price level) both impair
economic activity. They hinder the role of prices in allocating labour and
capital to their most efficient use, and result in a redistribution of income and
wealth.

Significance of price stability

In its monetary policy strategy, the SNB sets out the manner in which it
operationalises its statutory mandate. The strategy consists of the following
elements: a definition of price stability, a conditional inflation forecast
over the subsequent three years, and the SNB policy rate. The SNB seeks
to keep the secured short-term Swiss franc money market rates close to
its policy rate.

Monetary policy strategy

The SNB equates price stability with a rise in the Swiss consumer price index
(CPI) of less than 2% per annum. Deflation, i.e. a sustained decrease in
the price level, is also regarded as a breach of the objective of price stability.
With its definition of price stability, the SNB takes into account the fact
that it cannot steer inflation precisely and that the CPI tends to overstate
inflation slightly.

Definition of price stability

The inflation forecast published quarterly by the SNB serves as the main
indicator for monetary policy decisions and is a key element in its
communications. The forecast relates to the three subsequent years and
reflects the medium-term focus of monetary policy. With this approach,
the SNB takes account of the fact that output and prices react to monetary
policy stimuli with – at times considerable – lags. Besides the inflation
forecast, the SNB takes into consideration a large number of indicators of
domestic and international economic and monetary developments and of
financial stability for its monetary policy decisions.

Conditional inflation forecast
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The SNB’s inflation forecast is based on the assumption that the SNB policy
rate communicated at the time of publication will remain constant over
the forecast horizon. In other words, it is a conditional forecast and shows
how the SNB expects consumer prices to move, assuming an unchanged
interest rate. The SNB thus enables the public to gauge the future need for
action in monetary policy. The inflation forecast published by the SNB
cannot be compared with those provided by commercial banks or research
institutions, as these generally factor in the interest rate adjustments they
anticipate.
SNB policy rate

The SNB sets the level of the SNB policy rate and uses it to communicate its
monetary policy decisions. It seeks to keep the secured short-term Swiss
franc money market rates close to the SNB policy rate. The most representative
of the secured short-term Swiss franc rates is SARON (Swiss Average
Rate Overnight, cf. chapter 2.2, box ‘Transitioning from Libor to SARON’).

Influencing interest rate
environment

The SNB ensures price stability by using its monetary policy operations to
influence the interest rate environment and align it with the prevailing
economic situation. Real interest rates, i.e. nominal interest rates minus
inflation, play a key role here. Lowering real interest rates generally tends to
have a stimulating effect on demand and on prices of goods and services,
while raising them tends to have a dampening effect. Although central banks
steer only short-term nominal interest rates, they also influence real rates
in the short run given that inflation is slow to change.

Role of exchange rate

An independent monetary policy that is geared towards the objective of price
stability fundamentally requires flexible exchange rates. This does not
mean, however, that the SNB disregards exchange rate developments. In
a small open economy such as Switzerland’s, changes in the exchange
rate have a significant impact on inflation and the economy. In times of high
uncertainty, the Swiss franc is used as a safe haven by Swiss and foreign
investors alike. It therefore tends to appreciate in such phases, which has an
impact on inflation and the economy. Exchange rate movements thus
influence monetary policy decisions. If the SNB adjusts the interest rate or
intervenes in the foreign exchange market, this in turn has an impact on
the exchange rate.
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From 2008, following the onset of the financial and economic crisis, nominal
interest rates in many countries fell to very low levels. This increasingly
narrowed the scope for further interest rate reductions. Many central banks
thus resorted to unconventional measures in order to be able to maintain
an appropriate monetary policy. The most important unconventional measures
taken by the SNB in recent years have been foreign exchange market
interventions, enforcing a minimum exchange rate against the euro from
September 2011 until January 2015, and the introduction of negative interest
on sight deposits held by banks and other financial market participants at
the SNB. To cushion the economic impact of the coronavirus pandemic, the
SNB set up the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility (CRF) in March 2020
as part of a joint package of measures with the federal government, the
Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) and the banks
(cf. chapters 1.4 and 2.3).

Unconventional monetary
policy measures

The SNB’s introduction of negative interest on sight deposits effected
a reduction in the general level of interest rates. Having interest rates at a level
that is low by international standards makes Swiss franc investments less
attractive, thereby easing upward pressure on the currency. Furthermore,
negative interest creates an incentive to consume and invest more. In order to
limit the burden on banks to what is necessary, the SNB grants them exemption
thresholds (cf. chapter 2.3, box ‘How negative interest works’).

Negative interest on
sight deposits at SNB

Like negative interest, the SNB’s willingness to intervene in the foreign
exchange market as necessary also eases upward pressure on the Swiss franc.
The SNB decides whether and how strongly to intervene based on the
overall currency situation and market conditions. Foreign exchange market
interventions are mainly required in times of high uncertainty, when there
is particularly strong demand for Swiss francs.

Willingness to intervene
in foreign exchange market

Like price stability, financial stability is a prerequisite for sustainable economic
growth. Experience from the financial crisis has shown that achieving price
stability does not necessarily ensure the stability of the financial system.
The authorities have macroprudential instruments at their disposal that can
be applied in a targeted manner to address credit market imbalances which
threaten financial stability (cf. chapter 6).

Macroprudential instruments
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Research
Research activities help the SNB fulfil its constitutional and statutory
mandate. They enhance the understanding of complex economic
interrelationships, promote further development of analytical methods,
and provide an important basis for monetary policy decisions. The
SNB researches subjects connected with its core tasks, the focus being
on monetary policy and financial stability.
Research and studies by SNB employees are published in the SNB
Working Papers and SNB Economic Studies series, as well as in academic
journals. The SNB Research Report, which is published on an annual
basis, provides an overview of the latest research activities at the SNB.
The SNB maintains a dialogue with other central banks, universities and
research institutes in order to promote knowledge-sharing. It regularly
holds conferences and seminars for this purpose. In 2020, many
conferences had to be postponed or cancelled due to the pandemic.
Instead, more events were held virtually.

The importance of communication – adjustments in a year of pandemic
Article 7 of the National Bank Act stipulates that the SNB must
render account and provide information to the Federal Council, the Federal
Assembly and the general public. In particular, the SNB must regularly
inform the public about its monetary policy and announce its intentions in
this regard. Communication is also an important monetary policy
instrument that central banks use to anchor and manage expectations on
financial markets. Furthermore, providing information to the general
public is pivotal when it comes to promoting understanding of the SNB’s
role and the importance of its independence (cf. Annual Report 2015,
chapter 1.1, box ‘Accountability, information and communication’ and
Annual Report 2019, chapter 1.1, box ‘Communications and information
in changing times’).
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Owing to the coronavirus pandemic, various events aimed at engaging in
dialogue with the public, the media or with other specific interest groups
could not be held, or at least not in the customary format. For example, the
General Meeting in April had to be held without shareholders present,
and thus without speeches by SNB management. In some cases, new virtual
formats were used. To address the increased demand from the media
for information in light of the economic impact of the pandemic, the SNB
set up conference calls after the monetary policy assessments in March
and September, giving media representatives the opportunity to put
questions to the Chairman of the Governing Board. In December, the media
conference following the monetary policy assessment was held via
conference call and webcast. Thanks to the videoconferencing infrastructure
at the SNB Forum in Zurich, various research seminars and other events
with international participants could be held without any difficulties.
In addition, the members of the Governing Board and other representatives
of the SNB took the opportunity to take part virtually in public panel
discussions and roundtable talks.
As regards digital communications, a range of projects were launched
in 2020 aimed at further developing the SNB website, modernising
the intranet, and making greater use of existing social media channels.
The restrictions imposed in connection with the pandemic also had
an impact on the operations of the SNB Forum at the head office in Zurich
in 2020. The information and events centre, which is accessible to
the general public, had to be closed for certain periods, or the range of
services offered reduced. At the SNB Forum, which was opened in
October 2019, visitors can find out about the SNB using an interactive
media wall and a wall book. In addition, they can obtain information there,
and procure literature from the library, material from the archives, as
well as statistics and publications. The planned visitor centre at the Berne
head office is also aimed at making the SNB more accessible as an
institution to the general public. The centre, which the SNB will set up and
run in conjunction with the Bernisches Historisches Museum, will cover
the areas of money, monetary policy and central banks. It is scheduled to
open in 2024.
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1.2 International economic developments
Severe global economic
downturn owing to pandemic

The spread of coronavirus worldwide and the measures taken to contain the
pandemic saw the global economy enter a sharp recession in 2020. In
China, where the pandemic broke out, the government reacted with extensive
quarantine measures as early as January. From mid-February onwards,
coronavirus spread rapidly across the globe. In response, most countries
introduced public health measures. These included closing restaurants, shops
and schools, as well as partial curfews, and had a severe impact on the
economy. The movement of people across borders was also restricted in many
cases. The measures varied from country to country, and generally restricted
both production and consumption. In addition, the public began to exercise
increased caution with regards to activities associated with an increased risk
of infection. The containment measures and behavioural changes led to
a historic downturn in economic activity. In the second quarter of 2020, GDP
in most countries was 10% to 20% lower than at the end of 2019.

Turbulence on financial
markets

The global spread of coronavirus saw a severe decline in financial market
sentiment. The implied volatility of stocks as measured by option prices
increased sharply, and by mid-March had reached levels last seen during the
2008 financial crisis. Share prices dropped abruptly worldwide, while
capital market interest rates and exchange rates also reacted significantly.
Sentiment on the financial markets improved from the end of March,
supported by central bank intervention and the prospect of fiscal stimulus
measures.

Partial recovery
in second half of 2020

The decline in new infections and the easing of the containment measures
in the summer months increasingly allowed economic activity to resume.
This led to a strong recovery of the global economy in the third quarter.
In autumn, infection numbers rose again rapidly in Europe and the US.
Numerous far-reaching containment measures were then once more adopted,
and there was renewed caution among the population regarding activities
with a higher risk of infection. As a result, economic activity weakened
significantly in certain countries in the fourth quarter.
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The monetary and fiscal policy measures introduced worldwide in response
to the severe downturn in the first half of the year were an important source
of support for the economy. Even so, GDP in the fourth quarter was still
markedly down on pre-crisis levels in most countries. Accordingly, global
production capacity utilisation was also significantly lower than normal.
Against this backdrop, consumer price inflation declined in the advanced
economies. The lower oil price was an additional factor pushing down
inflation.
With production and consumption restricted, and the associated impairment
of international supply chains, there was a substantial downturn in global
goods trade in the first half of the year. In May, global trade was at one point
nearly 20% lower than in the previous year. As economic activity picked up
again, global trade recovered quickly and by the end of the year had even
exceeded the previous year’s level. Nevertheless, on an annual average basis,
global trade showed a significant decline (– 5.3%).

Downturn in global trade

Commodity prices also declined markedly in the wake of the strong
downturn in global production and demand in the first half of the year. The
price of oil was particularly affected. In April, the price of Brent crude
fell temporarily to around USD 20 a barrel, the lowest level in nearly
20 years. The oil price recovered as the global economy revived again, and
was further strengthened by the output cuts made by the Organization of
the Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC). Even so, at USD 50 it was still
25% lower at the end of 2020 than at the beginning of the year. Industrial
metals prices also recovered from the decline in the first half of the year,
bolstered by increased demand from China, and even closed 2020 significantly
higher than at the beginning of the year.

Strong movements
in commodity prices
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Severe economic downturn
in euro area owing
to pandemic

In 2020, economic developments in the euro area were shaped by the
pandemic. Coronavirus spread throughout Europe from mid-February. Italy
was already greatly affected from the second half of February onwards, and
introduced increasingly restrictive public health measures to limit the spread
of coronavirus. Most other European countries also introduced measures in
the course of March. At the same time, the pandemic led to a change in public
behaviour, with people avoiding activities that appeared to entail a higher
risk of infection. From May onwards, member states began to ease their
measures. GDP thus increased strongly again in the third quarter. In autumn,
coronavirus spread again more strongly in the euro area, whereupon member
states decided on new public health measures. Economic output in the
euro area thus fell again in the fourth quarter. On average for the year, GDP
registered a historic decline (– 6.8%). The unemployment rate in the euro
area increased until July, although the rapid expansion of short-time work
schemes since the beginning of the pandemic curtailed the rise. It fell
again slightly towards the end of the year, and stood at 8.3% in December
compared with 7.3% at the beginning of 2020.

Support measures
in euro area

To cushion the impact of the crisis, the euro area countries provided extensive
fiscal policy support from March onwards. In addition to the short-time work
schemes, this included liquidity support and loan guarantees for businesses,
tax relief and investment in infrastructure. Besides this, the EU approved
a recovery fund that will disburse grants and loans to member states. These
should be of particular benefit to countries with limited fiscal space.

Brexit

The UK left the EU at the end of January 2020, thus completing the Brexit
process. However, it remained part of the EU single market and the customs
union until the end of the year. In December, the UK and the EU concluded
a free trade agreement that provides for zero tariffs and zero quotas on trade
in goods. They also agreed on cooperation in areas such as transport and
energy, as well as on social security matters.
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The pandemic also pushed the US economy into a severe recession. GDP
shrank by 3.5%, thus exceeding the 2.5% decline recorded in 2009 at the low
point of the financial crisis. However, the trade dispute with China, which
has been ongoing since 2017 and had led to uncertainty and weighed on the
economy in previous years, eased after the two countries signed a trade
agreement in January 2020.

Pandemic-led recession in US

Public health measures aimed at containing coronavirus resulted in a historic
downturn in economic activity in the first half of the year. The labour market
also deteriorated dramatically. The unemployment rate rose from 3.6% at the
beginning of the year to nearly 15% at one point. Unlike in the euro area,
there was no support for employed persons in the form of comprehensive
short-time work schemes. The US government passed several fiscal stimulus
packages to limit the economic impact of the pandemic. With the gradual
easing of the containment measures from May onwards, economic activity
initially recovered quickly. However, the momentum of the recovery slowed
towards the end of the year, partly because several states tightened their
measures again in the light of a strong rise in new infections. In the fourth
quarter, GDP was around 2.5% down on its pre-crisis level. Capacity
remained significantly underutilised through to the end of the year, and the
unemployment rate was still 6.7% in December.
In Japan, GDP shrank by 4.9% as a result of the pandemic. The last time
Japan suffered a decline of this order was during the economic crisis in 2009
(– 5.7%). In the first quarter, the public health measures were still moderate.
In mid-April, however, a six-week state of emergency was declared, which
had a strong impact on economic activity. Once the nationwide measures
were lifted at the end of May the economy recovered quickly, also supported
by fiscal policy and global demand. Nevertheless, GDP had still not returned
to pre-crisis levels by the end of the year. Labour market conditions remained
difficult. Although the government granted companies employment subsidies
to avoid redundancies, unemployment rose by almost one percentage point
within the year and stood at 2.9% in December.
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Historically low growth
in China

Despite the pandemic, China recorded positive GDP growth of 2.3%.
Nonetheless, this still represented the lowest expansion since the mid-1970s.
Because of the spread of coronavirus, the government introduced stringent
containment measures already in January. As the number of new infections
fell quickly as a result, the measures were relaxed again as early as March.
After a historic contraction in the first quarter, economic activity recovered
quickly; GDP surpassed its pre-crisis level in the third quarter and was
roughly in line with the longer-term trend in the fourth quarter. The recovery
was supported by public spending, financial assistance and temporary duty
relief for companies. In addition, exports benefited from the increased global
demand for medical protective equipment and technical equipment for
working from home. The labour market recovered significantly by the end
of the year; in urban areas, unemployment in December was back in line
with the 2019 level (5.2%).

Brazil, India and Russia
also affected by pandemic

Brazil, India and Russia were also severely affected by the coronavirus crisis.
In India, strict containment measures had a particularly severe impact
on economic activity. Russia’s manufacturing industry suffered additionally
due to the weak global demand for oil. Economic activity recovered
gradually in all three countries with the easing of containment measures
from June onwards.

Inflation declining in
advanced economies

Consumer price inflation declined in the advanced economies compared
with 2019, in some cases falling well below the targets set by the central
banks. Core inflation, which excludes volatile categories of goods such as
oil products and food, weakened in most countries, and energy price
inflation was also lower.

Core inflation in euro area
close to zero at year-end

Headline inflation in the euro area fell to 0.3% in 2020, down from 1.2% in
2019. This decline was largely due to lower energy prices. However, core
inflation was also lower than in the preceding years at 0.7%; over the course
of 2020 it dropped significantly, from 1.1% in January to 0.2% in December.
Core inflation was dampened in particular by declining prices for tourism
services owing to the pandemic and a temporary reduction in value added tax
in Germany.
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US inflation significantly
below target

In the US, headline inflation fell to 1.2%, from 1.8% in 2019. Core inflation was
also markedly weaker. The Federal Reserve’s preferred price inflation
measure for its target of 2%, the personal consumption expenditure (PCE)
deflator, fluctuated over the course of the year owing to the pandemic, but
remained consistently below the target level. In December, the PCE deflator
was significantly below this level at 1.1%, and even excluding the volatile
energy and food prices was still at just 1.5%.

Slight deflation in Japan

In Japan, consumer prices stagnated on average for the year, with core
inflation slightly negative (– 0.1%). Prices for tourism services in particular
declined sharply in the second half of the year as a result of the pandemic
and a campaign to promote domestic tourism, in which the state covered up
to half of the travel costs. In December, core inflation stood at – 0.5%.

Mixed inflation trends
in emerging economies

In China, headline inflation was slightly lower year-on-year at 2.5%, while
core inflation hit its lowest level in more than ten years at 0.8%. Headline
inflation also declined in Brazil (to 3.2%) and Russia (to 3.4%). However, it
rose in both countries towards the end of the year. In India, meanwhile,
headline inflation rose to 6.6%, in part due to disrupted supply chains, and
thus exceeded the central bank’s target range.

Extensive monetary policy
measures in euro area due
to pandemic

The European Central Bank introduced several measures aimed at cushioning
the economic impact of the pandemic. It eased the conditions for its targeted
longer-term refinancing operations (TLTROs) and thus supported lending to
the real economy. Furthermore, it increased the volume of its longer-standing
asset purchase programme (APP). It also set up the pandemic emergency
purchase programme (PEPP) for private and public sector securities, the aim
being to stabilise the financial markets and to prevent financing conditions
in the member states from diverging too much as a result of the pandemic. By
the end of the year, the ECB had increased the programme to a total of
EUR 1,850 billion (15% of GDP) and planned to continue it until March 2022.
It left its key rates unchanged in 2020, with the deposit facility rate thus
remaining negative (– 0.5%). The ECB signalled that it would not raise its key
interest rates until inflation has sufficiently firmed.
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In 2020, the ECB also began a review of its monetary policy strategy, which
is to be completed by mid-2021. Aspects the ECB is considering adjusting
include its definition of price stability, its monetary policy instruments and
its communication practices. The last review was in 2003.

… and review of monetary
policy strategy

The severe economic downturn prompted the Fed to undertake a comprehensive
monetary policy easing in spring. It rapidly lowered the target range for its
policy rate by a total of 1.5 percentage points to 0.0 – 0.25%. It also began to
increase its purchases of Treasury securities and mortgage-backed securities,
and introduced various credit facilities. These measures were aimed at
countering a tightening in financing conditions, supporting the flow of credit
to households and businesses, and ensuring the smooth functioning of the
financial markets. The Fed also strengthened the functioning of the US dollar
funding markets by providing USD liquidity at favourable conditions via
the standing swap arrangements with other central banks (cf. chapter 2.5).

Easing of monetary policy
in US

In August, the Fed announced important adjustments to its monetary policy
framework. In future, it will seek to achieve inflation that averages 2%
over time. Following periods when inflation has been running persistently
below 2%, the Fed will aim to achieve inflation moderately above 2% for
some time. In addition, with regard to its employment mandate, the Fed will
in future allow employment to run at or above its maximum level, unless
accompanied by signs of unwanted increases in inflation. Against this backdrop,
the Fed expects it will be appropriate to maintain the target range for its
policy rate until the labour market has recovered and inflation has risen to 2%
and is on track to moderately exceed 2% for some time.

… and adjustment of
monetary policy framework

Since 2016, the Bank of Japan has placed yield curve control at the centre
of its monetary policy. In 2020, it maintained the target for 10-year
government bond yields at around 0% and its short-term deposit rate at – 0.1%.
In connection with the pandemic, it announced that it would purchase the
necessary amounts of Japanese government bonds without setting an upper
limit with a view to stabilising the yield curve across all maturities. It also
introduced measures to facilitate banks’ lending to small and medium-sized
enterprises in particular, and increased its purchases of corporate bonds
and equity exchange-traded funds (ETFs). The Bank of Japan stressed its
willingness to take additional easing measures if necessary.

Exceptional monetary policy
measures in Japan, too
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Policy rates lowered in China

Due to the pandemic, the People’s Bank of China lowered its key rates,
including its seven-day reverse repo rate by 0.3 percentage points to 2.2%,
and reduced the reserve requirement ratio for smaller banks in several
steps to cut financing costs for companies and promote lending.

… as well as in Brazil,
India and Russia

The central banks of Brazil, India and Russia also eased their monetary
policies in light of the pandemic, after having already lowered their key
interest rates significantly in 2019. In Brazil, the policy rate was reduced by
2.5 percentage points to 2%, in India by 1.15 percentage points to 4%, and
in Russia by 2 percentage points to 4.25%.

Revision of global baseline scenario due to coronavirus pandemic
At its quarterly monetary policy assessments in March, June, September
and December, the SNB draws up a baseline scenario for the global
economy for the next three years. This baseline scenario is incorporated
into the projection models for the economy and prices in Switzerland, and
thus also serves as the basis for the Governing Board’s monetary policy
decisions and for financial stability analysis.
In December 2019, the SNB had anticipated moderate global economic
growth of 3.4% for 2020. Various central banks had eased their monetary
policy in view of modest economic activity and were signalling that they
would be likely to leave their key interest rates at a low level for some time
to come. The SNB assumed that the global economy and consequently
inflation would pick up again over the medium term. At the turn of
the year, various surveys were pointing to an improvement in the global
economy. The easing in international trade tensions fostered the
expectation of a gradual pick-up in economic activity worldwide in the
following months.
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As coronavirus spread worldwide, the outlook for the global economy
changed abruptly in the space of just a few weeks. After the pandemic
broke out in China, the strict containment measures temporarily weighed
heavily on economic activity in the country’s affected regions. In March,
appropriate public health measures were ultimately taken worldwide,
which greatly curbed economic activity. Many countries therefore also
announced economic support measures, and central banks introduced
a range of exceptional monetary policy measures.
These developments prompted the SNB to significantly revise its baseline
scenario for the global economy in March. Its new expectation for the first
half of 2020 was that there would be a marked economic downturn,
and thus also a decline in global economic activity for the year as a whole.
In light of the exceptionally uncertain outlook, the SNB refrained from
releasing any projection figures (cf. Quarterly Bulletin 1/2020). As it turned
out, many countries experienced a decrease in GDP in the first quarter
already.
However, in most countries economic activity did not reach its low point
until April. Once the number of new infections declined, many governments
relaxed their containment measures from May onwards. Nevertheless,
an even more severe contraction in global GDP was likely in the second
quarter. At the same time, the SNB expected a significant recovery in
the second half of the year. In its baseline scenario in June, it anticipated
a decline in global GDP of 4.6% for 2020 followed by a 7.8% rebound in
2021 (cf. Quarterly Bulletin 2/2020).
In September, the SNB adjusted its assessment of the global economy,
newly anticipating a 3.3% decline in GDP for 2020 and a 6.9% rebound in
2021 (cf. Quarterly Bulletin 3/2020). The revision was mainly due to the
fact that the downturn in the first half of the year had been somewhat less
strong than feared.
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The global economy grew more strongly than expected in the third quarter,
albeit without returning to pre-crisis levels. In October, infection
numbers rose again rapidly in Europe and the US. This prompted renewed
containment measures, and economic activity declined significantly
in certain countries. However, in light of the rapid recovery in the third
quarter, in December the SNB made a further upward revision to its
forecast for 2020 as a whole, projecting a contraction of just 2.6%.
Nevertheless, this still represented a drop of historic proportions. For 2021,
the SNB predicted growth of 6.8% (cf. Quarterly Bulletin 4/2020). The
prediction for 2021 was based on the assumption that the pandemic could
be brought back under control in the foreseeable future, and that appropriate
measures would prevent further waves of infection.

1.3 Economic developments in Switzerland
Severe economic downturn
in first half of year

The coronavirus pandemic pushed the Swiss economy into a sharp recession.
The containment measures implemented, the caution on the part of
consumers, the pronounced decline in foreign demand, and delivery problems
led to a marked downturn in business activity in the first half of the year.
In contrast to previous recessions, services in particular were hit hard.
Overall, GDP fell by almost 9% in the first two quarters. The situation in the
labour market also deteriorated. There was a massive increase in short-time
working, and unemployment rose quickly. Against this backdrop, consumer
sentiment fell to an all-time low.

Rapid but incomplete
recovery in second half
of year

Economic activity picked up again from May onwards as public health
measures were eased. The recovery was further supported by fiscal and
monetary policy, and above all by the extensive compensation for short-time
working and the COVID-19 loan programme (cf. chapter 1.4). This meant
that most companies were able to rapidly step up their business activity again
in the summer months. There was also a reduction in the use of short-time
working, with hardly any additional rise in unemployment. The economic
recovery continued through to September. In October, however, coronavirus
spread again quickly, which weighed on economic momentum. The result
was a slower recovery in the fourth quarter.
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Largest drop in GDP
since 1975

According to the initial estimate by the State Secretariat for Economic Affairs
(SECO), GDP fell by 2.9% in 2020. This marked the largest drop since
1975. However, the decline was not as substantial as in many other countries.

Negative output gap

Utilisation of production capacity decreased significantly due to the severe
economic downturn. The output gap, defined as the percentage deviation of
GDP from estimated potential output, opened in the first quarter and remained
negative through to the end of the year. Company surveys confirmed that
capacity utilisation was significantly lower than normal in many industries,
with regard to both technical capacity and personnel.

Scale of impact varied from
industry to industry

Most areas of the economy suffered as a result of the crisis. The services
sector was particularly hard hit, especially the hospitality and entertainment
industries, where value added was down 35% and 19% respectively year-onyear. The pandemic also took a heavy toll on the business services and
transport industries. Excluding the pharmaceutical industry, the manufacturing
sector also recorded a marked decline in value added, albeit less pronounced
than at the low point of the financial crisis in 2009. By contrast, value
added increased in the pharmaceutical industry. Wholesale and retail trade
fared well, as did the public sector and the insurance industry.

Historic decline
in consumption

The pandemic led to a historic decline in consumption. On the one hand,
consumption possibilities were at times severely restricted owing to the
containment measures. On the other, the high level of uncertainty weighed on
consumer sentiment among households. There was a particularly marked
reduction in spending on services (events, restaurant visits, overnight hotel
stays, travel, healthcare, etc.). Spending on vehicles also decreased, but
there was higher demand for everyday items, in particular food. The strong
increase in online trade during the pandemic was able to support the
consumption of certain goods, but was by no means sufficient to offset the
losses in other areas (above all, services).

Largest fall in exports
since financial crisis

The global nature of the crisis meant there was also a marked decline in
exports. At – 6.3%, the drop was of a similar magnitude to that seen during
the financial crisis. Services exports shrank by more than 17%. Due to the
travel restrictions and the uncertainty surrounding the future course of the
pandemic, it was above all tourism and transport services that were strongly
affected. There was also a significant drop in goods exports, in particular
in the case of watches, precision instruments, machinery and metals. By
contrast, exports of chemical/pharmaceutical products and foodstuffs lent
support to foreign trade.
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Equipment investment also registered a decline. The severe downturn in
economic activity worldwide, high level of uncertainty, and weak capacity
utilisation put a noticeable dampener on companies’ willingness to invest.
That said, the negative impact was less pronounced than during the financial
crisis.

Decline in equipment
investment

Construction sites were closed at times in spring due to the pandemic.
However, there was only a slight decrease in construction investment overall.

... and in construction
investment

The pandemic also left its mark on the labour market. The number of people
registered as unemployed at the regional employment offices rose rapidly.
The unemployment rate published by SECO on the basis of the employment
office data stood at 3.1% on an annual average basis, compared with 2.3%
in 2019. The unemployment rate calculated by the Swiss Federal Statistical
Office (SFSO) in line with the definition of the International Labour
Organization (ILO) also rose, to an average of 4.8% (2019: 4.4%). The
SFSO’s figures are based on a quarterly survey of households, and also
include unemployed people who are not registered, or are no longer
registered, with the regional employment offices. As a result, the figures
are normally higher than those calculated by SECO.

Unemployment higher

The number of employed persons fell by 0.1%, the weakest development
since the financial crisis. Jobs were lost in construction and manufacturing
alike. In the services sector, employment stagnated overall.

Decline in employment

Given the severity of the economic downturn, the decline in employment was
small. This was above all due to the fact that companies were able to make
widespread use of short-time working in response to the drop in demand. The
simplified application process and the expansion of the groups eligible also
contributed to the rapid increase in short-time working. According to SECO,
short-time working peaked in April, with around 1.3 million employees
affected (around 28% of all economically active persons). This was considerably
more than at the height of the financial crisis, when 92,000 people – around
2% of all economically active persons – were affected. Provisional figures
put the number of people in short-time work at the end of December at
nearly 300,000.

Massive increase in
short-time working
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Rise in total real wage bill

The total real wage bill, comprising wages paid and compensation for shorttime working, increased by 2% according to SECO’s estimates. Without the
compensation for short-time working of around CHF 11 billion (provisional
figure), it would have shrunk by 0.8%, this coming after a 2.8% rise in 2019.

Real gross domestic product
Year-on-year change in percent

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

Private consumption

2.5

1.6

1.2

0.8

1.4

– 4.4

Government consumption

0.6

0.4

0.6

0.9

0.9

2.9

Gross fixed capital formation
Construction
Equipment

2.1

2.9

3.6

0.8

1.2

– 1.7

1.6

– 0.2

1.5

0.0

– 0.5

– 0.7

2.4

4.9

4.9

1.2

2.2

– 2.3

Domestic final demand 1

2.1

1.8

1.8

0.8

1.3

– 2.7

Exports of goods and services 1

4.4

6.8

3.4

5.0

2.1

– 6.3

Aggregate demand

2.2

2.6

2.2

3.1

1.5

– 5.0

Imports of goods and services 1

3.4

4.0

3.8

3.3

2.5

– 9.6

Gross domestic product

1.7

2.0

1.6

3.0

1.1

– 2.9

1

1	Excluding valuables (non-monetary gold and other precious metals, precious stones and gems
as well as objets d’art and antiques).
Sources: SECO, SFSO

Economic picture derived from discussions with companies
The SNB bases its economic assessment on a broad array of information.
This includes information gathered every quarter by the SNB’s delegates
for regional economic relations during discussions with around
240 companies from a range of sectors. The findings of these talks are
summarised in the ‘Business cycle signals’ section of the SNB’s
Quarterly Bulletin.
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The pandemic was a defining factor in the company talks in 2020. The
Swiss economy got the year off to a good start, and in the discussions held
in January and February the representatives said the pandemic had as
yet had scarcely any impact on business activity. However, uncertainty
rose markedly as coronavirus spread across Europe, and companies were
increasingly affected. Given the change in the situation, the delegates for
regional economic relations conducted additional talks with some
100 companies and associations in March. These discussions revealed
a drastic deterioration in the business situation of those industries directly
affected. In particular, there were signs of a marked fall in turnover in
tourism, hospitality, entertainment and leisure, watchmaking, and bricksand-mortar non-food retail.
The full extent of the crisis became apparent in the discussions held in the
second quarter. The spread of coronavirus and the associated containment
measures significantly exacerbated the downturn. The order situation
deteriorated markedly, not just in the services sector, but also in large parts
of manufacturing and, in certain regions, the construction sector.
Procurement bottlenecks made themselves felt, although they only led to
production losses in a few cases. To avoid liquidity shortfalls, many
companies introduced short-time working and put a freeze on investments.
Added to this, many companies drew on COVID-19 loans.
With the easing of public health measures from May, economic activity
picked up again, and this was reflected in the discussions in the third
quarter. Most companies experienced a significant improvement in business
activity over the summer months. Nonetheless, the overall situation
remained unsatisfactory. Particularly in manufacturing, turnover was still
significantly lower year-on-year. Companies also estimated that their
staffing levels remained too high given the difficult economic situation.
The discussions in the fourth quarter were shaped by the rapid resurgence
of coronavirus, which led to renewed declines in turnover in many
industries. Profit margins came under pressure, and the liquidity situation
was tighter than in the previous quarter. Short-time working allowed
many companies to avoid redundancies. Even so, there were some job
cuts. Although the company representatives said they expected a recovery
to a certain extent in the coming quarters, they indicated that uncertainty
about future developments remained high.
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Lower producer and
import prices

Producer and import prices fell during the first six months of 2020, and
remained stable in the second half of the year. On an annual average basis,
they were 3.0% lower year-on-year.

CPI inflation lower than
in 2019

In 2020, annual inflation as measured by the CPI stood at – 0.7%, down from
0.4% in 2019. This drop in inflation was mainly attributable to the marked
decrease in the price of oil and in prices for tourism-related services owing to
the pandemic. Inflation reached its low point in the second quarter at – 1.2%.
It recovered slightly thereafter, but was still well into negative territory in the
fourth quarter at – 0.7%.
The rate of inflation for imported goods and services fell from – 1.1% in
the first quarter to – 4.2% in the second quarter. Here, too, there was
a countermovement over the remainder of the year, but it still stood at – 2.8%
in the fourth quarter. The strong decline overall was primarily attributable
to lower prices for oil products and tourism-related services.
The inflation rate for domestic goods and services also fell, from 0.2% in the
first quarter to – 0.2% in the second quarter. It also rose slightly in the second
half of the year, and stood at 0% in the fourth quarter. The decrease in the
inflation rate for domestic goods and services was largely attributable to lower
inflation in private services (excluding rents). Given that the reference rate
for mortgages fell further, rent inflation also declined slightly in the second
half of the year.
CPI headline inflation can be significantly affected in the short term by
fluctuations in specific price components. In order to analyse the underlying
inflation, the SNB therefore calculates core inflation using a trimmed
mean. This measure excludes, each month, those goods with the largest and
the smallest price changes compared to the same month one year earlier.
Specifically, it factors out the 15% of items in the CPI basket with the highest
price inflation and the 15% with the lowest. The core inflation rate calculated
using the trimmed mean decreased during 2020 and averaged 0.1% for the
year (2019: 0.4%).

Lower core inflation
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Swiss consumer price index and components
Year-on-year change in percent

2019

2020
Q1

Q2

Q3

2020
Q4

Consumer price index, overall

0.4

– 0.7

– 0.1

– 1.2

– 0.9

– 0.7

Domestic goods and services

0.5

0.0

0.2

– 0.2

– 0.1

0.0

0.6

0.0

– 0.2

0.1

0.0

0.1

Goods
Services
Private services (excluding rents)
Rents
Public services
Imported goods and services
Excluding oil products
Oil products

0.5

0.0

0.3

– 0.3

– 0.1

0.0

0.7

– 0.4

0.2

– 1.0

– 0.5

– 0.2

0.5

0.9

1.1

1.1

0.9

0.5

– 0.3

– 0.8

– 0.9

– 0.8

– 0.8

– 0.6

0.0

– 2.9

– 1.1

– 4.2

– 3.3

– 2.8

0.4

– 1.4

– 0.8

– 2.3

– 1.4

– 1.1

– 2.7 – 13.7

– 3.8 – 18.6 – 16.8 – 15.3

Core inflation
Trimmed mean

0.4

0.1

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

Sources: SFSO, SNB

1.4 Monetary policy in 2020
Continuation of expansionary
monetary policy
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The coronavirus pandemic and the measures taken to contain it led to
a severe economic downturn in Switzerland. Inflation also fell significantly
into negative territory. At the same time, the Swiss franc was often subject to
strong upward pressure owing to its status as a safe haven. In this situation,
an expansionary monetary policy continued to be necessary to ensure
appropriate monetary conditions. In 2020, the SNB’s monetary policy was
based on the SNB policy rate and the interest on sight deposits at the SNB,
which remained unchanged at – 0.75%, as well as the willingness to intervene
in the foreign exchange market. In view of the pandemic, at its monetary
policy assessment in March the SNB stated that it would intervene more
strongly in the foreign exchange market to stabilise the situation. The increased
interventions in the foreign exchange market and the negative interest rate
countered the upward pressure on the Swiss franc over the year.
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Due to the unpredictability of the course and impact of the pandemic, the
inflation and growth outlook in 2020 was subject to heightened uncertainty.
The SNB’s quarterly inflation forecasts indicated that the inflation rate
would return to positive territory in the medium term if interest rates remained
unchanged. At the same time, the SNB anticipated that 2021 would see the
economy recover.
In view of the pandemic, in 2020 the SNB took measures, in addition
to negative interest and its willingness to intervene, in order to ensure the
supply of credit and liquidity to the economy.

Measures to ensure supply
of credit and liquidity

At its monetary policy assessment in March, the SNB announced that
it would increase the threshold factor, which plays a decisive role in
determining the negative interest burden on banks, from 25 to 30 as of
1 April. It thus exempted more sight deposits of banks from the negative
interest rate, thereby easing the burden on the banking system
(cf. chapter 2.3).

Increase in threshold factor

On 25 March, the SNB announced the creation of the SNB COVID-19
refinancing facility (CRF). The CRF was introduced at the same time and as
a supplement to the federal government’s COVID-19 joint and several
guarantees programme. It was available from 26 March and allowed banks to
obtain liquidity at the SNB policy rate of – 0.75%, with the federally
guaranteed COVID-19 loans serving as collateral. This contributed to banks
being able to grant COVID-19 loans to businesses at an interest rate of 0%
and to expand their lending rapidly and on a large scale.

Establishment of CRF

In May, the SNB expanded the CRF. It announced that it would from then on
additionally accept claims secured by loan guarantees or credit default
guarantees offered by cantons, provided these had been granted in order to
cushion the economic impact of the pandemic. It also stated that it would
accept as eligible collateral claims in respect of loans secured by joint and
several guarantees provided for startups by the federal government in
cooperation with the cantons, as well as claims in respect of other loans
guaranteed by the federal government. The banks made active use of
the CRF. By the end of 2020, they had drawn liquidity through this facility
amounting to 66% of the total COVID-19 credit lines, or CHF 11.2 billion
(cf. chapter 2.3).
On 25 March, after consulting the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority (FINMA), the SNB submitted a proposal to the Federal Council
requesting that the countercyclical capital buffer be deactivated to further
facilitate bank lending. The Federal Council approved this recommendation
on 27 March 2020 (cf. chapter 6.3).

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

Countercyclical capital buffer
deactivated
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Enhancing provision
of US dollar liquidity

In the wake of the coronavirus crisis, there was upheaval in the global US
dollar funding markets. Together with the other participating central banks,
the SNB made use of the standing swap arrangement with the US Federal
Reserve in March to enhance the provision of US dollar liquidity. Towards
the middle of the year, funding conditions improved, leading to a decline
in demand for US dollar liquidity. As a result, the frequency of operations
was gradually reduced again (cf. chapter 2.5).

SNB policy rate and negative
interest on SNB sight
deposits unchanged

The SNB left its policy rate unchanged at – 0.75% throughout 2020.
The interest that the SNB charges above a set exemption threshold on sight
deposits held by banks and other financial market participants at the SNB
(negative interest) also remained unchanged from 2019 at – 0.75%. The low
interest rates helped to manage the economic impact of the pandemic
by ensuring favourable financing conditions for businesses and the public
sector. The increase in the threshold factor from 25 to 30 as of April led
to temporary upward pressure on short-term money market interest rates.
By means of fine-tuning operations and repo auctions, the SNB provided
liquidity to the money market with the aim of keeping the secured short-term
money market interest rates close to the SNB policy rate (cf. chapter 2.3).

Narrower interest rate
differential vis-à-vis US

The ECB left its key rate unchanged at 0% and the interest rate on its deposit
facility at – 0.5% in 2020. Thus the differential between the short-term euro
and Swiss franc interest rates hardly changed. The Fed, on the other hand,
lowered the target range for its policy rate twice in March by a total of
1.5 percentage points, which led to a decrease in the differential between
short-term US dollar and Swiss franc interest rates.

Volatile capital market yields
in first half of year

The global spread of coronavirus caused substantial uncertainty, which was
reflected in increased volatility in capital market yields in the first half
of 2020. The yield on ten-year Confederation bonds fell from – 0.5% at the
beginning of the year to – 0.9% in March and then rose to – 0.3% in the
space of just a few days. The global fiscal and monetary policy measures to
cushion the economic impact of the pandemic helped to calm the financial
markets. This was also reflected in developments on the bond markets. The
yield on ten-year Confederation bonds fluctuated in a narrower band again
from May onwards, ending the year at around – 0.5% and thus back at the level
at the beginning of the year. The yield curve was somewhat lower at
the end of 2020 compared to 2019. Confederation bond yields remained in
negative territory for all maturities throughout the year.
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Lending rates and deposit
rates lower

Published interest rates for new mortgages remained stable at a low level
during the year. By contrast, the reference rate relevant for housing rents,
which corresponds to the average interest rate of all outstanding mortgages
rounded to a quarter of a percentage point, fell from 1.5% to a new low of
1.25% in March. The average rate of interest on savings deposits remained
just above zero. Most banks passed on the negative interest only to customers
with high liquidity holdings.

Increased interventions
in foreign exchange market

At its monetary policy assessment in March, the SNB announced that it would
intervene more strongly in the foreign exchange market in order to
counteract upward pressure on the Swiss franc and thereby help stabilise the
situation. At its subsequent assessments, it reaffirmed its willingness to
intervene more strongly in the foreign exchange market. In doing so, it at all
times took into account the overall exchange rate situation and underlined
the high valuation of the Swiss franc. The SNB purchased foreign exchange
worth CHF 110 billion during the year (2019: CHF 13.2 billion).

Appreciation of Swiss franc

The nominal trade-weighted external value of the Swiss franc increased in
2020 and reached a new high in August. This mainly reflected the weakness
of the US dollar, which lost value against a broad range of currencies,
among them the Swiss franc. The Swiss franc was also subject to upward
pressure against the euro. At times, one euro cost CHF 1.05, the lowest level
since 2015. At the end of 2020, the Swiss franc stood at 1.08 against the
euro, practically on a par with the beginning of the year, while it gained
around 8% against the US dollar. The Swiss franc appreciated by about 6%
against the pound sterling. It also appreciated on a real trade-weighted
basis, gaining 4% year-on-year. As inflation in Switzerland was lower than
abroad, the appreciation of the Swiss franc was lower in real terms than
in nominal terms.
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Growing monetary base
and excess liquidity

The monetary base, which is made up of banknotes in circulation and
domestic banks’ sight deposits with the SNB, rose in 2020 and reached a new
high. A large part of the increase was attributable to the SNB’s interventions
in the foreign exchange market. Other drivers were the banks’ use of the
CRF as well as the SNB’s fine-tuning operations and repo auctions. Excess
liquidity also increased, this being calculated as the difference between
the liquidity held by banks (banknotes, coins and sight deposits at the SNB)
and the level of liquidity stipulated under the minimum reserve requirements
(cf. chapter 2.4). The banks’ excess reserves do not pose an inflation risk
in the current situation. Furthermore, the SNB can use its monetary policy
instruments to absorb liquidity rapidly and on a large scale if necessary.

Rise in bank lending
and monetary aggregates

Bank lending to domestic customers increased more strongly in 2020 than
in the previous year due to the joint and several guarantees programme
introduced by the federal government. Under this programme, COVID-19
bridging loans with a term of five years were granted. This enabled almost
137,000 companies – most of them small firms – to access liquidity
(credit lines) totalling almost CHF 17 billion. Almost half of the bridging
loans were granted to companies in three industries: business services,
wholesale and retail trade (excluding motor vehicles), and accommodation
and food service activities. Around two-thirds of the loans had a limit of less
than CHF 80,000. By contrast, annual growth in mortgage lending, which
accounts for 85% of bank lending, declined slightly from an average of
3.4% in 2019 to an average of 3.1% in 2020. The broad monetary aggregates
M2 (currency in circulation, sight deposits, transaction accounts and savings
deposits) and M3 (M2 plus time deposits) started to grow again in
March 2020. In July, their growth rates approached and partly exceeded
lending growth rates. M2 and M3 were higher year-on-year at the end
of 2020, by 6.0% and 6.5% respectively. About a quarter of the increase in
broad monetary aggregates is likely to be due to banks’ granting of COVID19 loans to corporations.
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International scenario
for forecasts

The conditional inflation forecasts published by the SNB as part of
its quarterly monetary policy assessments of March, June, September and
December are based on scenarios for the global economy. An oil price
assumption is also taken into account, this being based on the market price
per barrel of Brent crude at the time a given forecast is made. In December
2019, the SNB had anticipated moderate global economic growth of 3.4%
for 2020. With the global spread of coronavirus and the measures taken to
contain the pandemic, the outlook for the world economy changed abruptly
(cf. chapter 1.2, box ‘Revision of global baseline scenario due to coronavirus
pandemic’.) The SNB subsequently expected a sharp downturn in the global
economy. Due to the high level of uncertainty, it refrained from publishing
a forecast in March. In June, it predicted a 4.6% decline in global GDP
for 2020. The SNB revised this to – 3.3% in September and then to – 2.6% in
December due to economic developments having been somewhat less poor
than anticipated. Furthermore, the SNB expected the global economy to
recover in 2021.

Growth forecast
for Switzerland

For Switzerland, the SNB had expected GDP growth of between 1.5% and
2% for 2020 at the end of 2019, thus anticipating an increase in economic
growth compared to the previous year. Due to the pandemic, the SNB
assumed in March 2020 that GDP growth in 2020 was likely to be negative,
and in June it predicted a 6% decline in GDP. In September, the SNB
raised this forecast slightly to – 5%, then in December to – 3% after the drop
in GDP in the wake of the first wave of the pandemic turned out to be less
than originally assumed. In December, the SNB expected growth of between
2.5% and 3% for 2021.

Conditional inflation forecast

The published conditional inflation forecasts are based on the assumption
that the SNB policy rate remains constant over the three-year forecast
horizon. As the policy rate remained at – 0.75% in 2020, all forecasts in that
year assumed an interest rate of – 0.75%. Following the outbreak of the
pandemic, the conditional inflation forecast was revised significantly
downwards during the first half of 2020. The main factors were the marked
drop in growth prospects, the appreciation of the Swiss franc and lower
oil prices. In the second half of the year, the conditional inflation forecast
was adjusted only slightly. While the conditional inflation forecasts
published in 2020 predicted negative inflation in the short term, with regard
to the medium term they were in the range the SNB equates with price
stability.
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Ongoing uncertainty

The SNB regularly drew attention to risks that could lead to an adjustment in
the forecasts and could necessitate a reassessment of the situation. The
focus was on the global spread of coronavirus and the effects of containment
measures abroad and in Switzerland. Furthermore, the SNB emphasised the
risks related to trade tensions. However, it also pointed out that the monetary
and fiscal policy measures taken in many countries could support the
recovery more strongly than expected.

Effect of monetary policy
in coronavirus crisis

During the coronavirus crisis, the SNB’s monetary policy contributed to
crisis management via three channels. First, it countered the increased upward
pressure on the Swiss franc with the SNB policy rate and the interest rate
on sight deposits at the SNB of – 0.75%, as well as stronger interventions in
the foreign exchange market. An appreciation of the Swiss franc would have
put additional pressure on the Swiss economy. Second, the low level of
interest rates created favourable financing conditions for Swiss businesses
and the public sector. This eased the burden in particular on those companies
and institutions that face increased funding needs as a result of the crisis.
Third, the SNB supported the supply of credit and liquidity to the economy
with further measures to increase the banks’ latitude for lending. At the
forefront of these was the CRF, which contributed to banks being able to
grant COVID-19 loans at an interest rate of 0%. The deactivation of the
countercyclical capital buffer and the increase in exemption thresholds had
the same aim.

Climate change – a challenge for monetary policy, financial stability
and investment policy
Climate change is an issue that has attracted ever greater public interest
in Switzerland in recent years as it poses major challenges for society,
the economy and politics.
The SNB has been working intensively on this topic for some time now.
The assessment of possible consequences of climate change for the
economy and thus for monetary policy, for financial stability and for the
management of currency reserves is important in order for the SNB to be
able to fulfil its statutory mandate. To this end, the SNB also works closely
with other central banks and authorities such as FINMA and participates
in the international exchange of experience on climate issues as a member
of the Central Banks and Supervisors Network for Greening the Financial
System (NGFS) (cf. chapter 7.2.6).
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There are primarily two ways in which climate change can affect monetary
policy. First, it could lead to structural change in the economy, which
would have to be taken into account in the SNB’s analyses and forecasting
models. Second, political and regulatory measures against climate change
could lead to sudden changes in the prices of certain goods. The SNB
considers the impact of these changes on economic growth and inflation,
and assesses the potential implications for monetary policy. The dialogue
with other central banks is particularly important in this area.
Climate change can also affect the financial system, on the one hand
through an increase in the frequency and severity of natural disasters, and
on the other through changes to climate policy and to the corresponding
regulations. For the SNB, the primary focus is on determining the effects
of climate risks on the stability of the Swiss banking system. To this end, in
2020 the SNB initiated a pilot project together with FINMA with the aim
of identifying risk concentrations at Switzerland’s two big banks in respect
of sectors exposed to higher transition risks, i.e. possible implications of
future amendments to laws.
Finally, climate change also affects the SNB’s investment policy. Like other
financial risks, climate risks can trigger or amplify market fluctuations
and influence the attractiveness of assets. From an investment perspective,
they are thus essentially no different from other risks. The SNB holds
equities in the various economic sectors based fundamentally on their
market capitalisation. This ensures that risk concentrations are avoided as
far as possible and that structural changes in the global economy are
also reflected in the SNB’s portfolio. Furthermore, since 2013 the SNB has
excluded investments in companies that cause severe environmental
damage, violate human rights or produce condemned weapons. At the
end of 2020, the SNB expanded the exclusion criterion pertaining to the
environment by additionally taking climate-related issues into consideration.
Shares and bonds of companies primarily active in the mining of coal are
now also excluded (cf. chapter 5.3, box ‘Non-financial aspects of
managing securities of private sector issuers’).
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2
Implementation of monetary policy

2.1 Background and overview
Mandate

It is the task of the Swiss National Bank to provide the Swiss franc money
market with liquidity (art. 5 para. 2 (a) National Bank Act (NBA)). It
implements its monetary policy by steering the interest rate level on the
money market. In so doing, it seeks to keep the secured short-term
Swiss franc money market rates close to the SNB policy rate. The SNB can
influence money market rates by means of its open market operations or
adjust the interest rate on sight deposits held by banks and other financial
market participants at the SNB. The SNB may also intervene in the foreign
exchange market.

SNB policy rate unchanged

The Swiss National Bank implements its monetary policy by setting the SNB
policy rate. In so doing, it seeks to keep the short-term Swiss franc money
market rates close to the SNB policy rate. The focus in this regard is the
interest rate for secured overnight money, the Swiss Average Rate Overnight
(SARON). The SNB left its policy rate unchanged at – 0.75% in 2020.

Negative interest and
foreign exchange market
interventions

Since 2015, the SNB has been implementing monetary policy via the
negative interest rate (i.e. the interest rate on sight deposits held by banks
and other financial market participants at the SNB), and, where necessary,
foreign exchange market interventions. The interest rate remained at
– 0.75% in 2020 and thus corresponded to the SNB policy rate. In order to
ensure appropriate monetary conditions for the economy, the SNB made
foreign currency purchases in the year under review.

Sight deposits at the SNB
The SNB maintains sight deposit accounts for banks and other financial
market participants. The balances on these accounts at the SNB are
a financial market participant’s most liquid assets, since they can be used
immediately to effect payments and are deemed to be legal tender.
Domestic banks’ sight deposits at the SNB are eligible assets for minimum
reserve requirement purposes. Banks also need them for payment
transactions and as liquidity reserves. The SNB influences the level of sight
deposits by deploying its monetary policy instruments. In addition to
sight deposits held by domestic banks, total sight deposits include sight
liabilities towards the Confederation, sight deposits of foreign banks
and institutions, as well as other sight liabilities.
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The level of sight deposits influences activity on the money market. If the
supply of liquidity to the financial system is kept tight, the individual
financial market participants adjust their liquidity positions on the money
market. Banks seeking to place funds on a short-term basis provide
liquidity in the form of a loan to other banks that require short-term
refinancing. These loans can be granted on a secured or unsecured basis.
If there is ample liquidity in the financial system, the need for banks to
adjust their liquidity positions declines and so too does trading activity on
the money market. Under certain circumstances, negative interest on
sight deposits, with exemption thresholds granted, stimulates trading. The
reason for this is that institutions with sight deposits over and above the
exemption threshold conclude money market operations with institutions
which have not yet exceeded their threshold.

2.2 Developments in the money and
foreign exchange markets
Sight deposits held at the SNB totalled CHF 702 billion at the end of 2020
and were thus up significantly year-on-year (2019: CHF 590 billion).

Considerable increase
in sight deposits

The interest rate of – 0.75% charged by the SNB on sight deposits contributed
to short-term interest rates in Switzerland remaining low. It was thus possible
to maintain a certain interest rate differential between Switzerland and other
countries and keep the attractiveness of Swiss franc investments low.

Money market rates close
to SNB policy rate

The relevant money market rates were close to the SNB policy rate in 2020.
The increase in the threshold factor from 25 to 30 as of 1 April led to a rise in
the aggregate exemption thresholds and to a slight increase in short-term
interest rates on the secured money market. This upward pressure developed
because some of the larger money market participants wanted to rapidly
increase their sight deposits to their new exemption threshold level, leading
them to seek substantial volumes of liquidity from other market participants.
SARON rose at times to – 0.66%, before reverting towards the SNB policy
rate, due in part to the SNB selectively providing additional liquidity – initially
via fine-tuning operations, then, from July, also via longer-term repo
transactions (cf. chapter 2.3). At the end of 2020, SARON stood at – 0.73%.

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

59

Higher trading activity
on repo market

As in previous years, activity on the repo market (interbank market) was
shaped by trade in sight deposits between account holders with balances
above or below their respective exemption thresholds. The exemption threshold
increase in spring 2020 broadened the scope for additional liquidity
redistribution. Institutions with new balances below the exemption threshold
increased their sight deposits (e.g. via repo transactions). On the other side
of these trades were banks whose sight deposits still exceeded the exemption
threshold. The funds were traded at rates slightly above the SNB’s negative
interest rate. At CHF 13.9 billion, average daily turnover on the repo market
was thus considerably higher year-on-year (2019: CHF 6.4 billion). The
number of banks active on the repo market also increased.

Money market infrastructure:
TPA facilitates collateral
management

A secure and efficient money market infrastructure that runs smoothly at all
times is vital for the implementation of monetary policy, as well as for
market participants’ direct access to central bank liquidity. Since 2013, SIX
Group Ltd (SIX), which operates Switzerland’s money market infrastructure,
and the SNB have been overhauling important parts of the Swiss Money
Market Value Chain. After the CO:RE electronic trading platform went live
in 2016, another important link in the Swiss Money Market Value Chain –
the Triparty Agent (TPA) – was renewed in June 2020. The ongoing
development of the new TPA is greatly simplifying collateral management
and expanding the range of services offered. For market participants,
collateral management is an increasingly important discipline for deploying
securities efficiently while ensuring that the underlying transactions are
secured as contractually agreed at all times.

Replacement of Libor

In 2020, the SNB continued to monitor work on the replacement of Libor
(London Interbank Offered Rate) and the transition to robust alternative
reference interest rates. In Switzerland, the reforms are being coordinated
by a national working group on Swiss franc reference rates (cf. box
‘Transitioning from Libor to SARON’). Internationally, the reform process
is being overseen by the Financial Stability Board’s Official Sector Steering
Group, which in 2020 once again published an annual report on international
reform efforts. The SNB is also represented on this body.
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Transitioning from Libor to SARON
Ever since the Libor regulator, the Financial Conduct Authority, announced
in 2017 that it would not support Libor beyond the end of 2021 and
that it would no longer oblige banks to participate in the Libor Panel from
that point on, there has been a major drive at both the international
and national level to find a replacement. As expected, at the beginning of
March 2021 the administrator of Libor, the Intercontinental Exchange
Benchmark Administration, announced its intention to discontinue the
Swiss franc Libor at the end of 2021. In order to enable a smooth transition
to SARON, the remaining conversion work on the cash and swap markets
must be completed by then.
In Switzerland, the National Working Group on Swiss Franc Reference
Rates (NWG) is managing the transition. The NWG ensures that all
the relevant participants are involved and comprises representatives from
banks, insurance companies, infrastructure providers, non-financial
companies, public institutions and interest groups. The SNB supports the
NWG’s work, though its primary role is to coordinate. It also provides
information on the NWG’s activities on its website.
In 2017, the NWG recommended SARON as an alternative to the Swiss
franc Libor. SARON, which has been calculated since 2009, is a secured
overnight rate based on the most liquid segment of the Swiss franc
money market. It has already gained in importance as a reference interest
rate in recent years. In 2017, for example, a SARON-based yield curve
was created which is derived from corresponding swap transactions. In
2020, the outstanding volume of SARON swap transactions remained
lower than that of the corresponding Libor-based market. At the latest
from the end of 2021, however, SARON is expected to completely replace
the Swiss franc Libor in swap transactions. Market participants have
until the end of 2021 to convert outstanding Libor-based swap transactions
into SARON-based swap transactions. Any remaining Libor-based swap
transactions will subsequently be converted automatically via fallback
clauses.
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SARON is also establishing itself as a reference rate on the cash market.
At the beginning of 2019 the NWG proposed various options for
structuring SARON-based cash products and the first such products had
already been transacted by the end of 2019. In the course of 2020,
various banks, including both of the Swiss big banks, also began offering
SARON-based cash products.
The time until the end of 2021 is to be used to complete transition work
on the cash and swap markets. This includes adjusting remaining Liborbased contracts and launching more SARON-based cash products. In
addition, market participants should increasingly use SARON-based swap
transactions to manage their interest rate positions and should work on
operational readiness (e.g. implementation of fallback clauses) to ensure
a smooth transition away from the Swiss franc Libor.

The SNB requires that the banks and other financial market participants with
whom it conducts credit transactions provide sufficient collateral (art. 9
NBA). In so doing, the SNB protects itself against losses and ensures equal
treatment of its counterparties.

Principles of collateral policy

The ‘Guidelines of the Swiss National Bank on monetary policy instruments’
outline the types of securities that are eligible as collateral for SNB
transactions. The ‘Instruction sheet on collateral eligible for SNB repos’
details the criteria which securities must meet in order to be eligible as
collateral in repo transactions with the SNB. Only securities included in the
‘List of collateral eligible for SNB repos’ are accepted. Since the SNB also
admits foreign banks to its monetary policy operations and since the portfolio
of Swiss franc securities is limited, it also accepts securities in foreign
currencies.
The SNB sets high minimum requirements with regard to the marketability
and credit rating of securities. This prompts banks to hold recoverable
and liquid assets. In turn, this is essential if banks are to be able to refinance
their operations on the money market, even under difficult conditions.
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Adjustments to eligibility
of collateral for SNB repos
due to Brexit

In light of the UK’s departure from the EU on 31 January 2020 (Brexit), the
SNB adjusted the criteria that must be met in order for collateral to be
eligible for repos in the ‘Guidelines of the Swiss National Bank on monetary
policy instruments’ and the ‘Instruction sheet on collateral eligible for SNB
repos’, effective 3 February. The UK was also added to the list of domiciles
for eligible issuers, and recognised stock exchanges and representative
markets in the UK were defined as eligible markets. The SNB thereby ensured
that securities whose issuers are domiciled in the UK continue to be eligible
for SNB repos. Furthermore, it was determined that securities whose ultimate
or intermediate depository is in the UK and which are delivered through
SIX SIS Ltd continue to meet the criteria for eligibility.

… and transition to new
reference rates

Within the framework of the existing criteria, the SNB announced on
17 December 2020 that it will be excluding all Libor-based floating-rate notes
in all currencies from the list of collateral eligible for SNB repos as of
end-2021. This move supports market participants in the transition to new
and more robust reference rates, and reduces potential risks associated
with the discontinuation of the Libor.

Higher volume of collateral
eligible for SNB repos

Translated into Swiss francs, the volume of collateral eligible for SNB repos
at the end of 2020 totalled CHF 10,770 billion, up around CHF 1,051 billion
year-on-year. This increase is principally due to greater public-sector
issuance.

Swiss Foreign Exchange
Committee and FX Global
Code

The Swiss Foreign Exchange Committee (Swiss FXC) was set up in 2018
and serves as a discussion forum for banks and other foreign exchange
market participants in Switzerland and the Principality of Liechtenstein. It
is also a member of the Global Foreign Exchange Committee (GFXC),
which promotes, maintains and updates the principles of the FX Global
Code. The FX Global Code was introduced in 2017 to establish a common set
of guidelines to promote the integrity and efficiency of foreign exchange
trading. The SNB is a member of the Swiss FXC and co-chairs the committee
along with a representative from the private sector.
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In 2020, the Swiss FXC prepared the matters to be discussed in the GFXC.
It focused on the review of the principles of the FX Global Code, which is to
be completed by mid-2021. Such a review takes place every three years.
Relevant market developments and changes in market structure were also
discussed. In addition, the Swiss FXC renewed its composition – every two
years, some of the members step down in order to give other interested
market participants an opportunity to play their part in the committee.
In September 2020, the SNB announced that it would be publishing
more detailed data on its money and foreign exchange market operations on
its data portal from 30 September. The SNB has since been publishing
information on the conditions and volume of individual monetary policyrelated transactions at the end of each month for the previous month. This
change was a response by the SNB to its resumption of monetary policy
operations on the money market in November 2019. With respect to foreign
exchange market operations, the volume of interventions will now be
disclosed at the end of each quarter for the previous quarter. Hitherto, only
the annual total had been published in the accountability report. The
SNB’s new publication frequency takes into account increased public interest
in its operations.

Adjustments to publication
of data on money and foreign
exchange market operations

2.3 Use of monetary policy instruments
In order to fulfil its monetary policy mandate, the SNB may purchase and
sell foreign currency against Swiss francs on the financial markets. Foreign
exchange transactions conducted by the SNB are usually spot or swap
transactions. In a foreign exchange swap, the purchase (sale) of foreign
currency at the current spot rate and the sale (purchase) of the foreign
currency at a later date are simultaneously agreed. The SNB concludes
foreign exchange transactions with a wide range of domestic and foreign
counterparties.

Foreign exchange
transactions

In 2020, the SNB continued to influence monetary conditions where
necessary, purchasing a total of CHF 109.7 billion in foreign currency over
the course of the year. Appreciation pressure on the Swiss franc, which
was particularly high in the first half of the year due to uncertainty surrounding
the pandemic, necessitated CHF 90.0 billion in interventions during that
period. Pressure on the Swiss franc decreased in the second half of the year,
meaning that fewer interventions were required. The SNB did not conclude
any foreign exchange swaps for the purposes of influencing conditions on the
Swiss franc money market.
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Interest rate on sight deposits
at SNB

Since 22 January 2015, the SNB has been charging interest of – 0.75% on sight
deposits held by banks and other financial market participants at the SNB.
By setting the interest rate and defining other conditions, the SNB influences
the interest rate level on the money market. To achieve this, it is sufficient
if only a portion of sight deposits are subject to negative interest, which is why
the SNB grants exemption thresholds.
The revision of the exemption threshold regime as of 1 November 2019 and
a further increase in the threshold factor as of 1 April 2020 led to a reduction
in the negative interest burden on the banking system. On the other hand,
the additional liquidity created via foreign exchange market interventions
and other monetary policy instruments in 2020 increased the volume of sight
deposits subject to negative interest at the SNB. Net payment flows from
the Confederation’s sight deposit accounts, which are not subject to negative
interest, to account holders who are subject to negative interest, had a
similar effect. As the burden-reducing effect of the two exemption threshold
adjustments preponderated, negative interest income in 2020 decreased to
CHF 1.4 billion (2019: CHF 1.9 billion).
At the end of December 2020, the sight deposits of institutions required to
pay negative interest stood at CHF 686 billion, well above the total exempted
amount of CHF 521 billion. At the end of December, balances of CHF 221
billion (32% of the sight deposits of institutions required to pay negative
interest) were subject to negative interest compared to CHF 187 billion (33%
of the sight deposits of institutions required to pay negative interest) the
previous year.
Before 1 November 2019, utilisation of the exemption thresholds amounted
to almost 100%. The adjustment of the exemption threshold regime resulted
in higher thresholds for certain institutions, which were not immediately
used up. As was seen when the negative interest rate was introduced at the
beginning of 2015, it takes some time for sight deposits to be redistributed
via the repo market or other channels following an adjustment. This
redistribution process recommenced following the adjustment to the
exemption threshold regime in 2019 and the increase in the threshold factor
in spring 2020. At the end of 2020, the utilisation rate of the exemption
thresholds was 89%.
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In the case of liquidity-providing repo transactions, the SNB purchases
securities from a bank (or other financial institution admitted to the repo
market) and credits the associated sum in Swiss francs to the counterparty’s
sight deposit account with the SNB. At the same time, it is agreed that the
SNB will resell securities of the same type and quantity at a later date. In the
case of a liquidity-absorbing repo, the transactions are conducted in the
opposite direction. For the term of the repo agreement, the cash taker generally
pays interest (the repo rate) to the cash provider. Repo transactions can
be conducted by way of auction or on a bilateral basis with a wide range of
counterparties.

Repo transactions

As with the adjustment to the calculation of exemption thresholds in 2019,
the increase in the threshold factor as of 1 April 2020 led to a significant rise
in the exempt amounts for the banking system and to upward pressure on
short-term interest rates. In order to counteract an excessive rise in SARON
and, in particular, to cap upward spikes, the SNB initially conducted finetuning operations. These open market operations were concluded bilaterally
in the form of overnight liquidity-providing repo transactions. Beginning in
July 2020, the SNB also conducted open market operations in the form of
repo auctions with longer maturities in order to reduce upward pressure on
SARON via liquidity in the medium term and to support gradual convergence
towards the SNB policy rate.
In 2020, the outstanding volume of the SNB’s monetary policy repo
transactions averaged CHF 4.1 billion.

Monetary policy instruments
The framework within which the SNB may conduct transactions on the
financial market is defined in art. 9 NBA. The ‘Guidelines of the Swiss
National Bank on monetary policy instruments’ describe the instruments
and procedures which the SNB uses to implement its monetary policy.
These guidelines are supplemented by instruction sheets for the SNB’s
counterparties. As lender of last resort, the SNB also provides emergency
liquidity assistance.

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

67

Within its set of monetary policy instruments, the SNB distinguishes
between open market operations and standing facilities. In the case of
open market operations, the SNB takes the initiative in the transaction.
Where standing facilities (i.e. the liquidity-shortage financing facility and
the intraday facility) are concerned, it merely sets the conditions under
which counterparties can obtain liquidity.
Open market operations include repo transactions, the issuance, purchase
and sale of its own debt certificates (SNB Bills), as well as foreign exchange
transactions. The SNB can carry out open market operations in the form
of auctions or bilateral transactions. Transactions on the money market are
mostly conducted via an electronic trading platform.
In principle, all banks domiciled in Switzerland and the Principality of
Liechtenstein are admissible as counterparties in monetary policy
operations. Other domestic financial market participants such as insurance
companies, as well as foreign banks, may be admitted, provided there
is a monetary policy interest in doing so and they contribute to liquidity on
the secured Swiss franc money market.
One of the SNB’s monetary policy instruments is the interest rate on sight
deposit accounts. Art. 9 NBA authorises the SNB to keep interest-bearing
and non-interest-bearing accounts for banks and other financial market
participants. Until January 2015, when the SNB charged negative interest
for the first time, the sight deposit accounts were non-interest-bearing.
Furthermore, since 2020 the SNB’s monetary policy instruments have
included the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility (CRF). Pursuant to
art. 9 NBA, the SNB is authorised to enter into credit transactions with
banks and other financial market participants on condition that sufficient
collateral is provided for the loans.
The ‘Guidelines of the Swiss National Bank on Monetary Policy
Instruments’ were revised in connection with the introduction of the new
facility. In the course of this revision the SNB also reviewed the interest
rates on its standing facilities and decided to adjust the calculation of the
special rate for the liquidity-shortage financing facility. Since 1 July 2020,
the lower limit for the special rate has been at least 0% rather than at
least 0.5%.
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The issuance of its own debt certificates in Swiss francs (SNB Bills) allows
the SNB to absorb liquidity. It can repurchase SNB Bills via the secondary
market in order to increase the supply of liquidity to the financial system
where necessary.

SNB debt certificates

In 2020, no SNB Bills were issued or repurchased for monetary policy
purposes.

How negative interest works
In order for negative interest to have an impact on financial market rates
and – as desired from a monetary policy perspective – thus make the
Swiss franc less attractive, it is sufficient if only a portion of sight deposits
are subject to negative interest. The SNB therefore grants exemption
thresholds when calculating negative interest on sight deposits held by
banks and other financial market participants. This ensures that the
burden imposed on the banking system is kept to the minimum required
for monetary policy reasons.
The minimum reserve requirement is the key variable for calculating the
exemption threshold for domestic banks (cf. chapter 2.4). When it
announced the negative interest rate in December 2014, the SNB set the
exemption threshold at 20 times (threshold factor) the minimum reserve
requirement. In 2019, it increased the threshold factor from 20 to 25 and
adjusted the calculation method as of 1 November. At its monetary
policy assessment in March 2020, the SNB raised the threshold factor
from 25 to 30 as of 1 April to increase the banks’ latitude for lending.
The calculation of the exemption threshold is currently based on the
following rules: For banks subject to minimum reserve requirements, the
exemption threshold is calculated by multiplying the moving average of
the minimum reserve requirements over the preceding 36 reference
periods by the applicable threshold factor (basis component), minus the
cash holdings in the last reference period (cash holdings component).
Before the adjustment in 2019, the exemption threshold was calculated on
the basis of the November 2014 reference period. For account holders not
subject to any minimum reserve requirements, for example foreign banks
and other domestic or foreign financial market participants, the exemption
threshold is CHF 10 million.
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The level of minimum reserves is calculated for each bank according to its
short-term liabilities towards third parties in Swiss francs by using
a uniform method. Banks holding higher sight deposits in proportion to
their minimum reserves are charged more than other banks. The dynamic
calculation of the basis component recognises developments in banks’
balance sheets over time. By increasing the threshold factor twice, the
SNB also took account of the additional liquidity provision to the banking
system. The SNB regularly reviews the calculation of the exemption
threshold.
Negative interest is applied across the board, with as few exceptions as
possible. This respects the principle of equal treatment and increases the
monetary policy effectiveness of the instrument. The only sight deposit
accounts exempted from negative interest are those of the central Federal
Administration and the compensation funds for old age and survivors’
insurance, disability insurance and the fund for loss of earned income
(compenswiss). However, the SNB will continue to monitor the
development of the balances on these accounts.

The SNB announced on 25 March 2020 that it was launching a new
instrument – the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility (CRF). This facility
allows banks to obtain liquidity from the SNB at the SNB policy rate of
– 0.75% against collateral. As collateral the SNB accepts credit claims in
respect of loans guaranteed by the federal government under the COVID-19
ordinance on joint and several guarantees. It also accepts claims secured
by loan guarantees or credit default guarantees offered by cantons, provided
these have been granted in order to cushion the economic impact of the
pandemic. Claims in respect of loans secured by joint and several guarantees
provided for startups by the federal government in cooperation with the
cantons are also deemed by the SNB to be eligible collateral, as are other
claims in respect of loans guaranteed by the federal government. The
acceptance of individual bank loans was not provided for under the previous
conditions or eligibility criteria for collateral. Quick and efficient acceptance
of these claims was only possible because the COVID-19 ordinance on joint
and several guarantees created the basis for a simplified transfer to the SNB.

SNB COVID-19
refinancing facility
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Banks’ use of CRF in 2020
The SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility (CRF) has been used actively by the
banks since inception. At the end of 2020, they were drawing CHF 11.2
billion of liquidity from the SNB via this facility. The approximately 112,000
items of collateral submitted to the SNB originated mainly from COVID-19
bridging loans guaranteed by the federal government; approximately
two-thirds of these were refinanced at the SNB. The facility was used
particularly heavily in the first few months after its launch. At the end of
April, banks were already drawing more than CHF 8.4 billion in liquidity via
the CRF. As the year progressed, usage increased at a slower rate. CRF
usage peaked at the end of November at CHF 11.4 billion. The majority of
the refinanced loans related to small and medium-sized enterprises.
Almost three-quarters of the companies whose COVID-19 loan from
a bank was refinanced at the SNB had fewer than five full-time positions,
and 98% of the companies had fewer than 50 full-time positions. Loans
from companies in virtually all industries were refinanced via the CRF.
The most significant in terms of the number of loans were business
services, retail and wholesale (excluding motor vehicles), construction,
as well as accommodation and food service activities.

During the day, the SNB provides its counterparties with interest-free
liquidity (intraday facility) through repo transactions so as to facilitate the
settlement of payment transactions via the Swiss Interbank Clearing (SIC)
system and the settlement of foreign exchange transactions via Continuous
Linked Settlement, the multilateral foreign exchange settlement system.
The funds received must be repaid by the end of the same bank working day
at the latest.

Intraday facility

Average utilisation of the intraday facility amounted to CHF 1.1 billion
in 2020.
To bridge unexpected liquidity bottlenecks, the SNB offers a liquidityshortage financing facility. For this purpose, it grants its counterparties
a limit which must be covered at all times by at least 110% collateral eligible
for SNB repos. Counterparties can obtain liquidity up to the limit granted
until the following bank working day. The liquidity-shortage financing
facility is granted in the form of a special-rate repo transaction. The special
rate corresponds to the SNB policy rate plus a surcharge of 0.5 percentage
points.
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Liquidity-shortage
financing facility
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On 1 July 2020, the lower limit for the special rate was reduced from at least
0.5% to at least 0%. The liquidity-shortage financing facility was hardly
used; averaged over the year, volume was close to zero. The limits for the
liquidity-shortage financing facility amounted to CHF 36.8 billion; at the end
of the year, 75 financial market participants held corresponding limits.
In 2020, an adapted form of liquidity-shortage financing facility for
systemically important financial market infrastructures domiciled in
Switzerland was established. Up to a specified limit, the drawing of Swiss
franc liquidity must also be covered by at least 110% collateral eligible
for SNB repos.

Supplying the money market with liquidity
Liquidity-related operations in CHF millions 1

2020

2019

+ 4 068

+ 40

–

–

Open market operations
Repo transactions 2, 3
Foreign exchange swaps
SNB Bills

2

2, 4

Foreign exchange transactions

–

–6

+ 109 675

+ 13 241

+ 7 553

–

+ 1 111

+ 416

0

0

– 1 378

– 1 938

Standing facilities
CRF 2
Intraday facility

5

Liquidity-shortage financing facility 2
Other monetary policy instruments
Interest on sight deposit account balances

1	A plus sign (+) indicates liquidity-providing; a minus sign (–) indicates liquidity-absorbing.
2	Average level of operations outstanding at the end of the day.
3	Fine-tuning operations, longer-term operations carried out by auction, and operations for test purposes.
4	Operations for test purposes.
5	Average daily turnover.
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2.4 Minimum reserves
The duty to hold minimum reserves (arts. 17, 18 and 22 NBA) ensures that
banks have a minimum demand for base money; it thus fulfils a monetary
policy objective. Eligible assets in Swiss francs comprise coins in circulation,
banknotes and sight deposits held at the SNB. The minimum reserve
requirement amounts to 2.5% of the relevant short-term liabilities, which are
calculated as the sum of short-term liabilities in Swiss francs (up to 90 days)
plus 20% of liabilities towards customers in the form of savings and
investments. The National Bank Ordinance (NBO) sets out in detail which
balance sheet positions are subject to minimum reserve requirements.
The relevant figure for the minimum reserve requirement is taken to be the
average for the respective reporting period, which lasts from the 20th day
of one month to the 19th day of the following month. It is calculated as the
average of the last three month-end values of the relevant liabilities.

Main features of regulation

The minimum reserves have formed the basis for calculating the exemption
thresholds for domestic banks since the negative interest rate was introduced
in January 2015.
If a bank fails to fulfil the minimum reserve requirement, it is obliged to
pay the SNB interest on the shortfall for the number of days of the reporting
period during which the minimum reserve requirement was not observed.
The interest rate is 4 percentage points higher than SARON over the
reporting period in question.

Minimum reserves
In CHF millions

Sight deposits at the SNB
Banknotes
Coins in circulation

2020
Outstanding

2019
Outstanding

Average

Average

585 413

481 079

6 286

6 466

105

112

Eligible assets

591 804

487 657

Requirement

19 209

17 399

572 595

470 259

3 080

2 803

Compliance in excess of requirement
Compliance in percent
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In 2020 (between 20 December 2019 and 19 December 2020), statutory
minimum reserves averaged CHF 19.2 billion. This is a 10% increase
year-on-year. Eligible assets rose to CHF 591.8 billion on average, compared
with CHF 487.7 billion the previous year. Banks thus exceeded the
requirement by an annual average of CHF 572.6 billion. The statutory
minimum reserve requirement was met by all 224 banks.

2.5 Liquidity in foreign currencies
Permanent network of swap
arrangements

Since 2013, standing bilateral liquidity swap arrangements have been in place
between the SNB and the Bank of Canada, the Bank of England, the
Bank of Japan, the European Central Bank and the US Federal Reserve. This
permanent network of swap arrangements allows the participating central
banks, where necessary, to provide banks in their jurisdiction with liquidity
in any of the relevant currencies, thus serving as a liquidity backstop.

Strong demand for US dollar
liquidity at times

Until March 2020, the SNB offered weekly repo transactions in US dollars
with a maturity of seven days; as in the previous year, there was no demand
during this period.
In the wake of the coronavirus pandemic, there was upheaval in the global
US dollar funding markets in March. On 15 March 2020, in order to enhance
the provision of liquidity, the SNB, together with the Bank of Canada,
the Bank of England, the Bank of Japan, the ECB and the Fed, announced
that the pricing on the standing US dollar swap arrangements would be
lowered from 50 to 25 basis points as of 16 March. From this point on, the
new interest rate applied to US dollar liquidity operations was the US dollar
overnight index swap rate over the maturity of the operation plus 25 basis
points. Furthermore, US dollars with an 84-day maturity were offered
weekly. In addition, on 20 March the central banks agreed to increase the
frequency of seven-day maturity operations from weekly to daily as of
23 March.
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Once US dollar funding conditions had improved and demand for US dollar
liquidity-providing operations had tapered off again, the SNB, together
with the other participating central banks and in consultation with the Fed,
announced on 19 June that the frequency of seven-day operations would
be reduced from daily to three times a week from July. On 20 August, it was
announced that the frequency of these operations would be further reduced
to once a week as from September. Operations with an 84-day maturity
continued to be held on a weekly basis.
Outstanding volume from demand at the SNB’s US dollar auctions
peaked at the end of April 2020. At approximately USD 11 billion, this
volume represented around 3% of the total US dollars drawn via various
swap arrangements between the Fed and other central banks worldwide.
Liquidity in other foreign currencies or in Swiss francs did not have to be
offered within the framework of these bilateral swap arrangements.
The SNB has further bilateral and temporary swap arrangements with the
National Bank of Poland, the People’s Bank of China and the Bank of Korea
in place since 2012, 2014 and 2018, respectively.

Further swap arrangements

2.6 Emergency liquidity assistance
The SNB can act as lender of last resort. Within the context of this emergency
liquidity assistance, the SNB can provide liquidity to domestic banks if they
are no longer able to obtain sufficient liquidity on the market.

SNB as lender of last resort

Certain conditions apply in order for emergency liquidity assistance to be
granted. The bank or group of banks requesting credit must be important for
the stability of the financial system and solvent. Furthermore, the liquidity
assistance must be fully covered by sufficient collateral at all times. The SNB
determines which types of collateral it will accept in return for liquidity
assistance. To assess the solvency of a bank or group of banks, the SNB
obtains an opinion from the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority
(FINMA).

Conditions
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3
Ensuring the supply
and distribution of cash

3.1 Background
Mandate

The Swiss National Bank is entrusted with the note-issuing privilege.
Pursuant to art. 5 para. 2 (b) of the National Bank Act, it is responsible for
ensuring the supply and distribution of cash (banknotes and coins) in
Switzerland. It works to ensure an efficient and secure payment system with
cash. The SNB is also charged by the Confederation with the task of putting
coins into circulation.

Role of SNB

Banknotes and coins are supplied to the economy via the two cashier’s
offices at the Berne and Zurich head offices. Until the end of 2020,
this service was also provided by 14 agencies operated by cantonal banks on
behalf of the SNB. Urner Kantonalbank terminated its agreement with the
SNB and, as a result, the agency in Altdorf was closed at the end of the year.
As there is a high density of agencies in Central Switzerland, the supply
and distribution of cash continue to be ensured. The SNB issues banknotes
and coins commensurate with demand for payment purposes, offsets seasonal
fluctuations and withdraws banknotes and coins no longer fit for circulation.
Local distribution and redemption of banknotes and coins are performed by
commercial banks, Swiss Post and cash processing operators.

3.2 CashIER’S offices, agencies and cash deposit facilities
Turnover at cashier’s offices

In 2020, the turnover (incoming and outgoing) of the cashier’s offices in
Berne and Zurich amounted to CHF 72.9 billion (2019: CHF 105.8 billion).
They received a total of 276.1 million banknotes (2019: 382.4 million) and
260.2 million coins (2019: 287.6 million). The SNB examined the quantity,
quality and authenticity of the incoming notes and coins. The incoming
banknotes and coins were offset by an outflow of 297.5 million banknotes
(2019: 399.7 million) and 268.5 million coins (2019: 352.8 million).

Turnover at agencies

The agencies assist the SNB’s cashier’s offices in the distribution and
redemption of cash. They play an important role in ensuring the regional
supply and distribution of cash by providing cash withdrawal services
to third-party banks (local institutions or branches of larger banking groups),
as well as to the branches of the cantonal banks hosting each agency.
The agencies’ turnover (incoming and outgoing) amounted to CHF 10.0
billion (2019: CHF 13.4 billion). This constitutes 13.7% (2019: 12.7%)
of the turnover at the SNB’s cashier’s offices.
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The SNB’s main partners with respect to cash distribution services are
commercial banks, Swiss Post and cash processing operators. They conduct
their cash handling activities at separate locations around the country. To
ensure the supply of cash in Switzerland at all times, the SNB operates cash
distribution centres at the head offices in Zurich and Berne and issues
regulations on the manner, place and time for the receipt and delivery of
banknotes and coins. Its activities in this field are based on the Federal Act on
Currency and Payment Instruments (CPIA).

Cash distribution services

Cash processing operators can apply for cash deposit facilities with the SNB.
These storage facilities contain stocks of notes and coins. The SNB
sets up the facilities with third parties, while retaining ownership. The cash
processing operators deposit surplus cash and withdraw it as required. The
corresponding bookings are made to their sight deposit accounts at the SNB.
Cash deposit facilities reduce the amount of incoming and outgoing cash
at the SNB, as well as the number of transports made by the operators of cash
deposit facilities, which makes for a more efficient supply and distribution
of cash.

Cash deposit facilities

3.3 Banknotes
Pursuant to art. 7 CPIA, the SNB issues banknotes commensurate with the
demand for payment transactions and takes back any banknotes which
are worn, damaged or surplus to requirements due to seasonal fluctuations.
It also determines the denomination and design of the notes. Particular
attention is paid to banknote security.

Mandate

In 2020, banknotes in circulation averaged CHF 84.4 billion, 5.8% above the
2019 level. The total number of notes in circulation averaged 513.4 million,
which was 5.2% higher than in 2019.

Banknotes in circulation

As is usual during periods of crisis, there was stronger demand for the larger
denominations as a store of value during the coronavirus crisis. By contrast,
weaker than usual demand for the smaller denominations and for coins was
registered during spring 2020, when the economy was partially shut down by
the government, and during the fourth quarter, when containment measures
were reintroduced. Reasons for this are likely to be the lower levels of
economic activity as well as increased caution among the public in handling
cash due to hygiene considerations. Furthermore, many businesses were
concerned that contact with banknotes and coins could lead to infection and
urged their customers to use cashless methods of payment whenever
possible. It is too early to estimate what kind of an impact the coronavirus
crisis will have on cash use in the medium and long term.

Impact of coronavirus crisis

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

77

Second survey on use
of payment methods

In 2020, the SNB conducted its second representative survey on the use
of the different payment methods in Switzerland. To this end, 2,000
randomly selected Swiss residents were asked to complete a questionnaire
and to keep a payment diary to track their payment habits and use of cash.
Initial survey results indicate that, compared to the survey conducted in 2017,
notably less cash was used for payment purposes during autumn 2020 than
in the same period three years previously. In particular, survey respondents
had made increased use of debit cards, especially the contactless feature, but
also other cashless methods of payment. The SNB will provide comprehensive
information on the results of the payment methods survey in mid-2021.

Issuance and disposal

In 2020, the SNB put 86.8 million (2019: 181.1 million) freshly printed
banknotes with a nominal value of CHF 15.0 billion (2019: CHF 41.1 billion)
into circulation. The large decline in both value and number is attributable to
the 1000-franc and 100-franc notes from the ninth banknote series having
been released in 2019. The SNB destroyed 129.4 million damaged or recalled
notes (2019: 166.9 million) with a nominal value of CHF 56.8 billion (2019:
CHF 45.1 billion).

number of
banknotes in
circulation
In millions

CHF 10s 79
CHF 20s 96
CHF 50s 72
CHF 100s 141
CHF 200s 76
CHF 1000s 49
Annual average for 2020
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In 2020, 1,692 (2019: 982) counterfeit banknotes were confiscated in
Switzerland. This corresponds to 3 (2019: 2) counterfeit notes per million
Swiss franc notes in circulation – a very low figure by international
standards.

Counterfeits

The sixth-series banknotes were recalled on 1 May 2000 and have not been
legal tender since. According to a revision to the CPIA which came into
effect on 1 January 2020, there is no limitation on the period during which
these banknotes can be exchanged at the SNB at full nominal value. At
the end of 2020, a total of 17.7 million notes (equivalent to CHF 1.0 billion)
from the sixth series had still not been exchanged.

Recall and exchange
of sixth-series banknotes

The SNB announced on 15 May 2020 that it will communicate the recall of
the banknotes from the eighth series in the first half of 2021. These banknotes
will remain legal tender until they are recalled.

Recall of eighth-series
banknotes

Key figures on banknotes and coins in circulation
(annual average)
2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

72 201

76 471

78 997

79 809

84 450

7.2

5.9

3.3

1.0

5.8

425 876

449 221

471 276

488 060

513 381

4.8

5.5

4.9

3.6

5.2

3 062

3 102

3 144

3 180

3 189

1.5

1.3

1.3

1.2

0.3

5 442

5 527

5 617

5 693

5 737

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.3

0.8

Banknotes in circulation
In value terms
(in CHF millions)

Year-on-year change
(in percent)

Number of notes
(in thousands)

Year-on-year change
(in percent)

Coins in circulation
In value terms
(in CHF millions)

Year-on-year change
(in percent)

Number of coins
(in millions)

Year-on-year change
(in percent)
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3.4 Coins
Mandate

The SNB is entrusted by the Confederation with the task of coin circulation.
Its role is defined in art. 5 CPIA. It takes over the coins minted by Swissmint
and puts into circulation the number required for payment purposes.
Coins that are surplus to requirements are taken back against reimbursement
of their nominal value. The SNB’s coinage services are not remunerated,
as they constitute part of its mandate to supply the country with cash. The
SNB is supported in this task by Swiss Post and Swiss Federal Railways in
accordance with the Coinage Ordinance.

Revision to Coinage
Ordinance

On 18 December 2020, the Federal Council adopted an amendment to the
Coinage Ordinance that enters into force on 1 March 2021. The new
provisions draw a distinction between coins worn as a result of normal use
and coins that have been damaged by other processes or uses. This concerns
coins seriously damaged at metal processing plants (recycling) in particular.
Worn coins will continue to be accepted by the SNB without restriction
and exchanged at their full nominal value. Damaged coins will only be
accepted and reimbursed subject to certain conditions being met. The SNB,
in collaboration with the relevant federal government bodies, has published
provisions governing the details.

Coin circulation

In 2020, the value of coins in circulation averaged CHF 3.2 billion. This
corresponds to 5.7 billion coins (2019: 5.7 billion). The growth rate in value
terms, at 0.3%, was lower than in 2019.
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4
Facilitating and securing
cashless payments

4.1 Background
In accordance with art. 5 para. 2 (c) of the National Bank Act (NBA), the
Swiss National Bank facilitates and secures the operation of cashless
payment systems. Art. 9 of the NBA empowers the SNB to maintain sight
deposit accounts for banks and other financial market participants.

Mandate

The SNB fulfils its statutory mandate of facilitating and securing the
operation of cashless payment systems in its role as commissioning party and
system manager of the Swiss Interbank Clearing (SIC) payment system.
The SIC system is the central payment system for payments in Swiss francs.
The SNB determines the admission criteria, provides the system with
liquidity and defines the functionalities and settlement rules, thus ensuring
a sound and efficient infrastructure for cashless payment transactions.
As a systemically important financial market infrastructure (FMI), the SIC
system is overseen by the SNB (cf. chapter 6.4).

Role in cashless payment
transactions

The SIC system is a real-time gross settlement system for payments in Swiss
francs. This means that payment orders are settled continuously, individually,
irrevocably and with finality in central bank money. Via the SIC system,
banks and other financial market participants settle both interbank payments
(payments between financial institutions as well as third-party system
payments) and retail payments in Swiss francs. Retail payments are mainly
initiated by payment instruments such as bank transfers and direct debits.
Likewise, some obligations arising from card payments are bundled via the
SIC system and settled among the participants.

Main features of SIC system

The SNB transfers deposits from the SIC participants’ sight deposit accounts
to their settlement accounts in the SIC system at the beginning of each
settlement day. During the day, it ensures that there is sufficient liquidity in
the SIC system by granting, when necessary, intraday loans to banks against
collateral (cf. chapter 2.3). At the end of a settlement day, it calculates, on
the basis of the turnover of the individual SIC participants, the balance to be
transferred from the settlement accounts back to the sight deposit accounts
at the SNB. Legally, the two accounts form one unit.

Operation of SIC system
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The SNB has entrusted the operation of the SIC system to SIX Interbank
Clearing Ltd, a subsidiary of SIX Group Ltd (SIX). The provision of services
for the SIC system is governed by contract between the SNB and SIX
Interbank Clearing Ltd. Furthermore, the SNB has a seat on the Board of
Directors of SIX Interbank Clearing Ltd and participates in various payment
system bodies, where it represents its interests based on its mandate. The
business relationship between the SNB and the SIC participants is governed
by the SIC giro agreement.
Admission to SIC system

The SNB grants domestic financial market participants access to the SIC
system. They include banks, securities firms, insurance companies and
institutions such as cash processing operators, FMIs and fintech companies
(cf. chapter 4.2). Additionally, third-party system operators which are able to
effect debits and credits to the accounts of other participants also have access
to the SIC system. The SNB may grant foreign financial market participants
access to the SIC system too. As a general rule, to be admitted participants
must make a significant contribution to the fulfilment of the SNB’s tasks, and
their admission must not pose any major risks.

SIC system as part
of Swiss financial market
infrastructure

The SIC system is a key element of the Swiss financial centre. This FMI
is operated by SIX, a company owned by around 120 financial institutions
which are also the main users of the services provided by SIX. A wellfunctioning, secure and efficient financial market infrastructure is of vital
importance to the SNB for the fulfilment of its statutory mandate, particularly
with regard to facilitating and securing the operation of cashless payment
systems. The SNB regularly exchanges information with SIX and the
banking sector with the aim of continually developing Switzerland’s financial
market infrastructure.

4.2 The SIC system in 2020
In 2020, a daily average of approximately 2.9 million transactions amounting
to CHF 178 billion were settled via the SIC system. Compared to the previous
year, the average number of transactions settled per day rose by 9.3% and
turnover increased by 12.8%. Peak days saw up to 9.3 million transactions,
with turnover of up to CHF 276 billion. The rise in turnover is attributable to
increased trading activity on the repo market (cf. chapter 2.2) as well as
the gradual migration of PostFinance’s payment transactions with other banks
to the SIC system.

Key figures
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Retail payments accounted for 97.5% of the transactions in the SIC system
(10.3% of turnover) and interbank payments 2.5% (89.7% of turnover).

Key figures on SIC system
2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

1 765

2 035

2 432

2 623

2 867

5 670

7 025

7 436

7 484

9 286

3.6

3.2

2.6

2.4

2.5

96.4

96.8

97.4

97.6

97.5

153

173

156

158

178

266

227

249

240

276

86 914

84 941

64 081

60 256

62 160

90.4

91.1

89.2

88.6

89.7

9.6

8.9

10.8

11.4

10.3

Number of transactions
Daily average
(in thousands)

Peak daily value for year
(in thousands)

Share of interbank payments (in %)
Share of retail payments (in %)
Turnover
Daily average
(in CHF billions)

Peak daily value for year
(in CHF billions)

Average value per transaction
(in CHF)

Share of interbank payments (in %)
Share of retail payments (in %)

Sight deposits of SIC participants and intraday facility
Average sight deposits
at end of day (in CHF millions)

463 038

519 433

524 801

521 595

621 458

1 060

1 086

1 061

416

1 111

Average intraday facility utilisation
(in CHF millions)

As at 31 December 2020, the SNB had 394 holders of sight deposit accounts
(2019: 403). Of these, 321 participated in the SIC system (2019: 323). The
majority of SIC participants (238) are domiciled in Switzerland (2019: 234).
Six third-party system operators also have access to the SIC system.
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Developments in payment
transactions

Innovations in the financial industry have an especially strong impact on
cashless payment transactions. Based on its mandate regarding cashless
payment transactions, the SNB as commissioning party of the SIC system
ensures appropriate conditions for the further development of cashless
payment transactions in Swiss francs.

SIC5 and instant payments

In 2020, the SNB and SIX Interbank Clearing Ltd initiated the SIC5 project
to further develop the SIC system. Among other things, SIC5 allows the
settlement of instant payments, i.e. cashless retail payments that are processed
around the clock with the amount being credited to the final recipient within
seconds. The new SIC5 platform is expected to be launched in 2023 and will
initially settle instant payments. Other payment methods in the SIC system,
e.g. interbank payments, will subsequently be migrated to the new platform
and will thus also be able to benefit from the enhancements. The SIC5 project
is being developed in close collaboration with the SIC participants.

Admission of fintech
companies

After the revised Banking Ordinance containing the new licensing category
of fintech companies entered into force at the beginning of 2019, the
SNB decided in January 2020 to grant SIC system access to companies with
the requisite fintech licences and a business model that is significant in
the area of Swiss franc payment transactions. February 2020 saw the first
company with a fintech licence gain access to the SIC system.

Secure Swiss Finance
Network

In 2019, the SNB and SIX jointly launched a project to develop a secure
network for the Swiss financial centre (Secure Swiss Finance Network,
SSFN). The aim of this project is to increase the security and resilience of
network connections to the SIC system and to other FMIs. In collaboration
with telecommunications providers and their participants, the project
seeks to set up a new, secure network on the basis of SCION (Scalability,
Control and Isolation on Next-Generation Networks), the routing
architecture developed at ETH Zurich. The new SCION network not only
allows for the exchange of messages between FMIs and participants,
but it also enables data to be exchanged securely between participants using
the same architecture. This project was in its pilot phase in 2020. Third-party
expert opinions confirmed the suitability and security of the SSFN
on a technical level. If the pilot phase can be successfully concluded and
further set-up completed, the SSFN is to gradually replace the existing
communication link with the SIC system from 2021.
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sight deposits and intraday facility in sic system
Monthly averages of daily values, in CHF billions
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Endpoint security to reduce
fraud risk

86

In 2018, the Committee on Payments and Market Infrastructures (CPMI) at
the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) published recommendations for
reducing the risk of wholesale payments fraud related to endpoint security.
Endpoint security in payment transactions means the protection of all endpoints
against unauthorised third-party access. Endpoints are devices, applications
and systems used to submit payment messages to the wholesale payment
system. The SNB plans to define mandatory requirements derived from these
recommendations for SIC participants by the end of 2021. They are set to
be implemented in 2022, after which the SNB will check compliance with
the requirements.
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5
Asset management

5.1 Background
The assets of the Swiss National Bank fulfil important monetary policy
functions. They consist largely of investments in foreign currencies,
gold and, to a lesser extent, financial assets in Swiss francs. Their size and
composition are determined by the established monetary order and the
requirements of monetary policy. Under art. 5 para. 2 of the National Bank
Act (NBA), the SNB is responsible for managing the currency reserves,
part of which must be held in the form of gold (art. 99 para. 3 Federal
Constitution).

Mandate

The SNB’s currency reserves are held primarily in the form of foreign
currency investments and gold. The currency reserves also include
international payment instruments and the reserve position in the
International Monetary Fund (IMF).

Currency reserves

Currency reserves ensure that the SNB has room for manoeuvre in its monetary
policy at all times. They also serve to build confidence, and to prevent and
overcome potential crises. In the current environment, the level of the currency
reserves is largely dictated by the implementation of monetary policy. The
level of currency reserves has multiplied since the onset of the financial and
debt crisis. While these reserves amounted to CHF 85 billion at the end
of 2007, by the end of 2020 they had risen to CHF 962 billion. The increase
is mainly due to foreign currency purchases aimed at curbing the appreciation
of the Swiss franc.
The financial assets in Swiss francs are made up of Swiss franc bonds, claims
from repo transactions, and covered loans from the SNB COVID-19
refinancing facility (CRF) established in 2020.

Financial assets
in Swiss francs

Investment principles
Asset management is governed by the primacy of monetary policy. In
applying its investment policy, the SNB has two main objectives. The
first is to ensure that its balance sheet can be used for monetary policy
purposes at any time. In particular, the SNB must be in a position to
expand or shrink the balance sheet if necessary. The second objective of
investment policy is to preserve the value of currency reserves in the
long term. In order to achieve these objectives, the SNB’s investment
policy must be oriented towards high liquidity and broad diversification.
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The primacy of monetary policy means that there are restrictions on
investment policy. The SNB does not hedge currency risks from its
investments against the Swiss franc as this would constitute demand for
Swiss francs, thereby generating upward pressure on the currency
(cf. chapter 5.4). In addition, the SNB does not want to influence markets
with its investment policy and therefore aims for minimal market impact.
The investment process ensures that no privileged information acquired
within the SNB can influence investment activity and that no unintentional
signal effects are created. For this reason, the SNB does not invest in
the shares of any systemically important banks. Equally, it does not invest
in Swiss shares or in bonds issued by Swiss companies, and the Swiss
franc bond portfolio is managed passively.
A high degree of asset liquidity, in particular, is required to ensure
sufficient room for manoeuvre in the implementation of monetary policy.
The SNB therefore invests a substantial portion of its currency reserves
in highly liquid foreign government bonds. The criterion of security is taken
into account by structuring investments so that at least the real value is
preserved over the long term. This goal is pursued through broad
diversification of currencies; additionally, to improve the long-term risk/
return profile, government bond holdings in the major currencies are
supplemented by other asset classes. Since all investments are valued in
Swiss francs, the return must offset the Swiss franc’s long-term upward
trend. This necessitates a sufficiently positive return in the local
currencies. By investing part of the currency reserves in a well-diversified
range of shares and corporate bonds, the SNB is able to exploit the
positive contribution of these asset classes. At the same time, it retains
the flexibility to adjust its monetary and investment policy to changing
requirements.
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5.2 Investment and risk control process
The NBA defines the SNB’s responsibilities and describes in detail its
mandate with regard to asset management. The Bank Council is charged with
the integral oversight of the investment and risk control process. Its role
is to assess the underlying principles and monitor compliance with them. The
Risk Committee – which is composed of three Bank Council members –
supports the Bank Council in this task. It monitors risk management, in
particular, and evaluates the governance of the investment process. Internal
risk management reporting is addressed to the Governing Board and the Risk
Committee.

Bank Council and Risk
Committee responsibilities

The Governing Board defines the principles of the investment policy.
Specifically, it sets the parameters for the balance sheet structure and
investment targets, the investment universe, investment strategy and the
associated risk tolerance, as well as the investment and risk control process.
In particular, it sets out the requirements with regard to the security, liquidity
and return of the investments, as well as the eligible currencies, asset classes,
instruments, and borrower categories. The Governing Board decides on the
composition of the currency reserves and other assets, and defines the foreign
currency investment strategy. The investment strategy covers the allocation
of foreign currency investments to different asset classes and currencies, and
determines the scope for active management at operational level.

Governing Board
responsibilities

The Investment Committee, an internal body, decides on the tactical
allocation of the foreign currency investments at operational level. Within
the strategically prescribed ranges set by the Governing Board, it adjusts
currency weightings, bond durations and allocations to the different asset
classes, to take account of changed market conditions.

Investment Committee
responsibilities

Portfolio Management manages the individual portfolios. The majority of the
foreign currency investments (97%) are managed internally. External asset
managers are used to benchmark internal portfolio management and obtain
efficient access to new asset classes. At operational level, responsibilities
for monetary policy and investment policy are organised in such a way as to
avoid conflicts of interest.

Portfolio Management
responsibilities
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Singapore office
responsibilities

The Asia-Pacific portfolios are managed by SNB portfolio managers in the
Singapore branch office, which opened in 2013. It is the SNB’s only
branch office outside Switzerland. Its primary task is to ensure the efficient
management of the SNB’s currency reserves in the Asia-Pacific region.
Having a presence in Asia is also beneficial when it comes to implementing
monetary policy on the foreign exchange market. The office’s trading and
portfolio management operations are fully integrated into the investment and
risk control process in Switzerland.

Risk Management
responsibilities

The most important element for managing absolute risk is broad
diversification of investments. Risk is managed and mitigated by means of
a system of reference portfolios (benchmarks), guidelines and limits. All
relevant financial risks associated with investments are identified, assessed
and monitored continuously. Risk measurement is based on standard risk
indicators and procedures. In addition to these procedures, sensitivity
analyses and stress tests are carried out on a regular basis. The SNB’s
generally long-term investment horizon is taken into account in all of these
risk analyses.

breakdown of
snb assets

To assess and manage credit risk, information from major rating agencies,
market indicators and in-house analyses are used. Credit limits are set on the
basis of this information, and adjusted whenever the risk assessment
changes. To mitigate counterparty risk, the replacement values of derivatives
are usually collateralised by securities. Concentration and reputational
risks are also factored in when determining risk limits. Risk indicators are
aggregated across all investments. Compliance with the guidelines and
limits is monitored daily. The risk analyses and results of risk management
activities are submitted to the Governing Board and the Bank Council’s Risk
Committee in quarterly risk reports. In addition, the annual risk management
report is submitted to the Bank Council.

Foreign currency
investments 91%
Gold holdings 5%
Financial assets in CHF
1%
Sundry 3%
Total: CHF 999 billion
At year-end 2020
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5.3 Changes in and breakdown of assets
At the end of 2020, the SNB’s assets amounted to CHF 999 billion, which
was CHF 138 billion higher than a year earlier. They consisted of foreign
currency investments (CHF 910 billion), gold (CHF 56 billion), Special
Drawing Rights (CHF 7 billion), Swiss franc bonds (CHF 4 billion), claims
from repo transactions in Swiss francs (CHF 0.5 billion) and other assets
(CHF 22 billion). As of this year, the balance sheet includes the item secured
loans (CHF 11 billion). These are loans granted under the SNB COVID-19
refinancing facility (CRF) established in March. At the end of 2020, the
balance sheet also included CHF 9 billion in claims from US dollar repo
transactions. In spring, the SNB conducted US dollar repo transactions with
banks for the first time since 2012 as part of the international central
bank action to enhance the provision of US dollar liquidity to the markets.

Changes in assets

The rise in the balance sheet total in 2020 was mainly attributable to higher
foreign currency investments, which were up CHF 116 billion year-on-year.
The increase was principally due to inflows from foreign currency purchases.
There were slightly fewer outstanding foreign currency repo transactions on
the balance sheet at the end of 2020 than one year previously. Such repo
transactions are performed as part of portfolio management; foreign-issued
securities are transferred for a given term in exchange for foreign currency
sight deposits, and then the process is reversed at maturity. Since there is
a market demand for these securities, a corresponding premium can be achieved
with such repo transactions. There is also a temporary expansion of the
balance sheet because, first, the securities that are temporarily exchanged
under the transaction continue to be on the SNB’s books and, second, the
sight deposits received and the commitment to repay them at maturity are
also reported in the balance sheet. Since these instruments are not freely
disposable, they are deducted from the foreign currency investments for the
calculation of the foreign exchange reserves and currency reserves.
The gold holdings of 1,040 tonnes remained unchanged over the course of the
year, while their value rose by just under CHF 7 billion. At the end of 2020,
total currency reserves amounted to CHF 962 billion, an increase of CHF 126
billion compared to the previous year.
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Composition of currency reserves
In CHF billions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

56

49

Foreign currency investments

910

794

Less: associated liabilities

– 10

– 13

0

0

900

781

Reserve position in the IMF

2

1

International payment instruments

4

4

962

836

Gold reserves

1

Derivatives
(replacement values, net)
Total foreign exchange reserves

Total currency reserves
1	Liabilities from foreign currency repo transactions.

The SNB’s bond portfolios chiefly comprise government bonds
(approximately 85% of total bond holdings). The selection of government
bonds and the corresponding markets takes into account the SNB’s specific
requirements and, in particular, ensures a high degree of liquidity. Within
a given market, investments are diversified broadly across maturities so that,
if necessary, large volumes can be bought or sold with minimum impact
on prices. In addition to government bonds, the bond portfolios in the foreign
exchange reserves contain quasi-government bonds as well as bonds
issued by supranational organisations, local authorities, financial institutions
(mainly covered bonds and similar instruments) and other companies.

Bond portfolios

The average duration of the portfolio decreased slightly in 2020, and
stood at 4.6 years at year-end. Over 50% of the bonds had a negative yield
to maturity.
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Equities are managed passively according to a set of rules based on
a strategic benchmark comprising a combination of equity indices in various
markets and currencies. The principle of broadly replicating entire markets
ensures that the SNB operates as neutrally as possible in the individual
stock markets. The SNB does not actively engage in stock picking, nor does
it generally overweight or underweight particular sectors, in order to avoid
concentrations in specific companies and sectors.

Equity portfolios

At the end of 2020, the equity portfolios comprised mostly shares of mid-cap
and large-cap companies in advanced economies. Shares of small-cap
companies in advanced economies and shares of companies in emerging
economies were also held. This resulted in a globally well-diversified equity
portfolio of around 6,700 individual shares (over 1,400 shares of mid-cap and
large-cap companies and about 4,300 shares of small-cap companies in
advanced economies, as well as approximately 1,000 shares of companies in
emerging economies). With its even, broad-based market coverage,
the SNB’s ownership share of individual mid-cap and large-cap companies is
roughly the same in all advanced economies. For reasons of liquidity,
the corresponding proportions of small-cap companies and companies in
emerging economies are somewhat lower.
The passively managed Swiss franc bond portfolio primarily contains
bonds issued by the Confederation, the cantons, municipalities and foreign
borrowers, as well as Swiss Pfandbriefe. In 2020, the average duration
of the portfolio increased slightly to 8.6 years. At the end of 2020, over 90%
of the SNB’s Swiss franc bond holdings, which were worth more than
CHF 4 billion, had a negative yield to maturity.

Swiss franc bonds

Non-financial aspects of managing securities of private sector issuers
The SNB holds part of its foreign currency investments in the form of
shares and corporate bonds in order to take advantage of the positive
return contribution of these asset classes and improve the long-term risk/
return ratio. When managing securities of private sector issuers, the
SNB also takes non-financial aspects into consideration.
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Owing to its special role vis-à-vis the banking sector, the SNB refrains
from investing in shares of systemically important banks worldwide. The
SNB also takes account of Switzerland’s fundamental standards and
values in its investment policy. Consequently, it does not invest in shares
and bonds of companies whose products or production processes grossly
violate values that are broadly accepted at a societal level. The SNB
therefore does not purchase securities issued by companies that seriously
violate fundamental human rights, systematically cause severe
environmental damage or are involved in the production of internationally
condemned weapons.
Condemned weapons include biological and chemical weapons, cluster
munitions and anti-personnel mines. Companies involved in the
production of nuclear weapons for countries that are not among the five
legitimate nuclear-weapon states defined under the Nuclear NonProliferation Treaty (China, France, Russia, United Kingdom, United States)
are also excluded.
Individual companies are excluded under the criterion of systematically
causing severe environmental damage if they, for example, systematically
pollute waterways or the countryside, or seriously damage biodiversity
through their production operations. As of December 2020, companies
with a business model primarily based on coal mining are also excluded.
The reason for expanding the environmental criterion is that there is
a broad consensus in Switzerland in favour of phasing out coal.
The SNB reviews the whole investment universe on a regular basis in order
to identify the companies concerned. A specialised external service
provider reviews the SNB’s investment universe to specifically identify
companies involved in the manufacturing of condemned weapons. With
regard to companies that focus on coal mining, the SNB bases its
assessment on a classification by a specialised index provider. Companies
that fall under other exclusion criteria are identified in a two-phase
process. The first phase consists of examining and processing public
information in order to identify companies whose activities are very likely
to fall under the exclusion criteria. During the second phase, a detailed
assessment is performed on each identified company to ascertain whether
it should be excluded or not. The SNB relies on the recommendations
made by the specialised external service providers in deciding on
the exclusion of companies, and reviews its decisions on a regular basis.
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It should be noted that the constitutional and legislative authorities have
deliberately not tasked the SNB with using its asset management activities
to selectively influence the development of certain economic sectors.
The SNB’s investment policy therefore cannot be geared to pursuing
structural policies, i.e. advantaging or disadvantaging specific economic
sectors via positive or negative selections, or promoting or inhibiting
economic, political or social change.
Against this backdrop, the SNB generally aims to replicate the individual
stock markets in their entirety, taking into account the aforementioned
exceptions. As a result, the SNB holds equities in the various economic
sectors based on market capitalisation. This approach ensures that
the portfolio’s exposure to different risks is similar to that of the global
universe of listed companies, and that structural changes in the global
economy are also reflected in the SNB’s portfolio.
The process of exercising voting rights relating to shares is another nonfinancial aspect of managing assets issued by private sector companies.
Here, the SNB restricts itself to issues of good corporate governance. In
the long term, good corporate governance helps companies – and hence
the SNB’s investments in them – to perform favourably. In exercising
its voting rights, the SNB focuses on mid-cap and large-cap companies in
Europe and also works with external service providers to this end. The
voting procedure is based on the SNB’s internal guidelines for exercising
voting rights. The external service providers are tasked with interpreting
the guidelines for exercising voting rights and applying them to the
proposals being put forward at the shareholders’ meetings. The SNB is
in regular contact with the external service providers and monitors
the correct interpretation of the guidelines for voting rights.
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Breakdown of foreign exchange reserves and
Swiss franc bond investments at year-end

Foreign
exchange
reserves

2020
CHF bonds

Foreign
exchange
reserves

2019
CHF bonds

Currency allocation (in percent, incl. derivatives positions)
CHF

100

100

EUR

40

39

USD

36

35

JPY

8

9

GBP

6

7

CAD

3

3

7

7

0

0

Other

1

Asset classes (in percent)
Investments with banks
Government bonds
Other bonds

2

3

Shares

70

38

69

39

10

62

11

61

20

20

Breakdown of interest-bearing investments (in percent)
AAA-rated 4

62

79

58

79

AA-rated

19

20

22

21

15

1

16

0

4

A-rated 4
Other
Investment duration (years)

4

0

4

0

4.6

8.6

4.7

8.5

1	Mainly AUD, CNY, DKK, KRW, SEK, SGD plus small holdings of other currencies in the equity portfolios.
2	Government bonds in own currency, deposits with central banks and the BIS; in the case of Swiss franc
investments, also bonds issued by Swiss cantons and municipalities.
3	Government bonds in foreign currency as well as bonds issued by foreign local authorities and
supranational organisations, covered bonds, corporate bonds, etc.
4	Average rating, calculated from the ratings of major credit rating agencies.
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breakdown of currency reserves at year-end
In percent, excluding investments and liabilities from foreign exchange swaps against CHF
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Changes in asset structure

There was little year-on-year change in the structure of the foreign exchange
reserves and Swiss franc bonds. The euro and US dollar shares increased
slightly at the expense of the pound sterling and yen, while the share of other
currencies remained unchanged. The proportion of AAA-rated investments
increased by 4 percentage points at the expense of AA-rated and A-rated
investments. The share of equities in the foreign exchange reserves stood at
20% at end-2020, as in the previous year.

Initiative
against war trade

The Swiss popular initiative calling for a ban on the financing of war material
manufacturers was put to a national vote on 29 November 2020. This
initiative aimed to limit the SNB’s investment universe as well as that of
foundations and pension funds. The Swiss voters and cantons rejected the
initiative.

5.4 Balance sheet risk
Risk profile

The risk profile of assets is determined by the currency reserves. The main
risk to the currency reserves is market risk, in particular risks related to
exchange rates, the gold price, share prices and interest rates. In addition,
there is liquidity risk as well as credit and country risk, although these are not
as significant as market risk. The contribution of Swiss franc bonds to total
risk is negligible.

Market risk

Exchange rates are the most important risk factor for the currency reserves.
As currency risk is not hedged against the Swiss franc, even minor changes
in the Swiss franc exchange rates lead to substantial fluctuations in
investment income, and thus in the SNB’s equity. In addition to currency
risk, fluctuations in the gold price and stock prices as well as interest rate risk
are relevant. Currency risk, share price risk and interest rate risk are limited
through the specification of benchmarks and management guidelines.
Various means, including the use of derivative financial instruments such as
interest rate swaps, stock index futures and interest rate futures, are used to
control these risks. Foreign exchange derivatives can also be used to manage
currency exposure.
The SNB does not hedge currency risk against the Swiss franc, as hedging
would have an undesirable impact on monetary policy. Hedging operations,
for example selling foreign exchange forwards against Swiss francs,
would create additional demand and increase upward pressure on the Swiss
franc. Therefore, hedging would de facto have the same effect as a foreign
exchange market intervention to strengthen the Swiss franc. For this reason,
currency risk must be accepted as an inherent component of currency
reserves.
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The SNB’s liquidity risk arises from the possibility that, should investments
in foreign currencies need to be sold, such sales could be effected only
partially or after considerable price concessions, or may not be possible at
all. By holding a large volume of highly liquid government bonds in the
major currencies – euros and US dollars – the SNB continued to ensure
a correspondingly high level of liquidity in its foreign exchange reserves in
2020. Liquidity risk is reassessed periodically.

Liquidity risk

Credit risk stems from the possibility that counterparties or issuers of
securities do not meet their obligations. Such risks are inherent in bilateral
(over-the-counter) transactions with banks and in bonds issued by all
borrower categories. The SNB holds bonds issued by public and
supranational borrowers, covered bonds and similar instruments as well as
corporate bonds as part of its currency reserves. For issuers of bonds, the
SNB requires a minimum rating of ‘investment grade’. Exposure to
individual issuers is limited by means of concentration limits. Credit risk
arising from non-tradable instruments with respect to banks was very low in
2020. Replacement values of derivatives were netted and collateralised, in
accordance with the ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives Association)
agreements with counterparties. The SNB settles most of its interest rate
swaps via a central counterparty. On the one hand, this facilitates netting of
offsetting positions. On the other, efficiency gains are made in the daily
management of the securities used as collateral.

Credit risk

In 2020, too, investments mainly took the form of government bonds; the
bulk of these were in highly liquid bonds issued by European countries
with very good credit ratings and by the US. At the end of 2020, outstanding
balances at central banks and the Bank for International Settlements
amounted to CHF 80 billion. Overall, more than 80% of interest-bearing
investments were rated AA or higher.
Country risk arises from the possibility that a country may block payments
by borrowers domiciled in its sovereign territory or block the right to dispose
of assets held there. In order to avoid entering into any unbalanced country
risk, the SNB endeavours to distribute assets across a number of different
depositories and countries.
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Gold holdings are stored according to this principle as well. In choosing
a location, attention is paid to both appropriate regional diversification and
easy market access. Of the 1,040 tonnes of gold, approximately 70% is stored
in Switzerland, some 20% at the Bank of England, and roughly 10% at the
Bank of Canada. Decentralised storage of gold holdings in Switzerland and
abroad ensures that the SNB has access to its gold reserves even in the event
of a crisis.
Balance sheet growth

The increase in currency reserves stemming from monetary policy in recent
years has led to corresponding growth in the SNB’s balance sheet. The
balance sheet total increased substantially again in 2020; this was attributable
to the use of monetary policy instruments to manage the coronavirus crisis.
The growth in the balance sheet resulted in higher loss risk in absolute terms.
The SNB aims for a robust balance sheet with sufficient equity capital, to
ensure that it can absorb potential losses. With the expansion of the balance
sheet from 2008 onwards, the ratio of equity capital to currency reserves
has decreased significantly.

Provisions and distribution
reserve

The SNB is required by art. 99 para. 3 of the Federal Constitution to
create sufficient currency reserves from its earnings. According to art. 30
para. 1 NBA, the SNB must set aside provisions that allow it to maintain
the currency reserves at the necessary level, while taking into account the
development of the Swiss economy. The provisions for currency reserves
and the distribution reserve together form the SNB’s equity capital.
The provisions for currency reserves correspond to the desired level of equity
capital at the given point in time, with funds being allocated to it on an
annual basis. They are intended to ensure that the SNB has sufficient equity
capital to absorb even large losses. The loss-absorbing equity capital also
includes the distribution reserve. The non-distributed annual profit is
allocated to the distribution reserve, or the shortfall for the appropriation
of profit is drawn from it. The distribution reserve is a form of profit carried
forward and serves as a fluctuation reserve to enable the legally required
medium-term smoothing of the annual distributions.

100

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

Annual allocations to the provisions for currency reserves are necessary to
ensure a solid equity base. The annual allocation is determined on the
basis of double the average nominal GDP growth rate over the previous five
years. This requirement was supplemented in 2016 with the specification of
a minimum annual allocation of 8% of the provisions for currency reserves.
In view of the considerable increase in currency reserves since then, the
SNB intends to reinforce its equity capital and plans to set a minimum annual
allocation to the provisions for currency reserves of 10% for the next few
years. This is aimed at ensuring that sufficient allocations are made and the
balance sheet is strengthened even in periods of low nominal GDP growth.
The minimum allocation of 10% already applied in 2020 and amounted
to CHF 7.9 billion. After the allocation, the provisions for currency reserves
totalled CHF 87 billion.

Allocation to provisions

In accordance with art. 31 para. 2 NBA, one-third of the SNB’s net profit
remaining after the dividend requirement is met accrues to the Confederation
and two-thirds to the cantons. The amount of the annual profit distribution
to the Confederation and the cantons is laid down in an agreement between
the Federal Department of Finance (FDF) and the SNB, with the aim of
smoothing the distributions in the medium term. In January 2021, the FDF
and the SNB decided to conclude a new agreement covering the period
through to 2025, which would already apply to the profit distribution for
2020. This agreement provides for an annual distribution of up to CHF 6
billion, provided that the SNB’s financial situation permits. The maximum
distribution of CHF 6 billion will be made if a net profit of at least CHF 40
billion is achieved. This condition was fulfilled for the 2020 financial year.
The profit distribution to the Confederation and the cantons for 2020
therefore came to CHF 6 billion.

Profit distribution 2020

The SNB recorded a profit of CHF 21 billion in 2020. After allocation to
the provisions for currency reserves of CHF 7.9 billion and taking account
of the profit distribution to the Confederation and the cantons totalling
CHF 6 billion for the 2020 financial year, the SNB’s equity amounted to
CHF 178 billion (provisions of CHF 87 billion plus a distribution reserve
of CHF 91 billion). This was CHF 15 billion higher than one year earlier.

Changes in equity
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5.5 Investment performance
Investment performance

Investment return comprises the returns on foreign exchange reserves, gold
and Swiss franc bonds.
In 2020, the return on currency reserves was 1.9%. Returns on gold and
foreign exchange reserves were positive, at 13.5% and 1.2% respectively. In
local currency, the return on foreign exchange reserves was 6.0%. Owing
to the appreciation of the Swiss franc, the exchange rate return was negative
(– 4.5%). In Swiss franc terms, the annual return on the currency reserves
has averaged 2.6% over the last 15 years.

Return on investments
Returns in percent

Total

2006

6.9

Currency reserves 1
Foreign exchange reserves

Gold

15.0

CHF bonds
Total

Total

Exchange rate
return

Return in
local currency

1.9

– 1.1

3.0

0.0

2007

10.1

21.6

3.0

– 1.3

4.4

– 0.1

2008

– 6.0

– 2.2

– 8.7

– 8.9

0.3

5.4

2009

11.0

23.8

4.8

0.4

4.4

4.3

2010

– 5.4

15.3

– 10.1

– 13.4

3.8

3.7

2011

4.9

12.3

3.1

– 0.8

4.0

5.6

2012

2.3

2.8

2.2

– 2.3

4.7

3.7

2013

– 2.5

– 30.0

0.7

– 2.4

3.2

– 2.2

2014

8.0

11.4

7.8

2.6

5.1

7.9

2015

– 4.7

– 10.5

– 4.4

– 5.6

1.3

2.3

2016

3.8

11.1

3.3

– 0.4

3.7

1.3

2017

7.2

7.9

7.2

2.9

4.2

– 0.1

2018

– 2.1

– 0.6

– 2.2

– 1.5

– 0.7

0.2

2019

6.1

16.3

5.5

– 2.4

8.1

3.2

2020

1.9

13.5

1.2

– 4.5

6.0

1.2

2

3.3

9.5

3.0

– 1.2

4.2

1.1

2011 – 2020 2

2.4

2.4

2.4

– 1.5

3.9

2.3

2006 – 2020

2.6

6.2

0.9

– 2.7

3.7

2.4

2016 – 2020

2

1 In this table, they correspond to gold and foreign exchange reserves, excluding IMF Special Drawing Rights.
2	Average annual return over 5, 10 and 15 years.
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The currency reserves are mainly composed of gold, bonds and shares. The
diversification effects achieved by adding shares to a portfolio, as well
as equities’ high liquidity, make them an attractive asset class for the SNB.
Furthermore, given that expected return is higher on shares than on bonds,
this asset class helps to preserve the real value of the currency reserves.
Though long-term return expectations are higher for equities, they are also
subject to greater fluctuations in value. Yet, while equities, viewed on
their own, are indeed more prone to fluctuation, in the context of the portfolio
as a whole – and with an equity exposure of this magnitude – this
disadvantage is offset by the asset class’s favourable diversification effects
relative to bonds and gold.

Contributions of asset classes
to investment performance

The share of equity holdings stood at 20% at the end of 2020. Equity
exposure improves the risk/return profile of the foreign exchange reserves.
Measured in Swiss francs, the average annual return on equities since
their introduction as an asset class in 2005 has been 4.5%. Likewise
measured in Swiss francs, the annual return on bonds over the same period
has averaged 0.8%. Earnings on the bonds component of the foreign
exchange reserves totalled CHF 13.4 billion between 2005 and 2020. The
equity holdings generated earnings of CHF 103.4 billion over this period.
In recent years, equities have thus played a major role in enabling the SNB
to increase its equity capital and make distributions.
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Returns on foreign exchange reserves, in Swiss francs
Returns in percent

Total

Bonds

Shares

2005

10.8

10.6

24.4

2006

1.9

1.3

11.1

2007

3.0

3.3

0.6

2008

– 8.7

– 3.1

– 44.9

2009

4.8

3.7

20.4

2010

– 10.1

– 11.0

– 2.6

2011

3.1

4.0

– 6.8

2012

2.2

0.8

12.7

2013

0.7

– 2.4

20.4

2014

7.8

6.9

12.7

2015

– 4.4

– 5.2

0.6

2016

3.3

1.5

9.2

2017

7.2

4.5

18.4

2018

– 2.2

– 1.1

– 7.1

2019

5.5

1.1

24.5

2020

1.2

– 0.7

5.1

2005 – 20201

1.5

0.8

4.5

1	Average annual return over 16 years.
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6
Contribution to
financial system stability

6.1 Background
Art. 5 para. 2 (e) of the National Bank Act (NBA) confers upon the Swiss
National Bank the task of contributing to the stability of the financial system.
Financial stability means that financial system participants, i.e. financial
intermediaries (especially banks) and financial market infrastructures (FMIs),
can perform their functions and are able to withstand potential disruptions.
It is an important prerequisite for economic development and effective monetary
policy implementation.

Mandate

In the field of financial stability, the SNB fulfils this mandate by analysing
sources of risk to the financial system and identifying areas where action may
be needed. In addition, it helps to create and implement a regulatory
framework for the financial sector, and oversees systemically important FMIs.
In recent years, there has been a shift in the focus of central banks’ activities
in the area of financial stability, away from crisis management and towards
crisis prevention. To counteract the risks that threaten the stability of the
financial system, the SNB has two macroprudential regulatory powers at its
disposal, namely the authority to designate banks as systemically important
and the authority to propose the activation, adjustment or deactivation of
the countercyclical capital buffer (CCyB). While the designation of
systemically important banks is focused on combating structural risks, the
CCyB is geared towards addressing cyclical risks.

Focus on crisis prevention

In a crisis, the SNB fulfils its mandate by acting as lender of last resort where
necessary. It provides emergency liquidity assistance to domestic banks
whose insolvency would have a severe impact on financial system stability in
cases where such banks are no longer able to refinance themselves on the
market (cf. chapter 2.6).
At national level, the SNB works closely with the Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority (FINMA) and the Federal Department of Finance
(FDF) to create a regulatory framework that promotes stability. The SNB
addresses the issue mainly from a systemic perspective, and its focus is
therefore on the macroprudential aspects of regulation. FINMA, on the other
hand, is responsible for the supervision of individual financial institutions
and for ensuring that the financial markets function effectively. The principles
for this collaboration are set out in two Memoranda of Understanding:
one bilateral with FINMA, and the other trilateral with FINMA and the FDF.
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At international level, the SNB participates in the design of the regulatory
framework through its membership of the Financial Stability Board, the
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, the Committee on Payments and
Market Infrastructures and the Committee on the Global Financial System
(cf. chapters 7.2.2 and 7.2.3). In the oversight of cross-border FMIs, the SNB
liaises closely with FINMA and with foreign authorities.

6.2 Monitoring the financial system
Within the context of monitoring the financial system, the SNB analyses
developments and risks in the Swiss banking sector. Its assessment is
published, in particular, in its annual Financial Stability Report.

Well positioned to face
challenges of coronavirus
crisis

Continued high loss potential
and exceptionally high
uncertainty
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6.2.1 Globally active banks
In 2020, the SNB identified significant challenges facing the two globally
active Swiss banks, Credit Suisse Group AG (Credit Suisse) and UBS Group
AG (UBS), in relation to the economic consequences of the coronavirus
pandemic. Nevertheless, it also noted that the two banks were well placed to
face these challenges and support the real economy. This favourable situation
was attributable in particular to the capital buffers which the two globally
active banks had been building up in recent years, in line with the ‘too big to
fail’ (TBTF) regulations. Under its baseline scenario, the SNB expected that
credit quality would deteriorate and consequently provisions would increase.
Overall, however, the economic impact of the pandemic on Credit Suisse
and UBS would likely be limited. Furthermore, the SNB’s scenario analysis
showed that, thanks to their capital buffers, both banks would also be able
to cope with significantly worse developments in the economic environment
than assumed under the baseline scenario.
At the same time, the SNB emphasised that the loss potential under stress
scenarios at Credit Suisse and UBS remained substantial, with exceptionally
high uncertainty concerning the impact of the pandemic on the global
economy and thus on the two globally active Swiss banks. The loss potential
shows that the capital requirements under the current TBTF regulations
are necessary to ensure adequate resilience at both globally active banks.
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Measures are in place to facilitate recovery or orderly wind-down
(resolution) in a crisis where a bank can no longer continue to operate as
a going concern (and is thus a ‘gone-concern’). FINMA is responsible
for bank resolution planning and implementation.

Developments in resolution

In relation to gone-concern loss-absorbing capacity, the SNB noted that both
globally active banks fully meet the requirements at a consolidated level.
At the parent company level, the Federal Council’s amendment to the Capital
Adequacy Ordinance (CAO) will gradually strengthen gone-concern lossabsorbing capacity at globally active banks. The amended CAO entered into
force on 1 January 2020 with a transitional period to 1 January 2024 for full
implementation.
Gone-concern loss-absorbing capacity alone is not enough for a successful
resolution. Globally active banks also need to have sufficient liquidity
(funding in resolution). As part of its TBTF evaluation report of July 2019,
the Federal Council instructed the FDF, together with FINMA and the SNB,
to examine whether current liquidity requirements for systemically important
banks are adequate to cover the funding needs in resolution or whether
regulatory adjustments are necessary. The analysis showed that the current
liquidity requirements for systemically important banks would probably
not be sufficient to cover liquidity needs in the event of a resolution. The
authorities are therefore reviewing these requirements.

6.2.2 Domestically focused banks
As regards the domestically focused banks – whose main activity is deposit
and lending business – the SNB recognised that the marked deterioration in
the economic outlook likewise posed significant challenges. Under its
baseline scenario, the SNB assumed that the pandemic would primarily affect
domestically focused banks through higher provisions and write-downs on
loans to Swiss corporations. Moreover, the assumption under the baseline
scenario was that a persistent period of low interest rates would put increased
pressure on interest rate margins at these banks. However, the SNB’s analysis
indicated that the economic consequences of the pandemic on the domestically
focused banks would be limited under the baseline scenario. While some
of them could be expected to incur losses, the domestically focused banks
would likely remain profitable overall.
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Limited overall impact
of coronavirus crisis
under baseline scenario
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As in the case of the globally active banks, the SNB noted that the true extent
of the pandemic’s impact on domestically focused banks is subject to a high
degree of uncertainty. The situation on the domestic mortgage and real estate
markets represented an additional risk factor in this connection
(cf. chapter 6.3).
Adequate resilience

Given these challenges, the SNB emphasised that the capital buffers held by
domestically focused banks were crucial for their robustness. These banks
have built up sizeable capital buffers, which significantly exceed regulatory
minimum requirements. Furthermore, all domestically focused banks
complied with the institution-specific capital buffer target levels set by the
CAO. According to the SNB’s scenario analysis, these capital buffers would
enable the banks to cope with significantly worse developments in the
economic environment than are assumed under the baseline scenario. The
SNB thus assessed the domestically focused banks’ resilience as being
adequate.

Domestically focused
systemically important banks:
loss-absorbing capacity and
status of emergency plans

The domestically focused systemically important banks (DF-SIBs) – Zürcher
Kantonalbank, the Raiffeisen Group and PostFinance – have to fulfil
additional going concern and gone concern requirements under the TBTF
regulations. The SNB noted that these three banks are fully compliant with
the TBTF going-concern risk-weighted capital and leverage ratio
requirements. The gone-concern requirements entered into force in 2019 and
are to be phased in by 2026. Like the globally active banks, the DF-SIBs
would also be subject to any revised liquidity requirements for systemically
important banks (cf. chapter 6.2.1).
In addition to the gone-concern requirements, emergency plans are necessary
for the maintenance of systemically important functions in a crisis. FINMA
is responsible for the assessment of emergency plans.
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6.3 Risks and measures relating to mortgage
and real estate markets
In the aftermath of the global financial crisis, vulnerabilities had increasingly
built up due to the strong growth in lending volumes and real estate prices.
These posed a threat to the stability of the banking system. Measures
implemented between 2012 and 2014 helped to counter the further build-up
of risks on the mortgage market and on the market for single-family houses
and privately owned apartments. By contrast, prices again rose sharply in the
residential investment property segment, and affordability risks in newly
granted mortgage loans increased from their already high levels. In view of
these risks, the Swiss Bankers Association’s self-regulation guidelines were
tightened in 2019 with respect to mortgage financing for investment properties,
and were recognised by FINMA as a minimum standard. The revised selfregulation guidelines came into effect on 1 January 2020.

Developments up to
end-2019

The outbreak of the coronavirus pandemic rapidly presented enormous
challenges for the Swiss economy, and hence thousands of companies. In this
situation of exceptionally high uncertainty, ensuring the supply of credit
to the economy became crucially important. In order to give banks maximum
latitude for lending, the SNB made a proposal to the Federal Council to
deactivate the sectoral countercyclical capital buffer (CCyB). The Federal
Council approved this proposal on 27 March. As a result, the CCyB
requirement for banks to hold additional capital for mortgage loans financing
residential property in Switzerland was reduced from 2% to 0%.

Deactivation of countercyclical
capital buffer in March 2020

The mortgage and real estate markets’ vulnerability to shocks persisted in
2020. Mortgage loans as well as transaction prices for residential properties
and affordability risks increased further despite the economic downturn.
In its communications, the SNB noted that this vulnerability represents an
additional risk factor in an environment of heightened uncertainty about
future economic developments. Larger declines in income than assumed
under the baseline scenario could trigger a price correction in the real estate
market. Equally, such declines in income could lead to a materialisation
of the historically high affordability risks. The SNB regularly reassesses the
need for an adjustment of the CCyB.

Developments in 2020
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6.4 Oversight of financial market infrastructures
6.4.1 Background
The NBA (art. 5 and arts. 19 – 21) requires the SNB to oversee systemically
important central counterparties, central securities depositories and payment
systems as specified in art. 22 of the Financial Market Infrastructure Act
(FinMIA). To this end, the SNB cooperates with FINMA as well as with
foreign supervisory and oversight authorities. The National Bank Ordinance
(NBO) sets out the details of the oversight of systemically important FMIs.

Mandate

Focus on systemically
important FMIs

The domestic FMIs that could harbour risks for the stability of the financial
system currently include the central counterparty SIX x-clear, the central
securities depository SIX SIS and the payment system Swiss Interbank
Clearing (SIC). These are operated by SIX x-clear Ltd, SIX SIS Ltd and SIX
Interbank Clearing Ltd respectively, which are subsidiaries of SIX Group Ltd
(SIX).
Other systems that are important for the stability of the Swiss financial
system are the Continuous Linked Settlement (CLS) foreign exchange
settlement system and the central counterparties London Clearing House
(LCH) and Eurex Clearing. The operators of these FMIs are domiciled in the
US, the UK and Germany, respectively.

Cooperation with FINMA

The central counterparty SIX x-clear and the central securities depository
SIX SIS are subject both to prudential supervision by FINMA and to
oversight by the SNB. Although FINMA and the SNB exercise their
supervisory and oversight powers separately, they coordinate their activities.
Oversight of the SIC payment system is exclusively the SNB’s responsibility.

… and with foreign
authorities

For the oversight of Swiss FMIs with cross-border activities, the SNB
cooperates with foreign authorities, in particular the European Securities
and Markets Authority, the European Central Bank, authorities in the
Netherlands, and the Bank of England. For the oversight of FMIs domiciled
abroad, namely CLS, Eurex Clearing and LCH, the SNB cooperates with
the relevant foreign authorities. The SNB also participates in the oversight
of the Belgium-based Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial
Telecommunication (SWIFT), which operates a global network for the
transmission of financial messages.

110

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

real estate price indices
Transaction prices, nominal, index: Q1 2010 = 100
150

Privately owned apartments
Single-family houses
Apartment buildings

140
130
120
110
100
90
80
70
05

06

07

08

09

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Source: Wüest Partner

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

111

6.4.2 Ongoing oversight
The pandemic posed particular challenges to systemically important FMIs in
Switzerland. First, the turbulence on the financial markets led to pronounced
price volatility and significantly higher transaction volumes, which caused
a temporary increase in FMIs’ risk positions vis-à-vis their participants.
Second, the operational continuity of systemically important business
processes had to be guaranteed at all times, even with the introduction
of alternative working models. The pandemic also increased the default risk
of critical suppliers and service providers. FMIs therefore had to protect
themselves against possible supply bottlenecks.

Challenges due to
coronavirus crisis

Immediately after the pandemic broke out, the SNB intensified its monitoring
of FMIs, particularly with respect to operational challenges and the
management of credit and liquidity risk. It noted that FMIs were successfully
ensuring the continuous operation of systemically important business
processes as well as the timely processing of – at times – very high
transaction volumes. Their credit and liquidity risk management models also
proved their worth during the turbulence on the financial markets.
Systemically important FMIs thus made an important contribution to
financial stability.
Assessing compliance with
special requirements

Based on their ongoing supervision and oversight activities, FINMA and the
SNB issue annual statements regarding systemically important FMIs’
compliance with regulatory requirements. While FINMA addresses compliance
with the general requirements of the FinMIA, the SNB addresses compliance
with the special requirements of the NBO.
In its assessment, the SNB did not cite any special requirements with which
the FMIs had failed to comply. Where it had identified a need for action in
the previous year with regard to liquidity risk management, SIX SIS and SIX
x-clear were able to take appropriate measures. In particular, they were
granted access in 2020 to an adapted form of the liquidity-shortage financing
facility for obtaining Swiss franc liquidity against collateral (cf. chapter 2.3).
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In its statements, the SNB set out expectations to be taken into consideration
by FMIs in the ongoing development of their services and risk management
tools in order to ensure continued compliance with the special requirements.
For instance, the SNB called on SIX SIS and SIX x-clear to organise an
independent review of their technical implementation of liquidity stress test
calculations and to analyse the impact of upcoming collateral management
optimisation efforts on their liquidity risk management. In addition, the
SNB urged SIX x-clear to arrange third-party testing of its stress scenarios
for credit risk management. Finally, the SNB stipulated that SIX Interbank
Clearing Ltd should update its guidelines and recovery plan.
The threat posed by cybersecurity risks and combating such risks continues
to be highly relevant for FMIs. A successful cyberattack can, for example,
affect the availability of systemically important business processes or
compromise data integrity. This leads to an interruption in business processes,
which can only be resumed after the FMI has reconciled the data with its
participants and verified the data’s accuracy. The SNB therefore expects
FMIs to coordinate their business continuity plans and the measures contained
therein with their participants and to test them regularly on a crossinstitutional basis.

Precautions against
cyberattacks

SIX took part in the ‘Financial Sector Information Sharing and Analysis
Centre’ (FS-ISAC) project launched in 2020 under the direction of the
National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC) (cf. chapter 6.5). Further, it proceeded
with its programme to improve information security and strengthen its cyber
resilience. Besides implementing various protective measures, SIX also
carried out specific tests that use the tools and techniques deployed by
cyberattackers in order to assess the security of system components as well
as network and software applications. These tests make it possible to identify
technical and organisational vulnerabilities and to establish further protective
measures.
The SNB maintains a regular dialogue with the operators of the FMIs subject
to oversight in which it discusses projects and initiatives that could impact
the FMIs’ business activities or risk profile – and hence their ability to meet
the special requirements.
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Acquisition of BME by SIX

In 2020 the SNB addressed the acquisition by SIX of a controlling stake
in the Spanish stock market (Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, BME). It focused
in particular on clarifying regulatory and supervisory questions raised by the
integration of SIX and BME for systemically important FMIs.

… and innovations
in SIC system

As in the previous year, the SNB dealt with SIX x-clear’s planned
introduction of a new clearing platform and its impact on risk management
and information security. Furthermore, it looked at the ‘SIC5’ and ‘Secure
Swiss Finance Network’ (SSFN) projects launched in 2020 which aimed at
making functional and technical enhancements to the SIC system
(cf. chapter 4.2). The objective of the SIC5 project is to facilitate the instant
settlement of cashless retail payments via the SIC system on a 24/7 basis.
The SSFN project aims to build a new communication network between SIC
participants to further improve protection against cyber risks. Both projects
will run over several years.

Authorisation procedure
for new Swiss FMIs

SIX Digital Exchange

6.4.3 Assessment of systemic importance of FMIs
Central counterparties, central securities depositories and payment systems
which apply for a licence from FINMA are assessed by the SNB for their
systemic importance pursuant to art. 22 para. 1 FinMIA. To conduct such an
assessment, the SNB considers the impact of an FMI on the stability of the
Swiss financial system. FINMA passed on to the SNB licensing applications
from SIX Digital Exchange Ltd and Diem Networks Ltd.
SIX Digital Exchange Ltd (SDX) submitted a licensing application to FINMA
in April to operate a central securities depository pursuant to art. 61 FinMIA.
SDX plans to launch a trading platform in 2021 with integrated settlement
and custody infrastructure for tokenised assets based on distributed ledger
technology (DLT). SDX participants will use stablecoins to conduct the
settlement of the cash leg of financial market transactions, backed in full by
sight deposits at the SNB.
The SNB classified SDX as a non-systemically important central securities
depository due, in particular, to expected low transaction volumes. It will
closely monitor developments at SDX and review its assessment on a regular
basis.
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Diem Networks Ltd (formerly Libra Networks Ltd) submitted a licensing
application to FINMA to operate the payment system Diem Payment
Network (formerly Libra Payment Network). Based on DLT, this payment
system is integrated into a multidimensional structure allowing end
customers to settle payments worldwide. Cryptocurrencies, whose value is to
be kept stable through the posting of collateral (single-currency stablecoins),
serve as the means of payment. As at the end of 2020, the SNB had not
concluded its assessment of Diem Payment Network’s systemic importance.

Diem Payment Network

6.5 Financial sector cybersecurity
Failures of – and disruptions to – IT systems, particularly those resulting
from cyberincidents, can severely jeopardise the availability, integrity and
confidentiality of data as well as critical services and functions within the
financial system. It is first and foremost the responsibility of the individual
financial institutions to adequately protect themselves against cyber risks.
However, due to the highly interconnected nature of the financial system and
the various cross-institutional processes, sector-wide precautions and
measures are also necessary. This calls for, on the one hand, close cooperation
between the private stakeholders. On the other, the authorities – notably the
federal government, FINMA and the SNB – also contribute to the cybersecurity
of the financial sector within the scope of their respective mandates.

Importance of cybersecurity
for financial sector

In Switzerland, the National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC), which is
attached to the FDF, is responsible for the coordinated implementation of the
national strategy for the protection of Switzerland against cyber risks. The
SNB is participating in the ‘Financial Sector Information Sharing and Analysis
Centre’ (FS-ISAC) project launched in 2020 under the direction of the
NCSC. The FS-ISAC is being set up to promote institutionalised cooperation
between the private sector (banks, insurance companies, FMIs, industry
associations) and the authorities (FDF, FINMA, SNB) in strategic and
operational matters relating to cybersecurity. The scope of activities will focus
on the exchange of information, the identification and implementation of
sector-wide prevention and protection measures, as well as crisis management.
In the year under review, the focus was on developing the conceptual
principles underpinning the FS-ISAC, which is scheduled to start operating
in 2021.

Institutionalised cooperation
between financial institutions
and authorities

The SNB conducts or takes part in projects aimed at improving cybersecurity
on a sector-wide basis, particularly in the area of cashless payments. In 2020,
two undertakings were at the forefront: the Secure Swiss Finance Network
(SSFN) and the Endpoint Security project. The SNB pursued these projects
in its role as commissioning party and system manager of the SIC payment
system (cf. chapter 4.2).

Sector-wide measures
to improve cybersecurity
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7
Participation in international
monetary cooperation

7.1 Background
Mandate

The Swiss National Bank participates in international monetary cooperation.
For this purpose, it works jointly with the Federal Council (art. 5 para. 3
National Bank Act). The objective of international monetary cooperation is
to promote the functioning and stability of the international monetary and
financial system and help overcome crises. As a globally integrated economy
with a major financial centre and its own currency, Switzerland derives
particular benefit from a stable international monetary and financial system.

Forms of international
monetary cooperation

The SNB is involved in international monetary cooperation through its
participation in multilateral institutions and forums, namely the International
Monetary Fund (IMF), the Bank for International Settlements (BIS), the
Financial Stability Board (FSB), the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD), the Central Banks and Supervisors Network for
Greening the Financial System (NGFS), and the G20 Finance Track, the
latter at the invitation of the G20 presidency. Participation in the IMF, FSB,
OECD and the Finance Track is in cooperation with the Confederation and,
in the case of the FSB, also with the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority (FINMA). Furthermore, the SNB cooperates with the Confederation
in providing international monetary assistance. It also cooperates on a bilateral
level with other central banks and authorities. As part of this bilateral
cooperation, the SNB provides technical assistance to central banks – mainly
those from the group of countries with which Switzerland forms
a constituency at the IMF.

International monetary cooperation during the coronavirus crisis
The coronavirus crisis had a decisive impact on the SNB’s international
monetary cooperation in 2020. The scale of the pandemic, and of the
ensuing containment measures, caused a global economic downturn, by
which many developing countries and emerging economies were
particularly hard hit. The IMF played a central role in the crisis from the
outset by providing support for its member countries. This led in particular
to the IMF granting a historically large number of emergency loans.
Together with the Federal Department of Finance, the SNB prepared
Switzerland’s statements for discussions concerning such loans, as well
as financing capabilities and the adaptation of IMF credit instruments,
on the Executive Board.
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The coronavirus crisis also significantly affected the SNB’s practical
cooperation with the IMF and other multilateral institutions, central banks
and foreign authorities. Digital communication channels proved to be
key in maintaining international relations under difficult circumstances.
Thus, for example, it was possible to swiftly conceive and implement
central bank action to enhance the global provision of US dollar liquidity
in March 2020 (cf. chapter 2.5).

7.2 Multilateral cooperation
7.2.1 International Monetary Fund
The SNB contributes to IMF activities and decisions in collaboration
with the Confederation. The IMF is the central institution for international
monetary cooperation. It promotes the stability of the global monetary
and financial system as well as the economic stability of its 190 member
countries. Its main fields of activity are economic policy surveillance,
the provision of financial support to countries facing balance of payments
difficulties, and technical assistance. Switzerland exercises its influence
through its representation on the Board of Governors, in the International
Monetary and Financial Committee (IMFC), and on the Executive Board.
The focus of the IMF’s work in 2020 was on managing the global economic
downturn triggered by the pandemic and the related containment measures.
The IMF reacted swiftly in the spring, granting financial assistance to
numerous emerging economies and low-income countries to cushion the
impact. A decision had already been taken to modify the New Arrangements
to Borrow (NAB) at the beginning of 2020 to ensure that the IMF had sufficient
financial means; the NAB resources were doubled as a result. The spring
also saw a decision to renew the temporary bilateral borrowing agreements
and to initiate a new round of loans to the IMF’s Poverty Reduction and
Growth Trust (PRGT).
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Participation in IMF

Coronavirus crisis as
challenge for global
economic policy
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Switzerland participated in all three measures. It doubled its contributions
under the modified NAB, renewed its bilateral borrowing agreement and
granted the PRGT a new loan. Looking ahead to the phase of normalisation,
Switzerland noted the vital importance of supporting countries as they
formulate their reform plans over the longer term and build good governance.
Marked increase in regular
IMF lending

The coronavirus crisis led to a marked increase in regular lending by the
IMF, i.e. lending financed via its General Resources Account. Total
loan commitments rose from SDR 139.5 billion at the end of February to
SDR 184 billion at end-2020. In particular, the Executive Board granted
numerous emergency loans totalling around SDR 15 billion under the
existing – but hitherto little-used – Rapid Financing Instrument. Several
comprehensive new programmes or expansions of existing programmes
were also approved in the form of Stand-By Arrangements or Extended
Arrangements, as well as new commitments in the form of Flexible Credit
Lines.

Switzerland in the IMF
Switzerland is jointly represented in the IMF by the Federal Department of
Finance (FDF) and the SNB. The Chairman of the SNB’s Governing Board
represents Switzerland on the Board of Governors, the IMF’s highest
decision-making body. The Head of the FDF is one of the 24 members of
the IMFC, the IMF’s steering committee. Switzerland is part of a voting
group (constituency) whose other members are Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan,
the Kyrgyz Republic, Poland, Serbia, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and
Uzbekistan. Switzerland and Poland alternate in appointing the
constituency’s executive director, for two years each time, the latter
representing the group as one of the 24 members on the Executive Board,
the IMF’s most important operational body. The post of Swiss executive
director is held alternately by a representative of the FDF and the
SNB. The FDF and the SNB determine Switzerland’s policy in the IMF and
support the constituency’s executive director in his or her activities.
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Special Drawing Right
The Special Drawing Right (SDR) is an international reserve currency which
the IMF introduced in 1969. The IMF uses the SDR as a means of payment
and unit of account for its financial transactions with member countries.
It creates SDRs as needed and allocates them to member countries in
proportion to their quotas. Through voluntary trading arrangements with
a number of member countries, including Switzerland, the IMF ensures
that the exchange of SDRs for currency reserves functions smoothly. The
value of the SDR is based on a basket of currencies, which the IMF regularly
reviews. The currencies in the basket are the US dollar, the euro, the
renminbi, the yen and the pound sterling. At the end of 2020, one SDR was
equivalent to CHF 1.28 or USD 1.44.

The IMF mainly finances its regular lending through member country quotas
(cf. box ‘Quota’). If necessary, the NAB resources can be activated as
a second line of defence. Temporary bilateral borrowing agreements serve
as a third line of defence for the IMF.

Ensuring IMF financing
and Review of Quotas

Since the IMF members had been unable to reach an agreement on an
increase in quotas as part of the 15th General Review of Quotas, the IMF
Executive Board and the NAB participants approved a modification to
the NAB at the beginning of 2020 which doubled the NAB resources. Once
the creditor nations had ratified it, the reform came into effect as planned
on 1 January 2021. Moreover, the IMF Executive Board decided in March to
renew the temporary bilateral borrowing agreements on a reduced scale in
order to ensure that the available IMF financial resources do not fall below
current levels. This was particularly significant in view of the sharp increase
in demand for IMF loans due to the coronavirus crisis. Furthermore, the
IMF members underscored their intention to conclude the 16th General Review
of Quotas by December of 2023. As with previous such reviews, the central
issues are the scale of the quota increase and potential adjustments
to the quota formula.
Switzerland reaffirms its commitment to a strong, quota-based and adequately
resourced IMF. It contributed both to doubling the NAB and to renewing the
temporary bilateral borrowing agreements.
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Quota
When a country joins the IMF, it is assigned a quota based broadly on its
relative position in the world economy. GDP, economic and financial
openness, the variability of trade and capital flows, and the level of reserves
are all used in the formula to calculate a member’s quota. Members’
quotas are reviewed at regular intervals and adjusted as required. The
quota fulfils three important functions. First, a member’s quota determines
the maximum amount of financial resources which the member is obliged to
provide to the IMF if required. Second, the quota is used in determining
a member’s voting power in IMF decisions. Third, the amount of financing
a member can obtain from the IMF is based on its quota.

IMF lending capacity

At the beginning of 2021, the IMF had SDR 154 billion of resources available
for new loan commitments under the quota. Under the NAB, which were
modified on 1 January 2021, a further SDR 361 billion could have been
activated. New temporary bilateral borrowing agreements totalling SDR 128
billion served as a third line of defence for the IMF.

Swiss contribution
to IMF financing

At the end of 2020, Switzerland’s commitment to financing the IMF’s regular
lending, under the framework of Switzerland’s quota, under the NAB, and
under the bilateral borrowing agreement, amounted to a maximum of CHF 23
billion (cf. table ‘The SNB’s financial commitment to the IMF’). The
SNB finances these amounts, with loans granted under the bilateral borrowing
agreement being guaranteed by the Confederation. The SNB’s maximum
commitment amounted to CHF 7.4 billion under the quota, CHF 7.1 billion
under the NAB, and CHF 8.5 billion under the bilateral credit line. At the
end of 2020, the IMF had drawn a total of CHF 1.85 billion under the quota
and previous activations of the NAB. With the entry into force of the
modified NAB and the renewed bilateral borrowing agreement on 1 January
2021, Switzerland’s maximum commitment increased by CHF 2.3 billion.
Its commitment under the NAB doubled to CHF 14.2 billion, while that under
the bilateral agreement was reduced by CHF 4.8 billion to CHF 3.7 billion.
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In low-income countries, the IMF provides concessional lending
arrangements, which it finances via the PRGT. The pandemic caused demand
for such loans to increase sharply. The IMF’s total commitments via
the PRGT rose accordingly, from SDR 9 billion at the end of February to
SDR 14.5 billion at the end of the year. The main driver behind this increase
was the IMF’s concessional emergency lending to over 40 countries.

Sharp increase in
concessional lending

In April, to finance the sharp increase in demand for loans, the IMF launched
a new round of fundraising for the swift mobilisation of lending resources
for the PRGT. The aim, an increase of at least SDR 12.5 billion, was
achieved. In the course of the new financing round, Switzerland, too, made
a further loan available to the IMF, in the amount of SDR 500 million.
Switzerland’s loans to the PRGT are granted by the SNB and guaranteed by
the Confederation. The interest subsidies are financed by the Confederation.
At the end of 2020, CHF 819 million in loans were outstanding under
previous borrowing agreements, and the maximum IMF drawdown still
available was CHF 463 million. With the new borrowing agreement, which
entered into force on 1 January 2021, the maximum drawdown increased
by SDR 500 million.

Mobilisation of lending
resources for PRGT
and SNB’s new loan

The SNB’s financial commitment to the IMF
In CHF billions

End-2020
Maximum

Reserve position 1

Drawn down

1.849

Quota
NAB

7.396

1.545

7.101

0.304

8.500

0.000

PRGT 2

1.282

0.819

SDR

2.107

0.150

Bilateral borrowing agreement
3

2

1	The used portion of the Swiss quota and the amount drawn by the IMF under the NAB and the bilateral
borrowing agreement together equal Switzerland’s reserve position in the IMF. This reserve position
represents a liquid asset of the SNB vis-à-vis the IMF and thus forms part of the currency reserves.
2	With federal guarantee.
3	As part of the voluntary trading arrangement with the IMF, the SNB has committed itself to purchasing (+)
or selling (–) SDRs against foreign currencies (USD, EUR) up to the agreed maximum of SDR 1.644 billion
(CHF 2.107 billion).
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Article IV consultation

BIS as bank and forum
for central banks

As part of its Article IV consultations, the IMF regularly reviews the economic
policies of its member countries. Once the coronavirus crisis was underway,
the IMF focused its activities on emergency lending and suspended all Article
IV consultations. This also affected the Article IV consultation with
Switzerland planned for spring 2020. The next consultation is scheduled to
take place in March 2021 in virtual form.

7.2.2 Bank for International Settlements
The Bank for International Settlements (BIS) is an international organisation
headquartered in Basel. It fosters international monetary and financial
cooperation and serves as a bank and forum for central banks. The SNB has
held one of the seats on the Board of Directors since the BIS was founded
in 1930.
The governors of member central banks convene every two months to discuss
developments in the global economy and the international financial system,
and also to guide and oversee the work of the standing committees. The SNB
also participates in the four standing committees of the BIS: the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision, the Committee on Payments and Market
Infrastructures, the Committee on the Global Financial System, and the
Markets Committee.

Report of working group on
central bank digital currency
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In January 2020, the SNB announced that it had joined the Bank of Canada,
the Bank of Japan, the Bank of England, the European Central Bank,
the Sveriges Riksbank and the BIS in creating a working group to discuss
experiences evaluating the implementability of central bank digital currency
(CBDC). The working group published a report in October, in which the
US Federal Reserve also participated. The report outlined the basic principles
and main features of a publicly accessible CBDC, without however making
a recommendation on the potential introduction of central bank digital currency.
The group of seven central banks will continue to explore the feasibility of
CBDCs without committing themselves to a decision on issuance.
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BIS Innovation Hub and projects at the Swiss Centre
The BIS Innovation Hub was established in 2019 and maintains centres in
Switzerland, Hong Kong and Singapore. In June 2020, the BIS Board of
Directors decided to expand the Hub with four further Centres, in London,
Frankfurt/Paris, Stockholm and Toronto, respectively. In addition,
a strategic partnership was established with the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York. The Hub’s aim is to gain in-depth insights into relevant
technological developments affecting central banking, and to develop
public goods in the technology space geared towards further improving
the functioning of the global financial system. In 2020, eight employees
of the BIS and SNB commenced their activities at the BIS Innovation Hub
Swiss Centre, with offices in Basel and Zurich. Work proceeded on two
projects in the past year.
Project Helvetia involves collaboration between the SNB, the BIS and SIX
Group Ltd. The focus is on the integration of central bank digital currency
into a financial market infrastructure for the settlement of digital (tokenised)
assets based on distributed ledger technology (DLT). Two approaches
were investigated and tested in proof-of-concept studies. The first
approach involved the issuance by central banks of digital assets (central
bank tokens) that financial institutions can use for payment purposes – a
so-called wholesale central bank digital currency (wholesale CBDC) – onto
a DLT financial market infrastructure. The second approach involved the
establishment of an interface between the DLT-based financial market
infrastructure and the Swiss Interbank Clearing payment system. The
report, which appeared in December 2020, indicates that both approaches
are technically feasible and can be implemented under civil law within
Switzerland’s legal framework. The project also highlighted advantages
and disadvantages of the two approaches, to be analysed in more detail in
a second phase. Furthermore, the project will be expanded to include the
integration of wholesale CBDC into the accounting systems of banks and
the SNB, as well as the cross-border context. This phase of the project, too,
serves exclusively to develop a better understanding of central bank digital
currency for financial institutions and to gather relevant experience.
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Project Rio is developing a prototype data architecture for monitoring
fast-paced markets. In recent decades, new technologies have sharply
accelerated the pace of trading, for example on foreign exchange markets.
Trading is also increasingly fragmented, i.e. takes place on ever more
platforms in parallel. This poses a challenge to central banks when it comes
to tracking these developments in such fast-paced markets. The prototype
developed at the Swiss Centre should enable the rapid market movements
and large volumes of data emanating from various trading centres to be
processed in real time. This will provide central banks with an instrument
for monitoring and analysing trading conditions. The project’s initial
findings are expected in the course of 2021.

Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) brings together highranking representatives of banking supervisory authorities and central
banks. It issues recommendations and sets international standards in the area
of banking supervision.
In 2020, the BCBS focused on monitoring the consequences of the
coronavirus crisis for the banking sector as well as on implementing and
reviewing the effectiveness of the regulatory standards. As the pandemic set
in, the BCBS stepped up its ongoing monitoring of risk development. It
extended the deadline for implementation of the Basel III reform package by
one year, to 1 January 2023, to free up additional resources for crisis
management on the part of the authorities as well as the banks. Amid the
uncertainty concerning further developments, it reiterated guidance on the
capital and liquidity buffers available to banks in times of stress. These
buffers are intended to allow banks to bridge extraordinary losses or liquidity
bottlenecks themselves, thereby minimising the impact of such developments
on lending and other relevant functions. In addition to crisis management,
the BCBS continued its work on the regulatory treatment of cryptoassets and
accounting for climate-related financial risks.
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The Committee on Payments and Market Infrastructures (CPMI) promotes
the safety and efficiency of cashless payment arrangements and market
infrastructures via which financial market transactions are cleared or settled.

Committee on Payments
and Market Infrastructures

In 2020, the CPMI focused on three key areas. First, it made conceptual and
technical contributions to the development of a plan of action, coordinated
by the FSB, aimed at globally improving cross-border payments. Second, it
addressed various innovations in the area of payments, particularly those
involving digital currencies and stablecoins. Third, it continued its efforts to
increase the operational resilience of financial market infrastructures to
mounting cyber risks.
The Committee on the Global Financial System (CGFS) monitors
developments in international financial markets and analyses their impact
on financial stability.

Committee on the
Global Financial System

In 2020, the CGFS addressed the impact of the pandemic on financial
stability. The focus was on potential cliff effects caused by the suspension of
support measures, the resilience of the banking sector, and the financial
requirements of small and medium-sized enterprises. In addition to this, the
Committee published two reports. The first report examines global property
price dynamics and emphasises the growing role of international investors in
many markets. The second report analyses the role of US dollar funding in
the global financial system. Although the widespread use of the US dollar has
benefits, the resulting interconnectedness of the market also leads to risks.
The Markets Committee (MC) examines current developments in the money,
foreign exchange, capital and commodity markets, as well as the functioning
of these markets.
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Markets Committee
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In 2020, the MC principally addressed the impact of the coronavirus crisis
and the measures taken by central banks to combat it. It focused on the
issue of how these measures affect the functioning of financial markets. In
addition, the MC published a report in October on ‘FX execution algorithms
and market functioning’, prepared by a working group led by the SNB.
The reform of reference interest rates remained a key issue, in particular the
impact of replacing Libor.

Swiss representation on FSB

7.2.3 Financial Stability Board
The FSB brings together national authorities responsible for financial
stability (central banks, supervisory authorities and finance ministries),
international organisations, and standard-setting bodies. Switzerland’s
representation on the FSB is shared between the FDF, the SNB and FINMA.
The SNB is a member of the Steering Committee, the Plenary, and the
Standing Committee on Assessment of Vulnerabilities. Since November
2020, the SNB has chaired the Standing Committee on Budget and
Resources.

Risks in financial system

The FSB addresses risks in the financial system and coordinates precautions
to counter such risks. The focus in 2020 was on the impact of the pandemic
on the global financial system. In this regard, the FSB published a report on
the global market turbulence in March and the associated liquidity
bottlenecks. The turbulence was caused mainly by money market funds and
other non-banks in the financial system; risks in the non-banking sector
are thus to be more closely examined and potential regulatory approaches
identified.

Improvement of cross-border
payments

A major focus of the FSB’s work was the improvement of cross-border
payments. In close cooperation with the CPMI at the BIS, the FSB developed
a plan of action to make cross-border payments quicker, cheaper, more
transparent and more accessible. The proposed measures aim at standardising
regulatory requirements and improving existing payment systems while
also reviewing the potential use of new technologies.
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In 2017, the FSB approved a framework for evaluating the advantages and
possible unintended consequences of regulatory reforms. Since then,
regular evaluation studies have been carried out. In 2020, the FSB completed
a consultation report on the evaluation study started in 2019 on the effects
of the ‘too big to fail’ reforms. The study, in which the SNB played a part,
concludes that the reforms have made systemically important banks
substantially more resilient, and that the benefits of these reforms significantly
outweigh the costs. It does, however, identify gaps in the implementation
of the planned reforms, particularly in the area of resolvability. The final report
on this evaluation study is due to be published in 2021.

Impact of ‘too big to fail’
reforms

In 2020, the FSB considered the possible effects of stablecoins and
regulatory approaches in this field. Stablecoins are privately issued digital
assets for payment purposes (payment tokens) whose value is to be kept
stable relative to specific assets or state currencies by means of a stabilisation
mechanism. The working group charged with this study, in which the SNB
was represented, drew up recommendations for the regulation, supervision
and oversight of stablecoins, to be implemented under the principle of ‘same
business, same risks, same rules’. A key aspect is international cooperation,
since stablecoins also have cross-border impact.

Regulatory approaches
for stablecoins

7.2.4 OECD
Switzerland is a founding member of the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development (OECD). It works in the organisation’s
intergovernmental committees to maintain and develop relations among the
37 member countries with regard to economic, social and development
policies. Together with the Confederation, the SNB represents Switzerland
on the Economic Policy Committee (EPC), the Committee on Financial
Markets (CMF), and the Committee on Statistics and Statistical Policy
(CSSP). The EPC and its working groups deal with developments in the
global economy as well as with structural policy. The CMF analyses
developments in the international financial markets and examines regulatory
issues. The CSSP drafts standards for the national accounts in coordination
with other international organisations.
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OECD recommendations
for Switzerland

Switzerland’s participation
in Finance Track

Priorities in 2020 and
invitation for 2021

Climate and environmentrelated risks for financial
system
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The OECD’s Economic Outlook report, which is published biannually,
contains economic policy recommendations and macroeconomic assessments
for every member country. In the autumn 2020 edition, the OECD advised
the SNB to extend the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility if necessary,
in order to support the banks in their lending to companies experiencing
liquidity bottlenecks due to the pandemic.

7.2.5 G20
The G20 comprises the twenty leading advanced and emerging economies
and is a key forum for international cooperation on financial and economic
issues. In recent years, Switzerland has been invited to participate in the
meetings of the G20 finance ministers and central bank governors, known as
the Finance Track. These meetings focus on economic, monetary, and financial
issues. It has also been involved in the preparatory meetings at deputy
level and in the working groups. Swiss interests are represented jointly by
the Confederation and the SNB.
In 2020, Saudi Arabia held the G20 presidency. For the first time, Switzerland
was invited as a guest to take part in all other activities of the Group in
addition to the Finance Track. These comprise the Leaders Summits, the
Meetings of Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors, and the working
groups. In the Finance Track, Saudi Arabia set the focus, among other
things, on the challenges of the pandemic for the world economy, the global
response to it, and debt relief for the poorest countries. Switzerland
supported the Saudi agenda. Italy will hold the G20 presidency in 2021, and
Switzerland has again been invited to the Finance Track.

7.2.6 Network for Greening the Financial System
The Central Banks and Supervisors Network for Greening the Financial
System (NGFS) is a network of central banks and supervisory authorities
launched in December 2017 during the Paris One Planet Summit. It serves
as a forum in which participating institutions can discuss the risks climate
change poses to the economy and the financial system. Within the
framework of the NGFS, institutions are examining how best to counter
such risks and fund the transition to more sustainable economic activity.
The SNB and FINMA are both represented in the NGFS Plenary.
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In 2020, the SNB engaged in dialogue in the NGFS so as to better gauge
the potential impact of climate risks on macroeconomic developments and
financial stability. The SNB took part in three of the five NGFS working
groups – ‘Macrofinancial’, ‘Scaling up Green Finance’ and ‘Research’ – in
which it focused among other things on scenario analysis of climate risks and
on the coordination of relevant research among central banks.

SNB participation

7.3 Bilateral cooperation
7.3.1 Monetary assistance
The division of responsibilities between the SNB and the Confederation
regarding the granting of monetary assistance loans is specified in
the Monetary Assistance Act of 19 March 2004. The Federal Council may
instruct the SNB to grant loans or guarantees aimed at preventing or remedying
serious disruptions in the international monetary system. A credit line
amounting to CHF 10 billion has been established for such an eventuality.
The SNB can also contribute to special funds or other IMF facilities, or grant
bilateral monetary assistance loans to individual countries. The Confederation
can request that the SNB grant a loan. In return, the Confederation guarantees
the SNB the interest payments and principal repayment on the loan in all of
the above cases.
In April 2016, at the instruction of the Confederation, the SNB concluded
a loan agreement with the National Bank of Ukraine for a maximum
amount of USD 200 million. The Confederation guarantees the SNB timely
reimbursement and interest payments on the loan. Under the terms of the
loan agreement, the disbursement is to be made in stages based on the payout
of tranches under the IMF Extended Fund Facility of 2015, to whose
implementation the loan is tied. The first tranche was disbursed at the
beginning of March 2017. Following the replacement of the facility with
a Stand-by Arrangement at the end of December 2018, no further tranches
have been disbursed.
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7.3.2 Cooperation with other central banks
and foreign authorities
The SNB cultivates regular bilateral contacts with other central banks and
foreign authorities. This includes the SNB’s exchanges with other central
banks on matters relating to international monetary cooperation and the
financial dialogues it engages in with other countries. These dialogues serve
to strengthen the contacts with key partner countries and provide a platform
for sharing views on financial topics. They are led by the State Secretariat
for International Finance (SIF) in liaison with various federal institutions and
associated enterprises.
7.3.3 US Treasury
In the December 2020 edition of a regularly published report on the foreign
exchange policies of major trading partners of the United States, the
US Treasury designated Switzerland a currency manipulator. The Swiss
authorities and the SNB rejected the accusation of currency manipulation.
The SNB’s foreign exchange market interventions are necessary to ensure
appropriate monetary conditions and thus price stability. They do not serve
the purpose of preventing balance of payments adjustments or gaining
unfair competitive advantages for the Swiss economy. The Swiss authorities
indicated their willingness to explain Switzerland’s special situation to the
US Treasury.

US Treasury report

7.3.4 Principality of Liechtenstein
Switzerland and the Principality of Liechtenstein concluded a Currency
Treaty in 1980. Prior to this, there had already been a de facto currency union
between the two countries for nearly 60 years, albeit not based on a treaty.
Under the Currency Treaty, the Swiss franc became legal tender in
Liechtenstein, and the SNB became the country’s central bank. As a result,
certain Swiss legal and administrative regulations relating to monetary
policy are applicable in Liechtenstein, in particular the National Bank Act
and the National Bank Ordinance. The SNB has the same powers in respect
of banks and other persons and entities in the Principality of Liechtenstein
as it does in respect of banks, persons and entities domiciled in Switzerland.
It cooperates closely with the relevant authorities in Liechtenstein.

Currency treaty
and cooperation
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7.3.5 Technical assistance
The SNB provides technical assistance to other central banks upon request.
This assistance comprises the transfer of central bank know-how, generally
via individual consultations with SNB experts, either at the central bank
concerned or in Switzerland. The SNB’s technical assistance is primarily
oriented towards the countries of Central Asia and the Caucasus that
are members of Switzerland’s constituency at the IMF and the World Bank.

Principles

Technical assistance in 2020 was shaped by the coronavirus pandemic, which
sharply limited the possibilities for cooperation from March onwards. Some
bilateral projects could, however, be successfully implemented, in part by
virtual means rather than locally. For example, SNB economists advised the
central banks of Tajikistan and Uzbekistan on monetary policy analysis. It
was also possible to continue providing the Central Bank of Azerbaijan with
support in managing currency reserves, in cooperation with the State
Secretariat for Economic Affairs (SECO) and the Geneva-based Graduate
Institute of International and Development Studies. In addition, SNB experts
took part in IMF missions in Georgia and Uganda to support the central
banks in those countries in their implementation of monetary policy. SNB
experts participated virtually in a further IMF mission for the Central
Bank of Tunisia.

Activities in 2020

The SNB has been running the Study Center Gerzensee since 1984. It serves
as a hub for both academic research and training for central bankers. In view
of the pandemic, only one of six such planned courses could be held in 2020.

Central Bankers Courses
at Study Center Gerzensee
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8
Banking services
for the Confederation

Mandate

The Swiss National Bank provides banking services to the Swiss
Confederation (art. 5 para. 4 and art. 11 National Bank Act).

Remuneration for
banking services

The SNB provides these banking services to the Confederation in return
for adequate remuneration. However, they are offered free of charge if they
facilitate the implementation of monetary policy. Services subject to
remuneration comprise account management, payment transactions, liquidity
management, the custody of securities, and the issuance of money market
debt register claims (MMDRCs) and Confederation bonds on behalf of and
for the account of the Confederation. Details of the services to be provided
and the remuneration are laid down in an agreement concluded between the
Confederation and the SNB.

Issuing activities

In 2020, the measures to cushion the economic consequences of the
coronavirus pandemic raised the Confederation’s short-term financing needs.
As a result, MMDRCs amounting to CHF 200.9 billion were subscribed
(2019: CHF 106.5 billion), of which CHF 40.7 billion was allocated (2019:
CHF 21.0 billion). The corresponding figures for Confederation bonds
were CHF 6.1 billion (2019: CHF 3.4 billion) and CHF 3.8 billion (2019:
CHF 2.1 billion) respectively. The SNB issued the MMDRCs and
Confederation bonds by auction.

Negative MMDRC yields

In an environment of persistently low interest rates, money market rates
remained low. Yields on MMDRCs thus stayed in negative territory. Taken
over the whole year, yields on three-month issues ranged from – 0.71% to
– 0.98%. The lowest yield was therefore practically on the same level as in
the previous year.

Account management and
payment transactions

The SNB keeps sight deposit accounts in Swiss francs and foreign currencies
for the Confederation. At year-end, liabilities towards the Confederation
amounted to CHF 13.8 billion, compared to CHF 23.5 billion at the end of
2019. The Confederation’s sight deposit accounts at the SNB are exempted
from negative interest and thus do not bear interest. The SNB carried out
roughly 160,000 payments in Swiss francs (2019: 158,000) and approximately
22,000 payments in foreign currencies (2019: 29,000) on behalf of the
Confederation.

132

Annual Report 2020, Accountability report

9
Statistics

9.1 Background
On the basis of art. 14 of the National Bank Act (NBA), the Swiss National
Bank collects the statistical data it requires to perform its statutory tasks.
It collects data for the conduct of monetary policy and the oversight of
financial market infrastructures (FMIs), for safeguarding the stability of the
financial system and for preparing both the balance of payments and the
statistics on the international investment position. Statistical data compiled
for purposes relating to international monetary cooperation are transmitted
to international organisations. The National Bank Ordinance (NBO) lays down
the details of the SNB’s activities in the field of statistics.

Purpose of activities
in field of statistics

Banks, FMIs, securities firms and authorised parties in accordance with
art. 13 para. 2 of the Collective Investment Schemes Act are required to provide
the SNB with figures on their activities (art. 15 NBA). The SNB may also
collect statistical data from other private individuals or legal entities where
this is necessary to analyse developments in the financial markets, obtain an
overview of payment transactions or prepare the balance of payments or
the statistics on Switzerland’s international investment position. This applies
in particular to entities for the issuing of payment instruments or for
the processing, clearing and settlement of payment transactions, insurance
companies, occupational pension institutions, and investment and holding
companies.

Reporting institutions

The SNB limits the number and type of surveys to what is strictly necessary.
It seeks to minimise the demands placed on reporting institutions.

Survey activity kept
to minimum

Under art. 16 NBA, the SNB is required to ensure the confidentiality of the
data it collects and may only publish them in aggregated form. However,
the data may be supplied to the relevant Swiss financial market supervisory
authorities.

Confidentiality and
exchange of data
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9.2 Products
Surveys and statistics

The SNB conducts statistical surveys in the areas of banking statistics,
collective investment statistics, the balance of payments and the international
investment position, and payment transactions. An overview is contained in
the annex to the NBO and on the SNB website. The SNB publishes the results
of its surveys in the form of statistics. It also maintains a data bank with
just under 19 million time series in the fields of banking, financial markets
and economics.

Statistical publications

The SNB releases its statistics on its website (www.snb.ch) and via its online
data portal (data.snb.ch) and, in some cases, also in the form of printed
publications. The annual publication Banks in Switzerland was published for
the last time in 2020. It will be replaced at the end of the second quarter of
2021 by an expanded range of data relating to banks on the SNB’s data portal.
In particular, data will now also be published at group level.

SNB data portal expanded

The data portal was further expanded in 2020. Since the end of September,
the SNB has been publishing more detailed information on its money market
and foreign exchange market operations. With regard to money market
operations, the SNB now publishes information at the end of each month on
the conditions and volume of individual monetary policy-related transactions
of the previous month. With respect to foreign exchange market operations,
the volume of interventions in the previous quarter is now disclosed at the end
of each quarter. The volume had hitherto been communicated annually in
the accountability report.
At the end of October, Swiss financial accounts data were published on
a quarterly basis for the first time. Previously, these data had been made
available only on an annual basis. Furthermore, the range of direct investment
statistics data was expanded. The data portal now contains additional
information on the operational activities of multinational enterprises abroad.
This includes the number of subsidiaries abroad and the turnover achieved
there.
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9.3 Projects
At the end of March 2020, the SNB extended its qualitative survey of banks
on lending and credit demand. In doing so, it responded to the urgent need
for data in connection with the coronavirus pandemic. The extended survey
is conducted in the form of a supplementary survey limited in terms of
content and time in accordance with art. 6 NBO. In addition, the reporting
platform eSurvey was expanded to enable the exchange of documents
with banks in connection with their use of the SNB COVID-19 refinancing
facility (CRF). This channel meets stringent security requirements.

Coronavirus-related work

The SNB decided to collect additional data from banks regarding interest
rates on liability items. This survey will be phased in and its introduction will
be concluded by October 2021. The backdrop is the SNB’s need for data in
connection with the negative interest rate regime. Moreover, the SNB decided
to revise its survey on customer payment transactions to take into account
the increasing digitalisation of payment transactions and the shift in the public’s
payment habits. The survey on customer payment transactions is now
conducted monthly instead of quarterly. Banks are obliged to report data in
accordance with the new requirements for the first time as of January 2022.

Other survey projects

As of the beginning of December 2020, Switzerland joined the IMF’s Special
Data Dissemination Standard (SDDS) Plus. The new standard is aimed at
countries with systemically important financial sectors. It obliges the
participating countries to publish comprehensive data in a range of categories.
In Switzerland, the data required to comply with SDDS Plus are supplied
by different federal agencies. The SNB is responsible for data in several
areas. The switch in the financial accounts from annual to quarterly data, for
example, is directly related to the SDDS Plus requirements. The SNB
also prepares data for the ‘external sector’ category, including data on direct
investment and portfolio investment. Some of these data – together with
information on the current IMF data standard – are published on the SNB’s
data portal.

SDDS Plus
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Global production processes

Work on the ‘global production processes’ project has been underway since
2017 to improve the recording of global production in Switzerland’s balance
of payments statistics. The focus of the SNB’s internal project team
is on the activities of multinational enterprises whose production and trade
processes are distributed across various countries. This distribution leads
to a separation of the finance and goods flows, which poses problems with
regard to measurement, definition and data collection. The project’s
planning phase was brought to a close in 2020. Work on its implementation
is currently underway. The aim is to publish data based on the revised
surveys from 2024. Work is also underway on recording digital trade more
comprehensively in the balance of payments statistics. Digital trade
comprises trade in goods and services that are digitally ordered, digitally
delivered or made available on a platform, as well as trade in intellectual
property.

9.4 Collaboration
The SNB gives reporting institutions and their associations the opportunity
to comment on organisational and procedural issues, as well as on the
introduction of new surveys or the modification of existing ones.
Groups of experts

The SNB is advised on the content of its banking surveys by the banking
statistics committee. This committee is made up of representatives of
the Swiss commercial banks, the Swiss Bankers Association and the Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA). In 2020, the banking
statistics committee dealt in particular with the revision of the survey
on customer payment transactions. A group of experts under the direction
of the SNB participates in the compilation of the balance of payments.
It comprises representatives from manufacturing, banking and insurance,
as well as from various federal agencies and academic bodies.

Public institutions

In compiling statistical data, the SNB collaborates with the relevant federal
government bodies, particularly the Swiss Federal Statistical Office
(SFSO), with FINMA, and also with the authorities of other countries and
international organisations.

Swiss Federal Statistical
Office

The SNB has a close working relationship with the SFSO. Reciprocal data
access is governed by a data exchange agreement; this agreement also
covers the collaboration between the two authorities in drawing up the Swiss
financial accounts. Moreover, the SNB belongs to a number of bodies that
work with Swiss federal statistics. These include the Federal Statistics
Committee and the group of experts for economic statistics (Expertengruppe
für Wirtschaftsstatistik/Groupe d’experts de statistique économique).
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The SNB collects quarterly data on mortgage rates from about 80 banks on
behalf of the Federal Office for Housing (FOH). Based on these data, the
FOH calculates the mortgage reference interest rate for tenancies. The sole
responsibility for the contents of this survey lies with the FOH, which
also publishes the reference rate.

Federal Office for Housing

Under the terms of a Memorandum of Understanding between FINMA and
the SNB on the collection and exchange of data, the SNB carries out surveys
in areas such as capital adequacy, liquidity and interest rate risk of banks
and securities firms. The focus in 2020 was above all on the implementation
of the definitive small banks regime and on preparing the introduction of
the revised survey on the net stable funding ratio in July 2021. Adjustments
were also made to the capital adequacy reporting for systemically important
banks, the interest rate risk reporting and the supervisory reporting.

FINMA

The SNB also surveys Liechtenstein companies when preparing its balance
of payments figures and its statistics on Switzerland’s international
investment position. It works with the relevant authorities in Liechtenstein
(the Office of Economic Affairs and the Financial Market Authority).

Principality of Liechtenstein

The SNB’s collaboration with the EU is based on the bilateral agreement on
statistics. It covers the financial accounts, parts of the banking statistics,
the balance of payments and the international investment position, as well as
the direct investment statistics. The SNB participates in various bodies of
the EU statistical office (Eurostat).

EU

In the area of statistics, the SNB works closely with the Bank for
International Settlements (BIS), the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD) and the International Monetary Fund (IMF).
This collaboration is aimed at harmonising statistical survey methods and
analyses.

Other international
organisations

Banking statistics
Art. 14 para. 1 NBA entitles the SNB to collect such data as it requires
to fulfil its statutory tasks. Data from banks are particularly important in
this context. This is because banks play a key role in the transmission
of monetary policy decisions, and also because banks are at the centre
of the SNB’s contribution to the stability of the financial system.
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The data collected by the SNB cover the key business areas of banks
in Switzerland. The SNB collects balance sheet, off-balance-sheet and
income statement data as well as structural and interest rate-related
information. Depending on the area in question, the data are broken down
by counterparty characteristics, currency and maturity as well as by
geographical criteria. One of the key areas is lending by banks. The focus
here is not only on the volume of the loans granted, but also on the lending
conditions, the characteristics of the borrowers and – for instance in the
case of mortgages – details on the property pledged as collateral.
Securities held by customers in open custody accounts at banks represent
a second focal point of the data collection: What customer categories
hold what types of securities in what currencies? What are the countries
of origin of the issuers of the securities held in such custody accounts?
A third focal point are the data collected by the SNB in collaboration with
international organisations, in particular the BIS. These surveys concentrate
on cross-border banking business and on the banks’ activities in the
foreign exchange and derivatives markets. Depending on the matter in
question, the data are collected on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis or,
in some cases, only once every few years.
Art. 4 NBO obliges the SNB to ensure the burden placed on reporting
institutions is kept to a minimum. Most surveys are therefore conducted in
the form of partial surveys. Only banks that exceed certain thresholds
defined in a survey are required to report to the SNB. As a rule, the narrower
the focus of a survey, the smaller the group of banks that are obliged to
report. The SNB always seeks to keep the demands on the reporting
institutions as low as possible on the one hand, and to collect statistically
pertinent data on the other.
To avoid any duplication of effort on the part of the reporting banks, the
SNB also collaborates closely with FINMA. Some of the banking statistics
surveys are thus conducted on the statutory basis of FINMA. This form
of collaboration between the SNB and FINMA has been in effect since the
1990s and was redefined in a Memorandum of Understanding in 2018.
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One of the characteristics of banking statistics surveys is that they address
different reporting entities. Depending on the area in question, the banks
may, for example, only have to report data on operations that they conduct
at their offices in Switzerland. This applies in particular to information
that the SNB uses for monitoring the domestic economy. In other cases,
the reporting obligation may also include data from legally dependent
branches abroad. Information at the level of group reporting entities is
relevant in particular for data used in connection with financial stability.
Such information covers all business that banks conduct across all
their group companies, irrespective of whether these are domiciled in
Switzerland or abroad.
Another characteristic of the SNB’s banking statistics is that some of the
surveys also include banks domiciled in the Principality of Liechtenstein.
Such surveys cover not only the Swiss economy, but also the entire Swiss
franc currency area. The SNB therefore also cooperates with the
Liechtenstein Financial Market Authority with regard to statistics. Examples
of such surveys are the comprehensive monthly balance sheet statistics,
used also for the calculation of the monetary aggregates, and the survey
on minimum reserves, which has been used since 2015 inter alia as a basis
for the calculation of exemption thresholds in the negative interest regime.
The formal collaboration between the SNB and the reporting institutions
is governed by art. 7 NBO. The banking statistics committee is the central
body in matters of banking statistics. As a rule, the SNB and the
committee members meet once a year to discuss the introduction of new
surveys, the revision of existing ones, and various other issues that have
arisen in connection with banking statistics surveys. In these discussions,
the banking statistics committee acts as a consultative body. The final
decision on the introduction or revision of a survey is made by the SNB
alone. The key condition is that there must be a direct link between a survey
and one of the SNB’s statutory tasks or that the survey data are essential
for the SNB to monitor developments in the financial markets. Furthermore,
art. 4 para. 3 NBO obliges the SNB to refrain from conducting a survey of
its own if the required data can be obtained elsewhere.
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Key financial figures for 2020

SELECTED BALANCE SHEET FIGURES
In CHF billions

31.12.2019

31.03.2020

30.06.2020

30.09.2020

31.12.2020

84.5

83.2

84.9

85.3

89.0

505.8

526.1

596.7

636.6

628.8

Sight deposits of foreign banks and institutions

30.2

41.2

26.1

18.6

28.1

Other sight liabilities

32.0

34.3

32.9

28.7

32.2

Banknotes in circulation
Sight deposits of domestic banks

6.5

0.6

4.7

8.2

0.5

Liabilities from Swiss franc repo transactions

–

–

–

–

–

SNB debt certificates in Swiss francs

–

–

–

–

–

49.1

51.9

56.2

58.2

55.7

Claims from Swiss franc repo transactions

Gold holdings

794.0

781.4

863.2

884.2

910.0

Of which, in euros

316.0

321.4

350.1

352.4

368.4

Of which, in US dollars

269.9

270.8

305.4

317.9

319.2

Of which, in other currencies

208.1

189.2

207.7

213.8

222.4

Provisions for currency reserves1

73.2

73.2

79.1

79.1

79.1

Distribution reserve 2

45.0

45.0

84.0

84.0

84.0

Foreign currency investments

1	The allocation to the provisions for currency reserves forms part of the profit appropriation. After the allocation for the 2020 financial year,
which will amount to CHF 7.9 billion, the provisions for currency reserves will increase to CHF 87.0 billion (cf. p.179).
2	The distribution reserve changes as part of the profit appropriation. After the profit appropriation for 2020, it will amount to CHF 90.9 billion (cf. p. 179).

SELECTED INCOME STATEMENT FIGURES
In CHF billions

Result for period 1
Of which, net result from gold
Of which, net result from foreign currency positions
Of which, net result from Swiss franc positions

Q1 2020

Q2 2020

Q3 2020

– 38.2

39.0

2.8

4.3

– 41.2
0.3

1	For appropriation of profit, cf. p. 178.
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Q4 2020

Year 2020

14.3

5.8

20.9

2.0

– 2.5

6.6

34.4

12.0

8.0

13.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

1.3

assets at end of quarter
In CHF billions
1 000
900
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

Gold holdings
Foreign currency investments
Swiss franc securities
Sundry 1

Q4 2019

Q1 2020

Q2

Q3

Q4

1 Reserve position in the IMF, international payment instruments, monetary assistance loans, claims from US dollar repo transactions,
claims from Swiss franc repo transactions, secured loans, tangible assets, participations, other assets.
Source: SNB

liabilities at end of quarter
In CHF billions
0
–100
–200
–300
–400
–500
–600
–700
–800
–900
–1 000

Banknotes in circulation
Sight deposits of domestic banks
Sight deposits of foreign banks and
institutions
Other sight liabilities
Liabilities towards the Confederation
Sundry 1
Equity 2

Q4 2019

Q1 2020

Q2

Q3

Q4

1 Other term liabilities, foreign currency liabilities, counterpart of SDRs allocated by the IMF, other liabilities.
2 Provisions for currency reserves, share capital, distribution reserve (before appropriation of profit), annual result.
Source: SNB

exchange rates and gold price in swiss francs
Index: 1 January 2020 = 100
130

Gold
USD
JPY
EUR
GBP

125
120
115
110
105
100
95
90
85
Q4 2019

Q1 2020

Q2

Q3

Q4

Source: SNB
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Business report

The business report provides information on the organisational
and operational development as well as the financial result of
the Swiss National Bank. Since the SNB is a listed company, the
report also contains information on corporate governance in
accordance with the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd corporate governance
directive.
The business report and the annual financial statements together
constitute the financial report of the SNB, as stipulated under Swiss
company law (art. 958 of the Swiss Code of Obligations (CO)). At
the SNB, the business report fulfils the function of a management
report (art. 961c CO).
The fulfilment of the SNB’s statutory mandate is explained in the
accountability report.
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1
Corporate governance

1.1 Background
The Swiss National Bank is a special-statute joint-stock company that is
administered with the cooperation and under the supervision of the Confederation.
Its organisational structure and responsibilities are governed by the National
Bank Act of 3 October 2003 (NBA) and the ‘Regulations on the organisation
of the Swiss National Bank’ of 14 May 2004 (Organisation regulations). At
the SNB, statutes and regulations fulfil the function of articles of association.
Mandate

The SNB’s mandate is derived directly from the Federal Constitution. Under
the terms of art. 99 of the Constitution, the SNB is required to pursue a monetary
policy that serves the overall interests of the country. In addition, the article
enshrines the SNB’s independence and requires it to set aside sufficient currency
reserves from its earnings, also specifying that a part of these reserves be
held in gold. Finally, the Constitution stipulates that the SNB must allocate at
least two-thirds of its net profits to the cantons.

NBA and implementation
decrees

The main legislation governing the activities of the SNB is the NBA, which
sets out in detail the various elements of the SNB’s constitutional mandate
(art. 5) and independence (art. 6). To counterbalance the SNB’s independence,
the NBA specifies a duty of accountability and a duty to provide information
to the Federal Council, parliament and the public (art. 7). The SNB’s scope of
business is outlined in arts. 9 – 13 NBA. The instruments used by the SNB to
implement its monetary policy and for investing its currency reserves are set
out in the ‘Guidelines on monetary policy instruments’ and the ‘Investment
policy guidelines’.
The NBA also sets out the legal basis for the collection of statistical data on
financial markets, the imposition of minimum reserve requirements on banks
and the oversight of financial market infrastructures. Provisions governing
the implementation of these statutory powers may be found in the National
Bank Ordinance (NBO) issued by the SNB Governing Board.
Finally, the NBA lays down the foundations of the SNB’s organisational
structure (arts. 2, 33 – 48).
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The Ordinance against Excessive Remuneration in Listed Companies Limited
by Shares (ERCO) does not apply to the SNB, since the SNB is not a company
limited by shares within the meaning of arts. 620 – 763 CO. Where the NBA
leaves room for manoeuvre, the SNB implements the ERCO requirements.
This applies especially to the prohibition of voting rights for corporate
bodies and deposited shares, as well as the requirements regarding independent
proxy voting and the proxy’s powers.

1.2 Shareholders
The share capital of the SNB amounts to CHF 25 million and is fully paid up.
It is divided into 100,000 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 250
each. SNB registered shares are traded on the Swiss stock exchange (SIX Swiss
Exchange) under the Swiss Reporting Standard.

Listed registered shares

In 2020, the cantons and cantonal banks increased their shareholdings by
a total of 267 shares; at the end of 2020, they held 50.0% of the share capital,
compared to 49.7% one year earlier. Of the remaining registered shares,
which make up 27.5% of the share capital, 27,077 shares are owned by private
individuals. Of these, 15,359 are voting shares. The proportion of shares not
entered in the share register (shares pending registration of transfer) decreased
from 24.0% to 22.6% year-on-year.
Total voting stock increased compared to the previous year. At the end of
2020, 26 cantons (2019: 26) and 23 cantonal banks (2019: 23) held 76.1% of
the voting shares (2019: 77.2%), while private shareholders accounted for
23.4% of voting rights (2019: 22.3%). The Confederation is not a shareholder.
The major shareholders were the Canton of Berne with 6.63% (6,630 shares),
the Canton of Zurich with 5.20% (5,200 shares), Theo Siegert (Düsseldorf)
with 5.04% (5,039 shares), the Canton of Vaud with 3.40% (3,401 shares) and
the Canton of St Gallen with 3.00% (3,002 shares).
In 2020, the members of the Bank Council did not hold any SNB shares.
According to the ‘Code of Conduct for members of the Bank Council’, Bank
Council members may not hold such shares. At 31 December 2020,
a member of the Enlarged Governing Board and a party related to a member
of the Governing Board held one share each (cf. table ‘Remuneration
for members of executive management (including employer social security
contributions)’, p. 206).
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Shareholder rights are governed by the NBA, with the provisions of company
law being complementary to those of the NBA. As the SNB fulfils a public
mandate and is administered with the cooperation and under the supervision
of the Confederation, shareholder rights are restricted as compared with
a joint-stock company under private law. For shareholders from outside the
public sector, voting rights are limited to 100 shares. Dividends may not
exceed 6% of the share capital. Of the remaining distributable net profit, onethird accrues to the Confederation, and two-thirds to the cantons.

Shareholder rights

The business report and the annual financial statements must be approved
by the Federal Council before being submitted to the General Meeting of
Shareholders for its approval. Other provisions on the General Meeting of
Shareholders that deviate from company law concern its convocation, agenda
and adoption of resolutions. Agenda items with motions from shareholders
must be signed by at least 20 shareholders and submitted to the President of
the Bank Council in writing and in good time before invitations are sent out
(cf. Participation rights, p. 159).
Information for shareholders

Notifications to shareholders are generally communicated in writing to the
address listed in the share register, and by one-off publication in the Swiss
Official Gazette of Commerce. Shareholders only receive information which
is also available to the public.

Independent proxy

The SNB allows its shareholders to grant their power of attorney and send
instructions to the independent proxy, either in writing or electronically.

1.3 Organisational structure
The SNB has two head offices, one in Berne and one in Zurich. It is divided
into three departments. For the most part, the organisational units of
Departments I and III are located in Zurich, while those of Department II are
mainly in Berne. Each of the three departments is headed by a member
of the Governing Board, who is assisted in this task by a deputy.

Departments
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The Singapore branch office enables the SNB to efficiently manage the
Asia-Pacific part of its foreign exchange reserves and also serves in the
implementation of monetary policy. Furthermore, this local presence allows
in-depth monitoring and analysis of financial market developments and
promotes understanding of market and economic conditions within the AsiaPacific region.

Branch office

The delegates for regional economic relations are responsible for monitoring
economic developments and explaining the SNB’s policy in the regions. In
addition to the head offices in Berne and Zurich, the SNB therefore maintains
representative offices in Basel, Geneva, Lausanne, Lucerne, Lugano and
St Gallen. The delegates are supported by the Regional Economic Councils,
which analyse the economic situation and the effect of monetary policy in
their regions and report the results to the Governing Board. The Regional
Economic Councils also regularly exchange information with the delegates.

Representative offices

The SNB maintains 13 agencies for the receipt and distribution of banknotes
and coins. These agencies are run by cantonal banks. The agency in
Altdorf was closed at the end of December 2020 following termination of
the corresponding agreement by Urner Kantonalbank.

Agencies

1.4 Corporate bodies and responsibilities
The corporate bodies of the SNB are the General Meeting of Shareholders, the
Bank Council, the Governing Board and the External Auditor. The composition
of these bodies is described on pp. 225 – 226.
The General Meeting of Shareholders elects five of the Bank Council’s eleven
members (via separate ballot per member) and appoints the External Auditor.
It approves the business report and the annual financial statements, and
grants discharge to the Bank Council. Furthermore, within the context of the
profit appropriation, the General Meeting of Shareholders determines the
dividend. This may not exceed 6% of the share capital.
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Due to the pandemic, it was not possible to hold the 2020 General Meeting
of Shareholders in the usual manner in Berne. Based on the Federal Council’s
COVID-19 Ordinance 2, the meeting was held at the Zurich head office
without the physical presence of shareholders but with the independent proxy
in attendance.
Bank Council

The Bank Council is the SNB’s supervisory and control body. Six of its
members are elected by the Federal Council; five by the General Meeting of
Shareholders. The Federal Council is also responsible for appointing the
President and Vice President. The Bank Council oversees and controls the
conduct of business by the SNB. The individual tasks of the Bank Council
are described in art. 42 NBA and art. 10 of the ‘Organisation regulations’. The
Bank Council’s responsibilities cover, in particular, the determination of
the basic principles according to which the SNB should be organised (including
the structure of its accounting and financial control systems and its financial
planning) and the approval of the budget and the provisions for currency reserves
(art. 30 NBA). The Bank Council also assesses risk management and the
basic principles underlying the investment process, and is kept informed of
the SNB’s operational resource strategies. The Bank Council submits
proposals to the Federal Council for the appointment of Governing Board
members and their deputies. It determines, in a set of regulations, the
remuneration of its own members, and the remuneration of Governing Board
members and deputies. Finally, the Bank Council approves the agreement
with the Federal Department of Finance (FDF) on profit distribution, decides
on the design of banknotes and appoints the members of the Regional
Economic Councils. Monetary policy does not form part of its remit; this
falls to the Governing Board.

Bank Council activities

In 2020, the Bank Council held eight meetings (in January, February, April, June,
September, October and December); six of the meetings were held by telephone
conference and all were attended by the members of the Governing Board.
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The Bank Council took note of the accountability report for 2019 submitted
to the Federal Assembly and approved the financial report for 2019 for
submission to the Federal Council and the General Meeting of Shareholders.
It discussed the reports submitted by the External Auditor to the Bank Council
and the General Meeting of Shareholders, and took note of the annual reports
on financial and operational risks, the annual report of the Compliance unit,
and the 2019 annual report of the pension fund. It also prepared the 2020 General
Meeting of Shareholders and approved the 2019 budget statement as well as
the 2021 budget, taking note of the medium-term resource and performance plan.
The Bank Council also approved the supplementary agreement concerning
the profit distribution for 2019 and 2020 between the Federal Department of
Finance and the SNB.
Furthermore, the Bank Council proposed to the 2020 General Meeting of
Shareholders the re-election of five existing members of the Bank Council for
the 2020 – 2024 term of office.
The Bank Council also decided to recommend to the Federal Council that the
existing members of the Governing Board and their deputies be re-appointed
for the 2021 – 2027 term of office.
The Bank Council determined the membership of the Bank Council committees
for the 2020 – 2021 term of office as well as the members of the Regional
Economic Councils applicable from the 2020 General Meeting of Shareholders.
It also confirmed the full re-election of the Regional Economic Councils
for the 2020 – 2024 term of office.
Moreover, the Bank Council conducted discussions on investment policy and
was briefed on HR key figures at the SNB and on the SIC payment system.
The Bank Council also addressed the allegations of discrimination, bullying
and sexism made against the SNB. It decided, as part of its supervisory and
monitoring responsibility, to support the Governing Board in this regard and
to further develop HR processes. To this end, the Bank Council set up an
ad hoc committee, chaired by the President of the Bank Council (cf. chapter 2.2).
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Furthermore, the Bank Council took note of the final report on the renovation
and conversion of the building at Fraumünsterstrasse 8 in Zurich.
Finally, the Bank Council approved the level of provisions for currency
reserves.
Bank Council committees

The Bank Council has an Audit Committee, a Risk Committee, a Compensation
Committee and a Nomination Committee, each of which has three members.
The Audit Committee supports the Bank Council in monitoring financial
reporting, and oversees the activities of the External Auditor and the Internal
Audit unit. It also assesses the appropriateness and efficacy of the internal
control system (ICS), in particular regarding the processes for managing
operational risk and ensuring compliance with laws, regulations and directives.
The Risk Committee assists the Bank Council in monitoring risk management
and in assessing the governance of the investment process. The Audit
Committee and the Risk Committee coordinate their activities and collaborate
in areas where their tasks overlap.
The Compensation Committee supports the Bank Council in determining the
principles of the SNB’s compensation and salary policy, and submits
proposals to the Bank Council regarding the salaries of Governing Board
members and their deputies.
The Nomination Committee submits proposals to the Bank Council for
those Bank Council members who are elected by the General Meeting of
Shareholders, and for members of the Governing Board and their deputies,
who are appointed by the Federal Council.
The Audit Committee held four meetings in 2020, all of which were attended
by the External Auditor. The Risk Committee met three times, the Compensation
Committee once, and the Nomination Committee twice.
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The Governing Board is the SNB’s highest management and executive
body. Its three members are appointed for a six-year term by the Federal Council
on the recommendation of the Bank Council. The Governing Board is
responsible, in particular, for monetary policy, asset management strategy,
contributing to the stability of the financial system, and international
monetary cooperation.

Executive management

The Enlarged Governing Board is made up of the three Governing Board
members and their deputies. It issues the strategic guidelines for the SNB’s
business operations.
The Board of Deputies is responsible for the planning and implementation
of these strategic guidelines. It ensures coordination in all operational matters
of interdepartmental importance.
The External Auditor examines whether the accounting records, the annual
financial statements and the proposal for the appropriation of the net profit
are in accordance with statutory requirements. To this end, it is entitled to
inspect the SNB’s business activities at any time. It is appointed by the General
Meeting of Shareholders for a term of one year. The auditors must meet
special professional qualifications pursuant to art. 727b CO, and must be
independent of the Bank Council, the Governing Board and the controlling
shareholders.

External Auditor

KPMG Ltd has been the External Auditor since 2015 and was reappointed by
the General Meeting of Shareholders for the 2020 – 2021 term of office.
Philipp Rickert has been the auditor in charge since 2015. The role of auditor
in charge is rotated at least every seven years in compliance with the
regulations on terms of office stipulated in the Swiss Code of Obligations.
Auditing fees for the 2020 financial year amounted to CHF 0.3 million
(2019: CHF 0.3 million). Once again, KPMG Ltd provided no consulting
services for the SNB in 2020.
The Internal Audit unit is an independent instrument for overseeing and
monitoring the SNB’s business activities. It reports to the Audit Committee
of the Bank Council.
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1.5 Remuneration report
When remunerating the members of the Bank Council and the Enlarged
Governing Board, the Bank Council is required to comply analogously with
the Confederation’s principles governing the remuneration and other
contractual conditions for senior staff and management officers of federal
enterprises and institutions, as outlined in art. 6a of the Federal Personnel
Act. The Bank Council laid down the principles governing remuneration in
the ‘Regulations on the compensation of SNB supervisory and executive
bodies’ of 14 May 2004 (Compensation regulations).

Remuneration

Remuneration and compensation remitted in 2020 are listed in the tables on
pp. 205 – 206.
Bank Council

The compensation for members of the Bank Council is made up of a fixed
annual remuneration plus per diem payments for special assignments and
committee meetings. No compensation is due for committee meetings that
are held on the same day as Bank Council meetings.

Executive management

The remuneration paid to members of the Enlarged Governing Board comprises
a salary and a lump sum for representation expenses. It is based on the
level of remuneration in other financial sector companies of a similar size
and complexity, and in large federally run companies.

Regional Economic Councils

Information on the remuneration for members of the Regional Economic
Councils can be found on p. 205.

Severance payments and
compensation for restrictions

The SNB does not make severance payments to departing members of the
Bank Council. In accordance with the SNB’s Regulations on the Governing
Board, members of the Governing Board and their deputies are understood
to be employed for a further six months after their term of office has come to
an end, although they will be released from their duties during these six
months (‘cooling-off period’). The continuation of salary payments during
this period of release from duties compensates them for any restrictions
imposed on them after the end of their term of office. If a member of the Enlarged
Governing Board is not reappointed or is removed from office, the Bank
Council may grant a severance payment amounting to a maximum of one year’s
salary. The same applies in the case of retirement or termination of employment
of a member of the Enlarged Governing Board in the interest of the bank.
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1.6 INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM
The ICS comprises all the structures and processes which ensure orderly
procedures for operational activities and contribute to the attainment of
business goals.

Aim and purpose

The ICS makes a major contribution towards compliance with legal requirements
and internal specifications, the prudential protection of corporate assets,
the prevention, reduction and disclosure of errors and irregularities, as well
as ensuring that accounts are reliable and complete, that reporting is timely
and dependable, and that the bankwide management of risk is appropriate
and efficient.
The ICS comprises the management of financial risk, operational risk, compliance
risk and risk associated with financial reporting pursuant to art. 728a CO.

Elements

The ICS is divided into three levels. The three organisationally separate
levels (lines of defence) are line management (heads of department and line
managers), risk monitoring and internal audit.

Organisation

The first level is ensured through the line management’s responsibility to
provide verification of its duty of care and orderly business procedures.
Organisational units define their structures and procedures so as to ensure
that tasks are carried out efficiently and their objectives achieved. To this
end, they specify operational goals and control measures to manage the risks
they are exposed to in their business activities.

First level

The second level is risk monitoring. The units responsible (Operational Risk
and Security, Compliance, and Risk Management) advise and support line
managers in the management of risk in their units. They monitor and report
on the appropriateness and efficacy of risk management. In addition, they
make their own assessment of the risk situation. They draw up specifications
and measures to identify and limit risk, and submit corresponding proposals
to executive management.

Second level
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Third level

Finally, at a third, independent level, Internal Audit examines the SNB’s
business activities by applying a systematic and targeted approach to assessing
and helping to improve the effectiveness of risk management and processes
for internal monitoring, control and governance. Internal Audit’s approach is
first and foremost risk-oriented.

Responsibilities of
Bank Council and
executive management

The Bank Council and, in particular, its Audit Committee and Risk Committee,
assess the appropriateness and efficacy of the ICS and satisfy themselves
with regard to the security and integrity of the business processes.
The Enlarged Governing Board approves strategies for the SNB’s business
operations.
The Board of Deputies approves the specifications with respect to the ICS
and ensures compliance therewith. To this end, it issues directives and
guidelines on operational management.

Reporting

Individual risk monitoring reports on financial, operational and compliance
risks are submitted via the ICS to executive management and the Bank Council
on an annual basis. In addition, Internal Audit communicates its audit
findings to executive management and to the Bank Council’s Audit Committee
at least twice a year.

ICS for financial reporting

The SNB has extensive control mechanisms in place for the prevention or
early identification of errors in financial reporting (accounting procedures
and bookkeeping). This ensures that the SNB’s financial position is correctly
reported. Together, these controls make up the ICS for financial reporting,
which is managed by the Accounting unit.

156

Annual Report 2020, Business report

1.7 Risk management
In fulfilling its statutory mandate, the SNB incurs various risks. These include
financial risks in the form of market, credit, country and liquidity risks. It
is also exposed to compliance and operational risks. These include personal
injury, financial loss or reputational damage arising as a result of inadequate
internal processes, incorrect reporting, a lack of – or disregard for – regulations
or rules of conduct, insufficient oversight, technical failure and the impact
of various external events.

Risks

The Bank Council oversees and monitors the conduct of business by the SNB.
It is responsible for assessing risk management and monitors its implementation.
The Risk Committee and the Audit Committee prepare the business agenda
and support the Bank Council in overseeing risk management.

Assessment of
risk management

The Governing Board issues the ‘Investment Policy Guidelines of the Swiss
National Bank (SNB)’ and annually determines the strategy for the investment
of assets. In so doing, it determines the framework for the financial risks
associated with investments.

Risk strategy

The Enlarged Governing Board approves strategies for business operations
and has strategic responsibility for the management of operational and
compliance risks. It defines the corresponding guidelines.
Financial risk associated with investment is continuously monitored by the
Risk Management unit. Each quarter, the Governing Board discusses the
reports on investment activities and risk management. The reports on risk
management are discussed by the Risk Committee of the Bank Council,
and the annual report on financial risk is also discussed by the Bank Council.
Details of the investment and risk control process for financial investments
can be found in chapter 5 of the accountability report.

Monitoring of
financial risks

The department heads ensure implementation of the operational risk
guidelines issued by the Enlarged Governing Board in their organisational units.
Management of operational risk is the responsibility of line managers.

Monitoring of
operational risks
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Operational risk, which specifically includes cyber and information security,
business continuity management and operational security, is monitored by
the Operational Risk and Security unit. The Board of Deputies is responsible
for the management and control of operational risk. It prepares the relevant
guidelines, is responsible for their implementation throughout the SNB, and
ensures reporting to the Enlarged Governing Board. The Audit Committee
discusses the business report on the management of operational risk before
it is submitted to the Bank Council. The Risk Committee and the Audit
Committee are jointly responsible for monitoring operational risk arising from
the SNB’s investment activities.
The department heads also ensure implementation of the compliance risk
guidelines issued by the Bank Council and the Enlarged Governing Board in
their organisational units. Management of compliance risk is the responsibility
of line managers.

Monitoring of
compliance risks

Compliance risk is monitored by the Compliance unit and the Operational Risk
and Security unit. The Compliance unit advises and supports the department
heads, line managers and staff with regard to the handling of compliance risks.
It carries out spot checks to monitor adherence to, and the appropriateness
of, specifications and rules of conduct, and reports on the status of compliance
risks arising from the disregard for rules of conduct and specifications.
In connection with its responsibilities, the Compliance unit may at any time
approach the Head of the Audit Committee or where appropriate the President
of the Bank Council, should this prove necessary. The Compliance unit submits
a report on its activities annually to executive management, the Audit
Committee and the Bank Council.
The following table summarises the organisation of risk management.

ORGANISATION OF RISK MANAGEMENT
Specifications

Risk management
(first level)

Independent oversight
(second level)

Supervisory bodies
of the Bank Council

Financial risk

Governing Board

Line management

Risk Management unit

Risk Committee

Operational risk

Enlarged Governing Board,
Board of Deputies

Line management

Operational Risk and
Security unit

Audit Committee,
Risk Committee

Compliance risk

Bank Council and
Enlarged Governing Board,
Board of Deputies

Line management

Compliance unit,
Operational Risk and
Security unit

Audit Committee
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1.8 Cross reference tables
Further information on corporate governance may be found in other sections
of the Annual Report, on the SNB website, in the NBA, in the ‘Organisation
regulations’ and in the following places:
NBA (SR 951.11)

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Constitution and laws

Organisation regulations (SR 951.153)

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Shareholders

www.snb.ch, Shareholders

Participation rights

www.snb.ch, Shareholders, General Meeting of
Shareholders, Deadlines and participation

Listing in share register

www.snb.ch, Shareholders, General Meeting of
Shareholders, Deadlines and participation

Decision-making quorums

Art. 38 NBA; art. 9 Organisation regulations

General Meeting of Shareholders

Arts. 34 – 38 NBA; arts. 8 – 9 Organisation regulations

Regulations on the recognition
and representation of shareholders
of the Swiss National Bank

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Bank Council

www.snb.ch, The SNB,
Supervisory and executive bodies, Bank Council

Members

Annual Report, p. 225

Nationality

Art. 40 NBA

Affiliations

www.snb.ch, The SNB,
Supervisory and executive bodies, Bank Council,
Members of the Bank Council

Election and term of office

Art. 39 NBA

Initial and current election

Annual Report, p. 225

Internal organisation

Arts. 10 et seq. Organisation regulations

Committees

www.snb.ch, The SNB,
Supervisory and executive bodies, Bank Council

Regulations on the
Audit Committee
Risk Committee
Compensation Committee
Nomination Committee

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Regulations on the compensation
of SNB supervisory and executive
bodies (Compensation regulations)

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Delimitation of powers

Art. 42 NBA; arts. 10 et seq. Organisation
regulations

Internal control system

Annual Report, pp. 155 – 156; arts. 10 et seq.
Organisation regulations

Information tools

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Remuneration

Annual Report, p. 205

Code of Conduct

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations
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Executive management

www.snb.ch, The SNB,
Supervisory and executive bodies,
Governing Board/Enlarged Governing Board

Members

Annual Report, p. 226

Affiliations

www.snb.ch, The SNB,
Supervisory and executive bodies, Governing Board/
Enlarged Governing Board

Election and term of office

Art. 43 NBA

Internal organisation

Arts. 18 – 24 Organisation regulations

Regulations on the office-holder
www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
relationship and employment
Guidelines and regulations
relationship of members of the
Governing Board of the Swiss
National Bank and their deputies
(Regulations on the Governing Board)
Regulations on the compensation
of SNB supervisory and executive
bodies (Compensation regulations)

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Regulations on private financial
investments and financial
transactions by members of
SNB management

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Regulations on the acceptance
by members of the Enlarged
Governing Board of gifts, invitations
and third-party considerations

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Federal Personnel Act

www.admin.ch, Bundesrecht, Systematische
Rechtssammlung, Landesrecht, 1 Staat – Volk –
Behörden, 17 Bundesbehörden, 172.220
Arbeitsverhältnis, 172.220.1 Bundespersonalgesetz
vom 24. März 2000 (BPG)
Not available in English

Remuneration

Annual Report, p. 206

Code of Conduct

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Staff
Charter

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Code of Conduct

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Private financial investments
and financial transactions

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

Principles governing procurement

www.snb.ch, The SNB, Legal basis,
Guidelines and regulations

External Auditor
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Election and requirements

Art. 47 NBA

Tasks

Art. 48 NBA
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Information policy

Annual Report, p. 148, pp. 230 et seq.
as well as information for shareholders at
www.snb.ch, Shareholders,
Ad hoc announcements – messaging service

Corporate structure and shareholders

Annual Report, pp. 146 et seq., pp. 199 – 200

Head offices

Art. 3 para. 1 NBA

Ticker symbol/ISIN

SNBN/CH0001319265

Breakdown of capital

Annual Report, p. 199

Accounting principles

Annual Report, p. 180

Annual Report 2020, Business report

161

2
Resources

2.1 Organisational changes
The departments are made up of divisions and organisational units that report
directly to them. Divisions encompass large specialised areas that are covered
by several organisational units; they are led by division heads, who report
to the department management.

Organisation

The divisions making up Department I are the Secretariat General, Economic
Affairs, International Monetary Cooperation and Statistics. It also includes
the Legal Services, Compliance, Human Resources, and Premises and Technical
Services units, which report directly to the department management. Internal
Audit reports administratively to Department I.
Within the Secretariat General, the Research Coordination and Economic
Education unit was renamed the Research Coordination, Education and
Sustainability unit. The new specialist unit for sustainability will commence
its activities in 2021.
The Economic Affairs division was reorganised on 1 January 2021 in order to
meet new business demands and improve internal processes. In particular,
the new organisational structure enables more extensive economic analysis
of large volumes of unstructured data (big data) and optimises existing
activities carried out in preparation for monetary policy decisions. The Economic
Affairs division now comprises the following five units: Monetary Policy
Analysis, Forecast and Analysis Switzerland, Forecast and Analysis International,
Economic Data Science, and Regional Economic Relations.
In addition to the Financial Stability and Cash divisions, Department II includes
the Accounting, Controlling, Risk Management, and Operational Risk
and Security units, which report directly to the department management.
Department III comprises the Money Market and Foreign Exchange, Asset
Management, Banking Operations, and Information Technology divisions,
as well as the Financial Market Analysis unit and the Singapore branch office,
which report directly to the department management.
The organisational structure is presented on pp. 228 – 229.
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Organisational development is based on strategic management. SNB
management’s strategic guidelines relating to challenges, priorities and
organisation feed into operational management. The latter comprises
resource and performance management, project and project portfolio
planning, as well as budgeting.
Operational management processes are aimed at the effective and efficient
fulfilment of tasks and a gradual increase in organisational flexibility. The
focus is on the management dimensions of performance, human resources,
processes and costs. Increased flexibility helps the SNB to perform its tasks
effectively in a changing environment.

2.2 Human resources
At the end of 2020, the SNB employed 950 people, an increase of 16 or 1.7%
on the previous year. In terms of full-time equivalents, the number of employees
rose by 1.8% to 870.8. The SNB also employed 24 apprentices. Averaged
over the year, the number of full-time equivalents was 865.0. The overall staff
turnover rate was 1.2 percentage points lower at 5.3%. Net fluctuation
(excluding retirements and deaths) decreased by 1.3 percentage points to 3.1%.

Number of staff

The development of staff numbers falls within the parameters laid down in the
medium-term resource and performance plan approved by the Bank Council.
More information and key figures on human resources and the SNB as an
employer can be found in the ‘Employees’ chapter of the Sustainability
Report 2020.
In the autumn, certain media reports raised allegations of bullying, discrimination
and sexism at the SNB. The Governing Board emphasised that such
behaviour contravenes the SNB’s Charter and is not tolerated. It arranged
for a full examination of all such alleged cases reported since 2015. The
findings showed that there were only a few cases, that these were very different
in nature, and that they did not follow any pattern. There were no indications
that bullying, discrimination or sexism is a systemic problem at the SNB.
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The SNB has been consistently optimising its HR processes over recent years.
To ensure that they are up to date across the board, and that they guarantee
equal opportunities and do not permit any form of discrimination, the Governing
Board in consultation with the Bank Council commissioned a comprehensive
review of HR processes at the SNB. In particular, processes relating to the
reporting of misconduct – as well as to hiring, salary-setting and promotion –
are being externally certified. This work is due to be completed at the end of 2021.

SNB operations during the coronavirus pandemic
The coronavirus pandemic exerted a strong influence on the SNB’s
operations in 2020. Following the outbreak of the pandemic in spring,
the SNB developed an internal set of precautionary measures and
established corresponding rules of behaviour, subject to regular review
and adjusted as required. These guidelines were based on the principle
of safety first, on the measures taken by the authorities (federal and cantonal)
and on the operational situation; the SNB mandate was to be fulfilled
and its employees were to be protected at all times. A central element was
for employees who do not need to be on-site to work mainly from home,
so as to reduce the risk of infection. For the same reason, teams performing
critical activities that require on-site presence were split and moved to
alternative workplaces. In addition to the general hygiene and distancing
rules, the precautionary measures also included guidelines on what to do
in the event of symptoms of the disease or contact with people who have
tested positive. In addition, an internal contact tracing system was set up
to track chains of infection and interrupt possible transmission within the
company at an early stage. During the coronavirus crisis, an average of
around 70% of employees worked from home (cf. also chapter 2.4 of the
SNB’s Sustainability Report 2020). Thanks to the measures taken, the
SNB was able to ensure the fulfilment of its mandate, even under difficult
conditions. The workload increased, in some cases considerably, in
those divisions involved in the SNB’s monetary policy contribution to crisis
management. Flexibility was also demanded of employees in this regard.
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As it sought to safeguard operations during the coronavirus pandemic, the
SNB was able to rely on structures, resources and processes developed in
recent years under business continuity management. The SNB’s extensive
precautions to ensure that it could continue the operations necessary for
the fulfilment of its tasks, even under adverse circumstances, proved valuable.
For instance, the alternative workplaces required for team splitting had
been set up already in recent years. The long-standing drive to develop
a robust IT infrastructure, including remote access for working from
home, was a further key success factor (cf. chapter 2.4) in ensuring the
continuity of operations under difficult conditions. In addition, the
experience garnered during the annual emergency and crisis management
tests was also useful.

2.3 Premises
The SNB owns premises in Berne and Zurich for its own use. These are managed
according to a long-term strategy. As part of this strategy, various buildings
at both locations are currently undergoing renovation and alteration work.
Despite the pandemic, construction work in Berne and Zurich continued
according to schedule, with appropriate protection and hygiene measures
being observed.
Renovation and alteration work on the SNB premises in Berne began in early
2015. Full operations resumed in the main building at Bundesplatz 1 with the
return of staff in the fourth quarter of 2019. Renovation of the six buildings
making up the Kaiserhaus (Marktgasse 37– 41 and Amthausgasse 22 – 26) is
expected to continue until 2024.

Construction projects
in Berne

The removal of hazardous substances and demolition of non-structural
components in the Kaiserhaus was largely completed in 2020. The demolition
of structural components and preparatory work for the construction of new
building technology facilities began in the second half of the year. Detailed
planning of the interior is currently underway.
In Zurich, the building envelope of the Metropol premises is in need of
renovation. Work on the three facades is to be carried out in stages and is
scheduled to be completed in 2022. In 2020, renovations on the first facade
were concluded and work commenced on the second stage.
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2.4 Information technology
Internal IT systems and applications were reliable and stable. Any occasional
disruptions were swiftly resolved.

IT operations

Due to the pandemic, infrastructure had to be put in place – within a short
space of time – to enable approximately 70% of staff to work from home.
Thanks to the existing robust IT infrastructure, sufficient capacity was ensured
in just a few days.
The planned measures set out under the cybersecurity strategy were implemented
on schedule in 2020 and important milestones were reached. This multi-year
programme will bolster the resilience of the SNB’s IT systems to cyberattacks.

IT projects

The SNB is working closely with the Bank for International Settlements
Innovation Hub Swiss Centre. In Project Helvetia, the SNB has joined forces
with SIX Digital Exchange (SDX) to experiment with using digital central
bank money for settling financial market transactions on SDX’s near-live,
distributed ledger-based trading and settlement platform. The results of
Phase 1 were set out in a progress report produced in partnership with the
BIS and SDX and published in December 2020 (cf. accountability report,
chapter 7.2.2).
The SNB conducted feasibility studies in 2020 for projects investigating the
processing of large volumes of unstructured data (big data) as well as the
application of new analytical methods (machine learning and deep learning).
These studies demonstrated that such data science applications can offer
substantial added value over conventional data processing.
In order to cushion the economic impact of the coronavirus pandemic, the
Federal Council launched a loan programme. Commercial banks granting
such COVID-19 bridging loans are able to refinance themselves via a credit
facility set up by the SNB (the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility, CRF).
The SNB set up the CRF, and its corresponding IT solution, within a very
short period of time in spring 2020 (cf. accountability report, chapter 2.3).
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3
Changes in bank bodies

The General Meeting of Shareholders of 24 April 2020 re-elected Vania
Alleva, Monika Bütler, Heinz Karrer, Olivier Steimer and Cédric Pierre Tille
as members of the Bank Council for the 2020 – 2024 term of office.

Bank Council

Olivier Steimer, Vice President of the Bank Council, will step down at the
end of April 2021 due to the statutory limit on the maximum term of office.
Owing to a change in position, Heinz Karrer will also be leaving the Bank
Council at the end of April 2021. The SNB thanks them both for their
valuable service.
Special thanks go to Olivier Steimer, who held the position of Vice President of
the Bank Council for many years. He was elected to the Bank Council by the
General Meeting of Shareholders in 2009. Three years later, the Federal
Council appointed him Vice President of the Bank Council. Mr Steimer initially
served on the Risk Committee. Later, he became Head of the Compensation
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee. Olivier Steimer
fulfilled his duties as Vice President with great commitment and prudence.
The SNB also thanks Heinz Karrer for his valuable service. Mr Karrer made
a particular contribution in his role as member of the Audit Committee,
a body whose work has gained in importance and become increasingly complex
in recent years.
On 25 November 2020, the Federal Council appointed Romeo Lacher,
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Julius Baer Group Ltd. and Bank
Julius Baer & Co. Ltd., as Vice President of the Bank Council for the
remainder of the current term of office (1 May 2020 until 30 April 2024)
with effect from 1 May 2021, subject to his election by the 2021 General
Meeting of Shareholders.
Heinz Karrer’s successor will be elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
On 24 April 2020, the General Meeting of Shareholders appointed KPMG
Ltd as External Auditor for the 2020 – 2021 term of office, with Philipp Rickert
as auditor in charge.

External Auditor

On 25 November 2020, the members of the Governing Board, Thomas Jordan,
Fritz Zurbrügg and Andréa Maechler, as well as their deputies, Martin
Schlegel, Dewet Moser and Thomas Moser, were re-appointed by the Federal
Council for the 2021 – 2027 term of office on the recommendation of the
Bank Council, and were confirmed in their respective positions.

Governing Board and
Enlarged Governing Board
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4
Business performance

4.1 Annual result
The Swiss National Bank reported a profit of CHF 20.9 billion for the year
2020 (2019: CHF 48.9 billion).

Summary

The profit on foreign currency positions amounted to CHF 13.3 billion.
A valuation gain of CHF 6.6 billion was recorded on gold holdings. The profit
on Swiss franc positions was CHF 1.3 billion. Operating expenses came to
CHF 0.4 billion.
For the financial year just ended, the SNB has set the allocation to the provisions
for currency reserves at CHF 7.9 billion. After taking into account the
distribution reserve of CHF 84.0 billion, the net profit comes to CHF 96.9 billion.
This will allow a dividend payment of CHF 15 per share, which corresponds
to the legally stipulated maximum amount, as well as a profit distribution to
the Confederation and the cantons totalling CHF 6 billion.
The profit distribution will be made on the basis of the new agreement between
the Federal Department of Finance and the SNB of 29 January 2021, which
replaces the agreement of 2016 for the financial years 2016 – 2020 and the
supplementary agreement of 2020.
Of the total amount to be distributed (CHF 6 billion), one-third goes to the
Confederation and two-thirds to the cantons. After these payments, the distribution
reserve will stand at CHF 90.9 billion.
Valuation gain on
gold holdings

At the end of 2020, the price of gold stood at CHF 53,603 per kilogram, 13.5%
higher than at the end of 2019 (CHF 47,222). This gave rise to a valuation
gain of CHF 6.6 billion on the unchanged holdings of 1,040 tonnes of gold
(2019: CHF 6.9 billion).

Profit on foreign currency
positions

The profit on foreign currency positions was CHF 13.3 billion (2019:
CHF 40.3 billion). Interest and dividend income totalled CHF 8.0 billion and
CHF 3.4 billion respectively. A gain of CHF 12.1 billion was recorded on
interest-bearing paper and instruments, while equity securities and instruments
registered a gain of CHF 27.6 billion. Exchange rate-related losses totalled
CHF 37.7 billion.
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The profit on Swiss franc positions totalled CHF 1.3 billion (2019: CHF 2.1 billion).
It largely resulted from negative interest charged on sight deposit account
balances.

Profit on Swiss franc
positions

Operating expenses are made up of banknote and personnel expenses, general
overheads and depreciation on the SNB’s tangible assets. They decreased by
CHF 15.7 million to CHF 379.9 million.

Operating expenses

The SNB’s financial result depends largely on developments in the gold, foreign
exchange and capital markets. Consequently, very strong fluctuations in
quarterly and annual results are to be expected. In view of the considerable
volatility in its results, the SNB does not exclude the possibility that, in
some years, profit distributions will only be able to be carried out on a reduced
scale or will have to be suspended completely.

Outlook
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4.2 Provisions for currency reserves
Purpose

In accordance with art. 30 para. 1 of the NBA, the SNB sets up provisions to
maintain the currency reserves at the level necessary for monetary policy.
Independent of this financing function, the provisions for currency reserves
have a general reserve function and thus serve as equity capital. They act
as a buffer against all the different forms of loss risk at the SNB.

Level of provisions

When setting aside provisions for currency reserves, the SNB must take into
account the development of the Swiss economy (art. 30 para. 1 NBA).

Allocation from 2020
annual result

Given the high market risks present in the SNB balance sheet, the percentage
increase in provisions is generally calculated on the basis of double the
average nominal GDP growth rate for the previous five years. In addition,
a minimum annual allocation of 8% of the provisions at the end of the
previous year had applied since 2016. In light of the significant increase in
balance sheet risks since then, the minimum annual allocation has now been
raised to 10% from 2020. This is aimed at ensuring that sufficient allocations
are made to the provisions and the balance sheet is further strengthened,
even in periods of low nominal GDP growth.
Since nominal GDP growth over the last five years has averaged just 1.7%,
the minimum allocation of 10% will thus be applied for the 2020 financial
year. This corresponds to CHF 7.9 billion (2019: CHF 5.9 billion). As a result,
the provisions for currency reserves will grow from CHF 79.1 billion to
CHF 87.0 billion.
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PROVISIONS

Multi-year comparison
of provisions
Growth in nominal GDP

Annual allocation

Provisions after
allocation

In percent (average period)1

In CHF millions

In CHF millions

2016 2

1.9 (2010 – 2014)

4 649.7

62 771.2

2017 2

1.4 (2011 – 2015)

5 021.7

67 792.9

2018

2

1.2 (2012 – 2016)

5 423.4

73 216.3

2019 2

1.3 (2013 – 2017)

5 857.3

79 073.6

2020

1.7 (2014 – 2018)

7 907.4

86 981.0

3

1	The average nominal GDP growth rate is based on the last five years for which definite values are available.
GDP figures are revised on a regular basis. This means that the latest available growth rates may deviate
from reported figures. This does not affect the allocation.
2	Minimum allocation of 8% of the provisions at the end of the previous year.
3	Minimum allocation of 10% of the provisions at the end of the previous year.

The portion of the annual result remaining after the allocation to the currency
reserves corresponds to the distributable profit as per art. 30 para. 2 NBA.
Together with the distribution reserve, this makes up the net profit/net loss
(art. 31 NBA). If a net profit is achieved, this is used for distributions.

Distributable annual result
and net profit

For 2020, the distributable annual result amounts to CHF 13.0 billion. The
net profit is CHF 96.9 billion.
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4.3 Dividend and profit distribution
Dividend

Art. 31 para. 1 NBA specifies that a dividend not exceeding 6% of the share
capital shall be paid from the net profit, with the decision on this matter
being taken by the General Meeting of Shareholders on the basis of a Bank
Council proposal.

Profit distribution to
Confederation and cantons

In accordance with art. 31 para. 2 NBA, one-third of any net profit remaining
after the payment of a dividend will accrue to the Confederation and two-thirds
to the cantons.

New distribution agreement

The amount of the annual profit distribution to the Confederation and the cantons
is laid down in an agreement between the FDF and the SNB. Given the
considerable fluctuations in the SNB’s earnings, the NBA stipulates that profit
distribution be maintained at a steady level. Consequently, a constant
flow of payments over several years is provided for in the agreement and
a distribution reserve carried on the balance sheet.
In January 2021, the FDF and the SNB signed a new agreement on the SNB’s
profit distributions. Provided that the SNB’s financial situation permits,
an amount of up to CHF 6 billion per annum will now be distributed to the
Confederation and the cantons. The new agreement governs the SNB’s profit
distributions through to the 2025 financial year. It also retroactively covers
the 2020 financial year. The maximum distribution of CHF 6 billion per
annum comprises a base amount of CHF 2 billion, which will be distributed
if there is a net profit of at least CHF 2 billion. If the net profit is less than
CHF 2 billion, the amount of the net profit – after deduction of the dividend
to shareholders (max. CHF 1.5 million) – is distributed to the Confederation
and the cantons. Added to this are four possible supplementary distributions
of CHF 1 billion each, which are made if the net profit reaches the thresholds
of CHF 10 billion, CHF 20 billion, CHF 30 billion and CHF 40 billion
respectively.

Distribution for 2020
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The criteria for making the maximum distribution have been met for the 2020
financial year. After the allocation to the provisions for currency reserves,
the SNB will thus distribute a total of CHF 6 billion to the Confederation and
the cantons.
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The distribution reserve forms part of the loss-absorbing capital alongside
the provisions for currency reserves. The non-distributed annual profit is
allocated to the distribution reserve, or the shortfall for the appropriation of
profit is drawn from it. The distribution reserve is a form of profit carried
forward and serves as a fluctuation reserve to enable the legally required
medium-term smoothing of the annual distributions.

Distribution reserve

Following last year’s profit appropriation, the distribution reserve showed
a value of CHF 84.0 billion. After offsetting against the annual result and the
profit appropriation for 2020, the distribution reserve will amount to
CHF 90.9 billion.

PROFIT DISTRIBUTION AND DISTRIBUTION RESERVE
In CHF millions

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020 2

Annual result

24 476.4

54 371.6

– 14 934.0

48 851.7

20 869.6

− Allocation to provisions
for currency reserves

– 4 649.7

– 5 021.7

– 5 423.4

– 5 857.3

– 7 907.4

= Distributable annual result

19 826.7

49 349.9

– 20 357.4

42 994.4

12 962.2

+ Distribution reserve before appropriation
of profit 1
= Net profit
− Payment of a dividend of 6%

1 904.5

20 000.0

67 348.4

44 989.5

83 982.4

21 731.2

69 349.9

46 991.0

87 983.9

96 944.6

– 1.5

– 1.5

– 1.5

– 1.5

– 1.5

− Profit distribution to Confederation
and cantons

– 1 729.7

– 2 000.0

– 2 000.0

– 4 000.0

– 6 000.0

=D
 istribution reserve after appropriation
of profit

20 000.0

67 348.4

44 989.5

83 982.4

90 943.1

1	Year-end total as per balance sheet.
2	In accordance with proposed appropriation of profit.
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4.4 Multi-year comparison of assets and liabilities
The following summary provides an overview of the movements in key
balance sheet positions over the last five years.
Year-end values in CHF millions

Gold holdings
Foreign currency investments

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

39 400

42 494

42 237

49 111

55 747

696 104

790 125

763 728

794 015

910 001

Reserve position in the IMF

1 341

871

1 188

1 369

1 850

International payment instruments

4 406

4 496

4 441

4 381

4 364

155

210

260

276

908

–

–

–

–

8 842

Monetary assistance loans
Claims from US dollar repo transactions
Claims from Swiss franc repo transactions
Swiss franc securities
Secured loans

–

–

–

6 529

550

3 998

3 956

3 977

4 074

4 073

–

–

–

–

11 176

Tangible assets

375

396

435

450

438

Participations

137

157

151

135

134

Other assets

585

601

651

616

946

Total assets

746 502

843 306

817 069

860 956

999 028

78 084

81 639

82 239

84 450

89 014

468 199

470 439

480 634

505 811

628 825

7 230

14 755

15 613

23 481

13 755

Sight deposits of foreign banks and institutions

24 585

54 086

37 102

30 164

28 120

Other sight liabilities

Banknotes in circulation
Sight deposits of domestic banks
Liabilities towards the Confederation

30 036

34 399

41 479

31 997

32 161

Liabilities from Swiss franc repo transactions

–

–

–

–

–

SNB debt certificates

–

–

–

–

–

Other term liabilities

–

–

–

–

9 027

49 096

45 934

34 812

13 315

9 573

4 493

4 573

4 487

4 418

4 214

252

315

472

238

388

58 122

62 771

67 793

73 216

79 074

Foreign currency liabilities
Counterpart of SDRs allocated by the IMF
Other liabilities
Equity
Provisions for currency reserves1
Share capital
Distribution reserve 1
Annual result
Total equity
Total liabilities

25

25

25

25

25

1 905

20 000

67 348

44 989

83 982

24 476

54 372

– 14 934

48 852

20 870

84 527

137 168

120 232

167 083

183 951

746 502

843 306

817 069

860 956

999 028

1	Before appropriation of profit, cf. p. 178.
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1
Balance sheet as at 31 December 2020

ASSETS
In CHF millions

Item
in Notes

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

01

55 747.1

49 110.9

+ 6 636.2

Foreign currency investments

02, 25

910 001.0

794 015.3

+ 115 985.7

Reserve position in the IMF

03, 23

1 849.6

1 368.7

+ 480.9

International payment instruments

04, 23

4 363.9

4 380.6

– 16.7

Monetary assistance loans

05, 23

907.6

276.2

+ 631.4

8 841.7

–

+ 8 841.7

Gold holdings

Claims from US dollar repo transactions
Claims from Swiss franc repo transactions

22

549.9

6 529.0

– 5 979.1

Swiss franc securities

06

4 072.9

4 074.3

– 1.4

11 176.4

–

+ 11 176.4

Secured loans
Tangible assets

07

438.0

449.8

– 11.8

Participations

08, 24

134.0

135.3

– 1.3

Other assets

09, 26

945.6

616.3

+ 329.3

999 027.9

860 956.3

+ 138 071.6

Total assets
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LIABILITIES
In CHF millions

Item
in Notes

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

10

89 013.6

84 450.1

+ 4 563.5

628 825.2

505 810.6

+ 123 014.6

13 755.3

23 481.5

– 9 726.2

28 120.2

30 164.1

– 2 043.9

32 160.9

31 997.4

+ 163.5

Liabilities from Swiss franc repo transactions

–

–

–

SNB debt certificates

–

–

–

9 027.1

–

+ 9 027.1

13, 25

9 573.0

13 314.7

– 3 741.7

04

4 214.0

4 417.9

– 203.9

14, 26

387.9

237.5

+ 150.4

79 073.6

73 216.3

+ 5 857.3

Banknotes in circulation
Sight deposits of domestic banks
Liabilities towards the Confederation

11

Sight deposits of foreign banks and institutions
Other sight liabilities

12

Other term liabilities
Foreign currency liabilities
Counterpart of SDRs allocated by the IMF
Other liabilities

Equity
Provisions for currency reserves 1
Share capital

25.0

25.0

–

Distribution reserve 1

15

83 982.4

44 989.5

+ 38 992.9

Annual result

20 869.6

48 851.7

– 27 982.1

Total equity

183 950.6

167 082.5

+ 16 868.1

Total liabilities

999 027.9

860 956.3

+ 138 071.6

1	Before appropriation of profit, cf. p. 178.
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2
Income statement and appropriation of profit for 2020

INCOME STATEMENT
In CHF millions

Item
in Notes
Net result from gold

2020

2019

Change

6 636.3

6 873.5

– 237.2

Net result from foreign currency positions

16

13 286.3

40 333.6

– 27 047.3

Net result from Swiss franc positions

17

1 332.6

2 058.8

– 726.2

Net result, other

18

– 5.8

– 18.6

+ 12.8

21 249.5

49 247.3

– 27 997.8

– 34.3

– 63.8

+ 29.5

19, 20

– 182.0

– 177.1

– 4.9

General overheads

21

– 125.0

– 121.4

– 3.6

Depreciation on tangible assets

07

– 38.5

– 33.3

– 5.2

20 869.6

48 851.7

– 27 982.1

2020

2019

Change

− Allocation to provisions for currency reserves

– 7 907.4

– 5 857.3

– 2 050.1

= Distributable annual result

12 962.2

42 994.4

– 30 032.2

+ Profit carried forward
(distribution reserve before appropriation of profit)

83 982.4

44 989.5

+ 38 992.9

= Net profit

96 944.6

87 983.9

+ 8 960.7

– 1.5

– 1.5

–

− Profit distribution to Confederation and cantons

– 6 000.0

– 4 000.0

– 2 000.0

= Balance carried forward to following year’s financial statements
(distribution reserve after appropriation of profit)

90 943.1

83 982.4

+ 6 960.7

Gross income
Banknote expenses
Personnel expenses

Annual result

APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT
In CHF millions

− Payment of a dividend of 6%
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3
Changes in equity

In CHF millions

Equity as at 1 January 2019

Share capital

Provisions
for currency
reserves

Distribution
reserve

Annual
result

Total

25.0

67 792.9

67 348.4

– 14 934.0

120 232.3

Endowment of provisions for currency
reserves pursuant to NBA

5 423.4

Release from distribution reserve

– 5 423.4
– 22 358.9

Distribution of dividends to shareholders

22 358.9
– 1.5

– 1.5

Profit distribution to Confederation
and cantons

– 2 000.0

– 2 000.0

Annual result

48 851.7

48 851.7

Equity as at 31 December 2019
(before appropriation of profit)

25.0

73 216.3

44 989.5

48 851.7

167 082.5

Equity as at 1 January 2020

25.0

73 216.3

44 989.5

48 851.7

167 082.5

Endowment of provisions for currency
reserves pursuant to NBA

5 857.3

Allocation to distribution reserve

– 5 857.3
38 992.9

Distribution of dividends to shareholders

– 38 992.9
– 1.5

– 1.5

Profit distribution to Confederation
and cantons

– 4 000.0

– 4 000.0

Annual result

20 869.6

20 869.6

20 869.6

183 950.6

Equity as at 31 December 2020
(before appropriation of profit)

25.0

79 073.6

83 982.4

Proposed appropriation of profit
Endowment of provisions for currency
reserves pursuant to NBA

7 907.4

Allocation to distribution reserve

– 7 907.4
6 960.7

Distribution of dividends to shareholders

– 1.5

Profit distribution to Confederation
and cantons
Equity after appropriation of profit

– 6 960.7

25.0

86 981.0

90 943.1
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– 1.5

– 6 000.0

– 6 000.0

–

177 949.1
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4
Notes to the annual financial
statements as at 31 December 2020

4.1 Accounting and valuation principles
General
The Swiss National Bank is a special-statute joint-stock company with head
offices in Berne and Zurich. The present financial statements have been
drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the National Bank Act (NBA)
and the Swiss Code of Obligations (CO) as well as the accounting principles
detailed in these notes. The statements present a true and fair view of the financial
position and the results of operations of the SNB. Unless otherwise stated, the
accounting principles are based on the Swiss GAAP FER standards (Accounting
and Reporting Recommendations). Departures from Swiss GAAP FER occur
only if an accounting principle runs counter to the provisions of the NBA or
if the special nature of the SNB needs to be taken into account. In a departure
from Swiss GAAP FER, no cash flow statement is prepared. The structure
and designation of the items in the annual financial statements take into
consideration the special character of the business conducted at a central bank.

Basic principles

At its meeting of 26 February 2021, the Bank Council approved the 2020
financial report for submission to the Federal Council and the General
Meeting of Shareholders.
Changes from previous year

There were no changes to the accounting and valuation principles for the
existing items compared with the previous year. Following the introduction
of the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility, these items were supplemented
by the new balance sheet item secured loans (assets). Furthermore, the SNB
is participating in the coordinated central bank action to further enhance the
provision of dollar liquidity via the standing US dollar swap arrangements.
The SNB uses repo auctions to provide US dollar liquidity. These transactions
are stated under the balance sheet items claims from US dollar repo transactions
(assets) and other term liabilities (liabilities).

Cash flow statement

In accordance with art. 29 NBA, the SNB is exempt from the requirement to
prepare a cash flow statement.

Financial liabilities

Swiss GAAP FER 31 requires that the conditions for financial liabilities be
disclosed. Given the special status of a central bank, such a disclosure is of
limited informative value. The majority of the liabilities presented directly
reflect the implementation of the SNB’s monetary policy, i.e. the provision of
liquidity to or the absorption of liquidity from the money market. By virtue
of its exclusive right to issue banknotes, the SNB runs no liquidity or refinancing
risks from liabilities in Swiss francs. Because the SNB can create the
necessary liquidity and determine the level and structure of its financing itself,
it is always in a position to meet its obligations. In light of this, the SNB
will not be publishing a detailed report of the conditions which apply to its
financial liabilities.
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The SNB does not hold any material participating interests which are subject
to consolidation. It therefore does not draw up consolidated financial
statements.

Consolidated financial
statements

The SNB’s business transactions are recorded and valued on the day the
transaction is concluded (trade date accounting). However, they are not posted
until the value date. Transactions already concluded, with a value date
after the balance sheet date, are stated under off-balance-sheet business.

Recording of transactions

Expenses are recognised in the financial year in which they are incurred, and
income in the financial year in which it is earned.

Accrual accounting

Under art. 8 NBA, the SNB is exempt from taxation on profits. Tax exemption
applies both to direct federal taxes and to cantonal and municipal taxes.

Profit tax

The rights of the SNB’s shareholders are restricted by law. The shareholders
cannot exert any influence on financial or operational decisions. Banking
services provided to members of the executive management are carried out at
normal banking industry conditions. No banking services are provided to
members of the Bank Council. Material transactions with companies in which
the SNB has a significant participation are disclosed in the notes to the
balance sheet and income statement (cf. item 08, p. 196 and item 18, p. 204).

Transactions with
related parties

Foreign currency positions are translated at year-end rates. Income and expenses
in foreign currency are translated at the exchange rates applicable at the time
when such income and expenses were posted to the accounts. All valuation
changes are reported in the income statement.

Foreign currency translation

Balance sheet and income statement
Gold holdings consist of gold ingots and gold coins. The gold is stored in
Switzerland (roughly 70%) and abroad (roughly 30%). These holdings are
stated at market value. Valuation gains and losses are reported under net
result from gold.
Negotiable securities (money market instruments, bonds and equities) as well
as credit balances (sight deposits and call money, time deposits) and claims
from foreign currency repo transactions are recorded under foreign currency
investments. Securities, which make up the bulk of the foreign currency
investments, are stated at market value inclusive of accrued interest, while credit
balances and claims from repo transactions are stated at nominal value
inclusive of accrued interest.

Gold holdings

Foreign currency investments

Gains and losses from revaluation at market value, interest income and
expenses, dividends and exchange rate gains and losses are stated under net
result from foreign currency positions. Negative interest is recorded as
a reduction of interest income.
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The management of foreign currency investments also includes securities
lending transactions. Securities lent by the SNB from its own portfolio are
secured by appropriate collateral. The SNB receives interest on the securities
loaned. Loaned securities remain in the foreign currency investments item
and are disclosed in the notes to the annual financial statements. Interest income
from securities lending is stated under net result from foreign currency positions.
Reserve position in IMF

The reserve position in the International Monetary Fund (IMF) consists of
the Swiss quota less the IMF’s sight deposit account balance at the SNB as well
as of claims based on the New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB).
The quota is Switzerland’s portion of the IMF capital which is financed
by the SNB. It is denominated in Special Drawing Rights (SDRs), the IMF’s
unit of account. The part of the quota that is not drawn on remains in a sight
deposit account at the SNB. The IMF can access these Swiss franc assets at
any time.
With the NAB, the IMF can – in the event of a crisis or if its own resources
are in short supply – draw on credit lines from participants in these arrangements.
Credit lines not drawn by the IMF are recorded as irrevocable lending
commitments under the SNB’s off-balance-sheet business.
The reserve position is stated at nominal value inclusive of accrued interest.
The income from interest on the reserve position as well as the exchange rate
gains and losses from a revaluation of the reserve position are stated under
net result from foreign currency positions.

International payment
instruments

International payment instruments comprise sight deposits in SDRs with the
IMF. These deposits result from the allocation of SDRs and the purchase
and sale of SDRs under the voluntary trading arrangement with the IMF. Sight
deposits in SDRs are stated at nominal value inclusive of accrued interest.
They attract interest at market conditions. Interest income and exchange rate
gains and losses are stated under net result from foreign currency positions.
The liability entered into with the allocation is stated on the liabilities side of
the balance sheet under counterpart of SDRs allocated by the IMF.
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On the basis of the Monetary Assistance Act, Switzerland can participate in
multilateral assistance operations aimed at preventing or remedying serious
disruptions to the international monetary system. In such an event, the
Confederation can instruct the SNB to grant a loan. Switzerland can also
contribute to special funds or other IMF facilities, particularly those in
favour of low-income countries, or grant bilateral monetary assistance loans
to individual countries. In both of these cases, the Confederation can request
that the SNB grant a loan. In return, the Confederation guarantees the SNB
the interest and principal repayment on the loan in all of the above cases.

Monetary assistance loans

Currently outstanding are claims from the loans to the Poverty Reduction
and Growth Trust (PRGT) as well as from the loan to the National Bank of
Ukraine. The PRGT is administered by the IMF and is used to finance longterm loans at subsidised interest rates to low-income countries. These claims
are stated at nominal value inclusive of accrued interest. Interest income
and exchange rate gains and losses are stated under net result from foreign
currency positions.
This item records claims from US dollar repo transactions arising from the
coordinated central bank action to further enhance the provision of US dollar
liquidity via the standing US dollar swap arrangements. The SNB uses repo
auctions to provide US dollar liquidity. It engages in foreign exchange swaps
with the US Federal Reserve for this purpose.

Claims from US dollar
repo transactions

Claims from US dollar repo transactions are fully backed by collateral eligible
for SNB repos. They are stated at nominal value inclusive of accrued interest.
Net interest income is stated under net result from foreign currency positions.
The amount in Swiss francs for the account of the US Federal Reserve is stated
on the liabilities side under other term liabilities.
Claims from repo transactions are fully backed by collateral eligible for SNB
repos. They are stated at nominal value inclusive of accrued interest. Interest
income is stated under net result from Swiss franc positions. Negative interest
is recorded as a reduction of interest income.

Claims from Swiss franc
repo transactions

Swiss franc securities are made up exclusively of negotiable bonds. They are
stated at market value inclusive of accrued interest. Price gains and losses
and interest income are stated under net result from Swiss franc positions.

Swiss franc securities
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Secured loans

Claims arising from the SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility are stated under
secured loans. The facility allows banks to obtain liquidity from the SNB
by assigning as collateral loans that have been granted under surety and loan
guarantee programmes provided by the federal government or the cantons.
The interest rate corresponds to the SNB policy rate. The claims are stated at
nominal value. Net interest income is stated under net result from Swiss
franc positions. Negative interest is recorded as a reduction of interest income.

Tangible assets

Tangible assets comprise land and buildings, fixed assets under construction,
software, and sundry tangible assets. For individual purchases, the minimum
value for recognition as an asset is CHF 20,000. Other investments resulting
in an increase in value (projects) are recognised as an asset from an amount of
CHF 100,000. Tangible assets are stated at acquisition cost less required
depreciation.

Period of depreciation
Land and buildings
Land
Buildings (building structure)
Conversions (technical equipment and interior finishing work)
Fixed assets under construction 1
Software
Sundry tangible assets

No depreciation
50 years
10 years
No depreciation
3 years
3 – 12 years

1	Finished fixed assets are reclassified under the corresponding tangible assets category once they are
in operational use.

The recoverable value is checked periodically. If this results in a decrease in
value, an impairment loss is recorded. Scheduled and unscheduled depreciations
are reported in the income statement under depreciation on tangible assets.
Profits and losses from the sale of tangible assets are stated under net result,
other.
In principle, participations are valued at acquisition cost less required value
adjustments. However, the participation in Orell Füssli Ltd is valued on the
basis of the pro rata book value of equity. The result from participations is stated
under net result, other.

Participations
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The SNB uses forward foreign exchange transactions (including foreign
exchange swaps), foreign exchange options, credit derivatives, futures and
interest rate swaps to manage its foreign currency investments. These are
used to manage positioning with regard to shares, interest rates, credit risk
and currencies (cf. also accountability report, chapter 5.4). Whenever
possible, derivative financial instruments are stated at market value. If no
market value is available, fair value is determined in accordance with
generally recognised actuarial methods. Positive or negative replacement values
are stated under other assets or other liabilities respectively. Valuation
changes are recorded in the income statement and stated under net result
from foreign currency positions.

Derivative financial
instruments

The SNB does not state accrued expenses and deferred income as separate
items in its balance sheet. For materiality reasons, they are reported under
other assets or other liabilities, and are disclosed in the notes to the accounts.

Accrued expenses
and deferred income

The banknotes in circulation item shows the nominal value of all the banknotes
issued from any valid series as well as from series that have been recalled
but can be exchanged for an unlimited period of time.

Banknotes in circulation

Sight deposit account balances of domestic banks in Swiss francs form the basis
on which the SNB steers monetary policy. They also facilitate the settlement
of cashless payments in Switzerland. These balances are stated at nominal value.
The SNB can apply positive or negative interest on sight deposits. Negative
interest is applied on balances that exceed a given exemption threshold, the
level of which is determined by the SNB. Up until the introduction of an
interest rate of – 0.75% on 22 January 2015, sight deposit account balances
did not bear interest. Interest income is recorded under net result from
Swiss franc positions.

Sight deposits of
domestic banks

The SNB holds sight deposit accounts in Swiss francs for the Confederation.
These accounts did not bear interest. In addition, the Confederation may
place time deposits with the SNB at market rates. The liabilities towards the
Confederation are stated at nominal value.

Liabilities towards
Confederation

The SNB holds sight deposits for foreign banks and institutions which facilitate
payment transactions in Swiss francs. The accounting and valuation principles
as well as the interest rate conditions are the same as those for sight deposits
of domestic banks.

Sight deposits of foreign
banks and institutions

Annual Report 2020, Annual financial statements

185

Other sight liabilities

The main components in other sight liabilities in Swiss francs are sight
deposits of non-banks, the SNB pension fund’s account and the accounts of
active and retired SNB staff members.
The accounting and valuation principles as well as the interest rate conditions
for non-banks are the same as those for sight deposits of domestic banks,
with the exception of the sight deposit account of the compensation funds for
old age and survivors’ insurance, disability insurance and the fund for loss
of earned income (compenswiss), which does not bear interest.
The SNB pension fund account is stated at nominal value; the rate of negative
interest applied is the same as that on sight deposits of domestic banks. Interest
income is stated under net result from Swiss franc positions.
Accounts of active and retired staff members are stated at nominal value
inclusive of accrued interest. These accounts bear modest interest up to
a certain amount. Interest expenses are stated under net result from Swiss
franc positions.

Liabilities from Swiss franc
repo transactions

Liabilities arising from repo transactions are stated at nominal value
inclusive of accrued interest. Interest expenses are stated under net result
from Swiss franc positions.
At the end of 2020, there were no outstanding liabilities from Swiss franc
repo transactions.

SNB debt certificates

To absorb liquidity from the market, the SNB can issue its own, interestbearing debt certificates (SNB Bills) in Swiss francs. Money market management
requirements dictate the frequency, term and amount of these issues. SNB
Bills are valued at issue price plus cumulative discount accretion (i.e. the discount
is amortised over the term of the issue). Interest expenses are stated under
net result from Swiss franc positions.
At the end of 2020, there were no SNB Bills outstanding.

Other term liabilities
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This balance sheet item contains term liabilities in Swiss francs arising from
swap transactions with the US Federal Reserve. These are stated at nominal value.
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Foreign currency liabilities comprise different sight liabilities and short-term
term liabilities as well as short-term repo transactions related to the management
of foreign currency investments. The latter are carried out at market conditions.
These repo transactions (temporary transfer of securities against sight deposits,
with reverse settlement at maturity) result in a short-term increase in the
balance sheet total. On the one hand, the securities remain on the SNB’s books,
while on the other, the cash received as well as the obligation to repay it at
maturity are stated in the balance sheet. Foreign currency liabilities are stated
at nominal value inclusive of accrued interest. Interest expenses and exchange
rate gains and losses are stated under net result from foreign currency positions.
Negative interest is recorded as a reduction of interest expenses.

Foreign currency liabilities

This item comprises the liability vis-à-vis the IMF for the SDRs allocated to
Switzerland. It attracts the same rate of interest as the SDRs on the assets
side of the balance sheet. Interest expenses and exchange rate gains and losses
are stated under net result from foreign currency positions.

Counterpart of SDRs
allocated by IMF

Art. 30 para. 1 NBA stipulates that the SNB set up provisions permitting it to
maintain the currency reserves at a level necessary for monetary policy. In
so doing, it must take into account economic developments in Switzerland.
These special-law provisions are equity-like in nature and are incorporated
in the ‘Changes in equity’ table (cf. p. 179). The allocation is made as part of
the profit appropriation. The Bank Council approves the level of these
provisions annually.

Provisions for
currency reserves

With the exception of the dividend, which – pursuant to the NBA – may not
exceed 6% of the share capital, the Confederation and the cantons are entitled
to the SNB’s remaining profit after adequate provisions for currency reserves
have been set aside. To achieve a steady flow of payments in the medium
term, the annual profit distributions are fixed in advance for a certain period
in an agreement concluded between the Federal Department of Finance
and the SNB. The distribution reserve contains profits that have not yet been
distributed. It is offset against losses and can therefore also be negative.

Distribution reserve

The SNB’s pension plans are incorporated into one pension fund scheme under
the defined contribution system. In accordance with Swiss GAAP FER 16,
any share of actuarial surplus or deficit (overfunding or underfunding) is shown
on the assets side of the balance sheet or reported as a liability.

Pension fund

There are no events after the balance sheet date which need to be mentioned
or considered in the 2020 annual financial statements.

Events after balance
sheet date
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VALUATION RATES

Valuation rates

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

In CHF

In CHF

In percent

1 euro (EUR)

1.0803

1.0848

– 0.4

1 US dollar (USD)

0.8806

0.9668

– 8.9

100 yen (JPY)

0.8545

0.8900

– 4.0

1 pound sterling (GBP)

1.2027

1.2776

– 5.9

1 Canadian dollar (CAD)

0.6921

0.7436

– 6.9

100 Korean won (KRW)

0.0810

0.0836

– 3.1

1 Australian dollar (AUD)

0.6808

0.6787

+ 0.3

100 Chinese yuan (CNY)

13.4795

13.8827

– 2.9

100 Danish krone (DKK)

14.5187

14.5182

0.0

100 Swedish krona (SEK)

10.7779

10.3745

+ 3.9

1 Singapore dollar (SGD)

0.6667

0.7189

– 7.3

1 Special Drawing Right (SDR)
1 kilogram of gold

1.2816

1.3436

– 4.6

53 602.51

47 221.54

+ 13.5

4.2 NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AND INCOME STATEMENT

GOLD HOLDINGS

Item 01

Breakdown by type

31.12.2020

Gold ingots
Gold coins
Total
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31.12.2019

In tonnes

In CHF millions

In tonnes

In CHF millions

1 001.0

53 654.8

1 001.0

47 267.6

39.0

2 092.3

39.0

1 843.3

1 040.0

55 747.1

1 040.0

49 110.9
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FOREIGN CURRENCY INVESTMENTS

Item 02

Breakdown by investment type in CHF millions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

Sight deposits and call money

80 130.1

38 200.3

+ 41 929.8

Claims from repo transactions

17 754.4

22 442.3

– 4 687.9

Money market instruments

20 453.2

7 970.5

+ 12 482.7

599 673.4

566 111.2

+ 33 562.2

191 990.0

159 290.9

+ 32 699.1

910 001.0

794 015.3

+ 115 985.7

Bonds

1

Equities
Total

1	Of which CHF 420.9 million (2019: CHF 443.9 million) lent under securities lending operations.

Breakdown by issuer and borrower category in CHF millions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

581 059.5

537 566.4

+ 43 493.1

83 626.9

44 261.9

+ 39 365.0

245 314.7

212 187.0

+ 33 127.7

910 001.0

794 015.3

+ 115 985.8

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

EUR

368 444.4

315 991.0

+ 52 453.4

USD

319 202.7

269 911.9

+ 49 290.8

JPY

76 883.9

75 894.3

+ 989.6

GBP

58 683.1

52 367.5

+ 6 315.6

CAD

25 701.8

22 579.6

+ 3 122.2

KRW

13 975.1

13 499.4

+ 475.7

AUD

11 900.5

11 747.4

+ 153.1

CNY

8 954.8

7 706.0

+ 1 248.8

DKK

7 650.3

7 065.8

+ 584.5

SEK

4 045.5

3 445.2

+ 600.3

SGD

3 277.9

3 403.9

– 126.0

Other

11 280.9

10 403.1

+ 877.8

Total

910 001.0

794 015.3

+ 115 985.7

Governments
Monetary institutions 1
Corporations
Total

Change

1	BIS, central banks and multilateral development banks.

Breakdown by currency1 in CHF millions

1	Excluding foreign exchange derivatives.
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RESERVE POSITION IN THE IMF

Item 03

In CHF millions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

7 396.6

7 755.1

– 358.5

– 5 851.4

– 6 806.4

+ 955.0

1 545.2

948.7

+ 596.5

Loan based on New Arrangements
to Borrow (NAB)3

304.4

420.0

– 115.6

Total reserve position in the IMF

1 849.6

1 368.7

+ 480.9

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

7 101.0

7 444.6

– 343.6

304.4

420.0

– 115.6

6 796.6

7 024.6

– 228.0

Swiss quota in the IMF 1
Less: IMF’s Swiss franc sight
deposit at the SNB 2
Claim from participation in the IMF

1	SDR 5,771.1 million; change due entirely to exchange rates.
2	Corresponds to the untransferred portion of the quota.
3	Including accrued interest.

Details: New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB)1 in CHF millions

Lending commitment 2
Amount drawn
Amount not drawn

1	Maximum lending commitments totalling SDR 5,540.7 million, arising from liabilities from NAB, in favour
of the IMF for special cases; revolving and without a federal guarantee (cf. accountability report,
chapter 7.2.1).
2	Change due entirely to exchange rates.
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INTERNATIONAL PAYMENT INSTRUMENTS

Item 04

In CHF millions

SDRs from allocation 1
SDRs purchased / sold (net)
Total

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

4 214.0

4 417.9

– 203.9

149.9

– 37.3

+ 187.2

4 363.9

4 380.6

– 16.7

1	Corresponds to the IMF’s allocation of SDR 3,288 million. The liability entered into with the allocation is
stated in the balance sheet under counterpart of SDRs allocated by the IMF.

Details: Exchange arrangement for international payment instruments (voluntary trading arrangement) 1
in CHF millions

Purchase / sale commitment 2
SDRs purchased
SDRs sold
Total commitment 3

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

2 107.0

2 208.9

– 101.9

– 149.9

–

– 149.9

–

37.3

– 37.3

1 957.1

2 246.2

– 289.1

1	The SNB has committed to purchasing or selling SDRs against foreign currencies (USD, EUR) up to an
agreed maximum of SDR 1,644 million.
2	Change due entirely to exchange rates.
3	Maximum purchase commitment.
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MONETARY ASSISTANCE LOANS

Item 05

In CHF millions

Claims from PRGT loan 1, 2
Claims from interim PRGT loan 1, 2
Claims from bilateral loans

2

Total

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

819.1

176.2

+ 642.9

0.4

3.4

– 3.0

88.1

96.7

– 8.6

907.6

276.2

+ 631.4

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

1	Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust of the IMF.
2	Including accrued interest.

Details: Drawn lending commitments in CHF millions

Lending commitment to PRGT 1, 2

1 281.6

1 343.6

– 62.0

Amount drawn

818.5

175.4

+ 643.1

Amount repaid

–

–

–

819.1

176.2

+ 642.9

463.1

1 168.2

– 705.1

320.4

335.9

– 15.5

Amount drawn

320.4

335.9

– 15.5

Amount repaid

320.0

332.6

– 12.6

0.4

3.4

– 3.0

–

–

–

Claims

3

Amount not yet drawn
Lending commitment to interim PRGT 1, 2

Claims

3

Amount not yet drawn
Lending commitment from bilateral loans 2, 4

176.1

193.4

– 17.3

Amount drawn

88.1

96.7

– 8.6

Amount repaid

–

–

–

88.1

96.7

– 8.6

88.1

96.7

– 8.6

Claims

3

Amount not yet drawn

1	Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust of the IMF; limited-term lending commitment to the PRGT, not revolving
and with a federally guaranteed repayment of principal and payment of interest. PRGT SDR 1,000 million
and interim PRGT SDR 250 million.
2	Change due entirely to exchange rates.
3	Including accrued interest.
4	Lending commitment to the National Bank of Ukraine in the maximum amount of USD 200 million;
not revolving and with a federally guaranteed repayment of principal and payment of interest.
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SWISS FRANC SECURITIES

Item 06

Breakdown by borrower category in CHF millions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

Governments

1 615.7

1 638.3

– 22.6

Corporations

2 457.2

2 436.0

+ 21.2

Total

4 072.9

4 074.3

– 1.4

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

932.0

974.2

– 42.2

Breakdown of governments borrower category in CHF millions

Swiss Confederation
Cantons and municipalities

490.2

509.9

– 19.7

Foreign states 1

193.4

154.1

+ 39.3

1 615.7

1 638.3

– 22.6

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

1 882.4

1 780.3

+ 102.1

44.4

51.8

– 7.4

530.4

603.8

– 73.4

2 457.2

2 436.0

+ 21.2

Total
1	Including public authorities.

Breakdown of corporations borrower category in CHF millions

Domestic mortgage bond institutions
Other domestic corporations 1
Foreign corporations
Total

2

1	Primarily international organisations with their head office in Switzerland.
2	Banks, international organisations and other corporations.
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TANGIBLE ASSETS

Item 07

In CHF millions

Land and
buildings 1

Fixed
assets
under construction

Software

Sundry
tangible
assets 2

Total

689.9

8.1

79.1

77.0

854.1

Additions

0.8

9.0

5.6

11.4

26.8

Disposals

–

–

– 0.2

– 6.7

– 6.9

6.9

– 10.6

0.7

3.0

697.6

6.5

85.2

84.7

874.0

279.2

69.7

55.4

404.3

20.5

7.1

11.0

38.5

Disposals

–

– 0.2

– 6.7

– 6.9

Reclassified

–

–

–

299.7

76.6

59.7

436.0

Historical cost
1 January 2020

Reclassified
31 December 2020
Cumulative value
adjustments
1 January 2020
Scheduled depreciation

31 December 2020
Net book values
1 January 2020

410.6

8.1

9.5

21.6

449.8

31 December 2020

397.8

6.5

8.6

25.1

438.0

1	Insured value: CHF 622.4 million.
2	Insured value: CHF 65.9 million.
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Tangible assets from previous year in CHF millions

Land and
buildings 1

Fixed
assets
under construction

Software

Sundry
tangible
assets 2

Total

Historical cost
1 January 2019

638.5

35.8

73.2

74.6

822.1

Additions

2.3

28.9

7.0

9.4

47.6

Disposals

– 0.8

–

– 1.0

– 13.8

– 15.7

Reclassified

49.9

– 56.6

–

6.7

689.9

8.1

79.1

77.0

854.1

64.0

60.4

386.6

31 December 2019
Cumulative value
adjustments
1 January 2019

262.2

Scheduled depreciation

17.8

6.7

8.8

33.3

Disposals

– 0.8

– 1.0

– 13.8

– 15.7

–

–

–

279.2

69.7

55.4

404.3

Reclassified
31 December 2019
Net book values
1 January 2019

376.3

35.8

9.1

14.3

435.5

31 December 2019

410.6

8.1

9.5

21.6

449.8

1	Insured value: CHF 599.1 million.
2	Insured value: CHF 63.7 million.
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PARTICIPATIONS

Item 08

In CHF millions

BIS 1

Equity interest
Book value as at
1 January 2019

Orell Landqart 3
Füssli 2

3%

33%

97%

90.2

41.4

19.4

Other

Total

0.0

151.0

Investments

–

–

–

–

–

Divestments

–

–

–

–

–

Valuation changes

–

3.6

– 19.4

–

– 15.8

Book value as at
31 December 2019

90.2

45.0

0.0

0.0

135.3

Book value as at
1 January 2020

90.2

45.0

0.0

0.0

135.3

–

–

–

–

–

Investments
Divestments

–

–

–

–

–

Valuation changes

–

– 1.2

–

–

– 1.2

90.2

43.8

0.0

0.0

134.0

Book value as at
31 December 2020

1	Interest in the BIS, based in Basel, is held for reasons of monetary policy collaboration.
2	Orell Füssli Ltd, based in Zurich, which produces Switzerland’s banknotes.
3	Landqart AG, based in Landquart, which manufactures the special paper for the new Swiss banknote
series. The SNB provided a cash injection of CHF 10.5 million in 2020 (2019: CHF 15.0 million and
participation written off in full, cf. p. 204, item 18). The equity interest thus increased from 95% to 97%.

OTHER ASSETS

Item 09

In CHF millions

Coins 1
Foreign banknotes

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

260.8

217.5

+ 43.3

0.7

1.0

– 0.3

Other accounts receivable

103.3

94.8

+ 8.5

Prepayments and accrued income

125.9

118.8

+ 7.1

Positive replacement values

2

Total

454.9

184.2

+ 270.7

945.6

616.3

+ 329.3

1	Coins acquired from Swissmint destined for circulation.
2	Unrealised gains on financial instruments and on outstanding spot transactions (cf. item 26, p. 210).
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BANKNOTES IN CIRCULATION

Item 10

Breakdown by series1 in CHF millions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

9th series

52 470.5

37 645.0

+ 14 825.5

8th series

35 501.9

45 750.6

– 10 248.7

6th series

1 041.3

1 054.5

– 13.2

89 013.6

84 450.1

+ 4 563.5

Total

1	For information on the recall and exchange of banknotes, cf. accountability report, chapter 3.3. The seventh
banknote series, which was created as a reserve series, was never put into circulation.

LIABILITIES TOWARDS THE CONFEDERATION

Item 11

In CHF millions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

Sight liabilities

12 755.3

22 481.5

– 9 726.2

Term liabilities

1 000.0

1 000.0

–

13 755.3

23 481.5

– 9 726.2

Total

OTHER SIGHT LIABILITIES

Item 12

In CHF millions

Sight deposits of non-banks 1
Deposit accounts
Total

2

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

31 755.3

31 614.9

+ 140.4

405.6

382.5

+ 23.1

32 160.9

31 997.4

+ 163.5

1	Clearing offices, insurance corporations, etc.
2	Primarily accounts of employees and retirees. Also contains current account liabilities towards the SNB
pension fund of CHF 38.3 million (2019: CHF 40.5 million).
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FOREIGN CURRENCY LIABILITIES

Item 13

In CHF millions

31.12.2020
Sight liabilities 1

31.12.2019

Change

18.5

12.8

+ 5.7

Liabilities from repo transactions 2

9 554.5

13 301.9

– 3 747.4

Total

9 573.0

13 314.7

– 3 741.7

1	Contains current account liabilities towards the SNB pension fund of CHF 1.3 million (2019: CHF 1.8
million).
2	Relating to the management of foreign currency investments.

OTHER LIABILITIES

Item 14

In CHF millions

Other accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and deferred income
Negative replacement values

1

Total

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

15.9

21.7

– 5.8

18.3

18.4

– 0.1

353.7

197.4

+ 156.3

387.9

237.5

+ 150.4

1	Unrealised losses on financial instruments and on outstanding spot transactions (cf. item 26, p. 210).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Item 15

Shares 1

Share capital in CHF
Nominal value in CHF
Number of shares

2020

2019

2018

25 000 000

25 000 000

25 000 000

250

250

250

100 000

100 000

100 000

Ticker symbol / ISIN 2
Closing price on 31 December in CHF
Market capitalisation in CHF

SNBN / CH0001319265
4 680

5 390

4 150

468 000 000

539 000 000

415 000 000

Annual high in CHF

6 260

5 980

9 760

Annual low in CHF

3 280

4 000

3 900

97

90

177

Average daily trading volume
in number of shares

1	Swiss GAAP FER 31 requires the presentation of earnings per share. This has no informative value in view
of the special statutory provisions for the SNB. Shareholders’ rights are determined by the NBA and their
dividends, in particular, may not exceed 6% of share capital (with a nominal value of CHF 250 per share,
a maximum of CHF 15); the Confederation is entitled to one-third and the cantons to two-thirds of the
remaining distributable profit. Therefore, no presentation of earnings per share is made.
2	Listed in the Swiss Reporting Standard on SIX Swiss Exchange.
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Breakdown of share ownership as at 31 December 2020
Cantons

Cantonal
banks

Other public
law
corporations /
institutions 1

Total
public sector
shareholders

Private
shareholders

Total

26

23

25

74

2 389

2 463

Voting shares

38 882

11 116

368

50 366

15 359

65 725

In percent

59.16%

16.91%

0.56%

76.63%

23.37%

100.00%

34 275

34 275

22 557

22 557

2 641

2 641

9 077

9 077

49 634 5

100 000

Registered shareholders

Non-voting shares
Of which shares pending registration
of transfer 2
Of which registered shares held in trust

3

Of which shares with statutory limitation
of voting rights 4
Total shares

38 882

11 116

368

50 366

1	Other public law corporations include 21 municipalities.
2	Shares pending registration of transfer are registered shares not entered in the share register.
3	Registered shares held in trust are shares held on behalf of the beneficiary by a bank or asset manager, where the bank or asset manager is listed in the share
register without voting rights.
4	Voting rights are limited to a maximum of 100 shares. This limitation shall not apply to Swiss public law corporations and institutions or to cantonal banks
pursuant to art. 3a of the Federal Act of 8 November 1934 on Banks and Savings Banks (in accordance with art. 26 para. 2 NBA). In 2020, 26 shareholders,
each with more than 100 shares, were affected by the statutory limitation of voting rights.
5	Of which 9,846 shares are in foreign ownership (accounting for 3.18% of voting rights).

Principal shareholders: Public law sector

Number
of shares

31.12.2020
Participation

Number
of shares

31.12.2019
Participation

Canton of Berne

6 630

6.63%

6 630

6.63%

Canton of Zurich

5 200

5.20%

5 200

5.20%

Canton of Vaud

3 401

3.40%

3 401

3.40%

Canton of St Gallen

3 002

3.00%

3 002

3.00%

Principal shareholders: Private individuals 1

Number
of shares
Theo Siegert, Düsseldorf

5 039

31.12.2020
Participation

5.04%

Number
of shares
5 074

1	Subject to legal restrictions as a shareholder outside the public law sector (art. 26 NBA), i.e. voting rights are limited to 100 shares.
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31.12.2019
Participation

5.07%

NET RESULT FROM FOREIGN CURRENCY POSITIONS

Item 16

Breakdown by origin in CHF millions

Foreign currency investments
Reserve position in the IMF
International payment instruments
Monetary assistance loans
Total

2020

2019

Change

13 395.2

40 343.2

– 26 948.0

– 70.1

– 12.2

– 57.9

– 4.6

0.0

– 4.6

– 34.1

2.6

– 36.7

13 286.3

40 333.6

– 27 047.3

2020

2019

Change

7 976.4

9 202.3

– 1 225.9

12 098.7

12 696.5

– 597.8

Breakdown by type in CHF millions

Interest income
Price gain / loss on interest-bearing paper
and instruments
Interest expenses

– 29.7

– 92.5

+ 62.8

Dividend income

3 381.0

3 695.1

– 314.1

27 601.9

32 944.7

– 5 342.8

– 37 709.3

– 18 076.3

– 19 633.0

– 32.6

– 36.1

+ 3.5

13 286.3

40 333.6

– 27 047.3

Price gain / loss on equity securities
and instruments
Exchange rate gain / loss
Asset management, safe custody
and other fees
Total
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Breakdown of overall net result by currency in CHF millions

2020

2019

Change

EUR

4 415.7

– 1 396.5

+ 5 812.2

USD

9 244.4

31 426.3

– 22 181.9

JPY

– 610.8

2 254.8

– 2 865.6

GBP

– 1 830.7

3 248.0

– 5 078.7

CAD

– 138.1

2 175.8

– 2 313.9

KRW

464.2

– 159.3

+ 623.5

AUD

593.0

936.8

– 343.8

CNY

174.9

33.8

+ 141.1

DKK

466.6

103.7

+ 362.9

SEK

435.7

217.8

+ 217.9

SGD

– 147.8

154.1

– 301.9

SDR

– 100.2

– 7.6

– 92.6

Other

319.5

1 345.9

– 1 026.4

Total

13 286.3

40 333.6

– 27 047.3

2020

2019

Change

EUR

– 96.2

– 11 800.7

+ 11 704.5

USD

– 28 474.3

– 4 851.4

– 23 622.9

JPY

– 2 852.0

– 705.5

– 2 146.5

GBP

– 2 837.2

724.1

– 3 561.3

CAD

– 1 591.1

589.2

– 2 180.3

KRW

– 400.0

– 801.9

+ 401.9

AUD

25.7

– 280.7

+ 306.4

CNY

– 248.4

– 298.1

+ 49.7

DKK

5.6

– 275.3

+ 280.9

SEK

157.1

– 178.4

+ 335.5

SGD

– 248.6

– 23.3

– 225.3

SDR

– 107.7

– 25.0

– 82.7

Breakdown of exchange rate gain / loss by currency in CHF millions

202

Other

– 1 042.2

– 149.4

– 892.8

Total

– 37 709.3

– 18 076.3

– 19 633.0
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NET RESULT FROM SWISS FRANC POSITIONS

Item 17

Breakdown by origin in CHF millions

2020

2019

Change

1 377.6

1 938.2

– 560.6

42.4

122.0

– 79.6

Liquidity-providing Swiss franc
repo transactions

– 28.9

– 0.1

– 28.8

Liquidity-absorbing Swiss franc
repo transactions

–

–

–

– 57.4

–

– 57.4

–

–

–

Negative interest on sight deposit
account balances
Swiss franc securities

Secured loans
Liabilities towards the Confederation
SNB debt certificates

–

–

–

– 1.1

– 1.3

+ 0.2

1 332.6

2 058.8

– 726.2

2020

2019

Change

1 377.6

1 938.2

– 560.6

– 47.3

44.3

– 91.6

Price gain / loss on interest-bearing paper
and instruments

11.5

84.8

– 73.3

Interest expenses

– 1.1

– 1.3

+ 0.2

Trading, safe custody and other fees

– 8.1

– 7.3

– 0.8

1 332.6

2 058.8

– 726.2

Other Swiss franc positions
Total

Breakdown by type in CHF millions

Negative interest on sight deposit
account balances
Interest income

Total
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NET RESULT, OTHER

Item 18

In CHF millions

2020
Commission income

2019

Change

3.0

3.0

0.0

Commission expenses

– 2.8

– 3.1

+ 0.3

Result from participations 1

– 7.8

– 21.1

+ 13.3

Income from real estate

1.6

2.1

– 0.5

Other income

0.2

0.4

– 0.2

– 5.8

– 18.6

+ 12.8

Total

1	Includes for 2020 a cash injection of CHF 10.5 million for Landqart AG (2019: CHF 15.0 million and
participation written off in full; cf. item 08, p. 196).

PERSONNEL EXPENSES 1

Item 19

Breakdown by type in CHF millions

Wages, salaries and allowances
Social security expenses
Other personnel expenses 2
Total

2020

2019

Change

141.0

136.2

+ 4.8

33.4

32.6

+ 0.8

7.6

8.4

– 0.8

182.0

177.1

+ 4.9

1	In terms of full-time equivalents, the number of employees averaged 865 for 2020 (2019: 853).
2	Various social benefits; expenses for staff development, training and recruitment; events, etc.
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Remuneration for members of the Bank Council1 (including employer social security contributions)
in CHF thousands

2020
Total

2019
Total 3

Change

58.5

229.1

169.3

+ 59.8

–

–

69.6

– 69.6

Total
remuneration
(gross)

Employer
contributions,
pension plans
and OASI, VAT 2

Barbara Janom Steiner, President 4, 5 (since
1.5.2019)

170.6

Jean Studer, President 4, 5 (until 30.4.2019)

–
77.6

4.5

82.1

82.4

– 0.3

Vania Alleva (since 1.5.2019)

45.0

3.5

48.5

32.3

+ 16.2

Christoph Ammann (since 1.5.2019)

45.0

–

45.0

30.0

+ 15.0

Monika Bütler

50.6

3.2

53.8

53.8

–

56.2

4.1

60.3

63.5

– 3.2

Olivier Steimer, Vice President

4, 5

4, 7

Heinz Karrer 6
Daniel Lampart 7 (until 30.4.2019)
Christoph Lengwiler 6
Shelby Robert du Pasquier
Ernst Stocker 6
Cédric Pierre Tille
Christian Vitta
Total

5, 7

7

–

–

–

19.2

– 19.2

65.2

4.2

69.4

72.2

– 2.8

62.4

4.0

66.4

63.3

+ 3.1

50.6

3.9

54.5

63.5

– 9.0

56.2

3.6

59.8

56.7

+ 3.1

45.0

–

45.0

45.0

–

724.4

89.4

813.8

820.9

– 7.1

1	In accordance with SNB regulations; participation in committee meetings not held on the same day as Bank Council meetings is compensated
at a rate of CHF 2,800 per meeting. Special assignments are compensated at a rate of CHF 2,800 per day or CHF 1,400 per half-day.
2	If transferred to the Bank Council member’s employer, value added tax may, where applicable, be paid instead of social security contributions.
3	Previous year’s figures adjusted for comparability.
4	Member of Compensation Committee.
5	Member of Nomination Committee.
6	Member of Audit Committee.
7	Member of Risk Committee.

Remuneration for members of the Regional Economic Councils in CHF thousands

Chairpersons 1
Members

2

2020

2019

Change

60.0

60.0

–

108.0

108.0

–

1	Remuneration per chairperson (8 persons in total): CHF 7,500 gross per year.
2	Remuneration per member (19 persons in total, one of whom has opted to forgo compensation):
CHF 6,000 gross per year.
The list of Regional Economic Councils can be found on p. 227.	
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Remuneration for members of executive management1 (excluding employer social security contributions) in CHF thousands

Miscellaneous 2

2020
Total
remuneration

2019
Total
remuneration

Change

Salaries (gross)

2 744.2

90.9

2 835.1

2 799.9

+ 35.2

Thomas J. Jordan, Chairman 3

914.7

30.3

945.0

933.3

+ 11.7

Fritz Zurbrügg, Vice Chairman

914.7

30.3

945.0

933.3

+ 11.7

Andréa M. Maechler

914.7

30.3

945.0

933.3

+ 11.7

Three members of the Governing Board

Three alternate members
of the Governing Board 4, 5

1 420.7

66.9

1 487.6

1 623.5

– 135.9

Total

4 164.9

157.8

4 322.7

4 423.3

– 100.6

2020
Total

2019
Total

Change

Remuneration for members of executive management1 (including employer social security contributions) in CHF thousands

Three members of the Governing Board

Total
remuneration

Employer
contributions,
pension plans
and OASI

2 835.1

878.8

3 713.9

3 672.5

+ 41.4

Thomas J. Jordan, Chairman 3

945.0

305.3

1 250.3

1 236.5

+ 13.8

Fritz Zurbrügg, Vice Chairman

945.0

305.3

1 250.3

1 236.5

+ 13.8

Andréa M. Maechler

945.0

268.2

1 213.2

1 199.4

+ 13.8

Three alternate members
of the Governing Board 4, 5

1 487.6

420.9

1 908.5

2 045.2

– 136.7

Total

4 322.7

1 299.7

5 622.3

5 717.6

– 95.3

1	All remuneration is specified in SNB regulations (cf. also ‘Corporate governance’, p. 154).
2	Representation expenses, General Abonnement travel card, jubilee benefits and further compensation in accordance with regulations.
3	Excluding remuneration in the amount of CHF 73,178 for serving as member of the Board of Directors at the BIS.
4	In addition to the remuneration of the serving members of the Board of Deputies, the figure for the 2019 financial year includes a compensation payment
of three months’ salary for a member who left the Board of Deputies in 2018.
5	Excluding remuneration in the amount of CHF 37,885 for an alternate member of the Governing Board for serving as member of the Board of Directors of Orell Füssli Ltd.
Like all employees, members of executive management are entitled to reduced-rate mortgage loans granted by the SNB pension fund as well as to preferential	
interest rates on the credit balances of their SNB staff accounts. No additional remuneration as defined by art. 663bbis para. 1 CO was paid.
	
Of the members of executive management, Dewet Moser, Alternate Member of the Governing Board, held one SNB share as at 31 December 2020	
(no change compared to previous year). In addition, as at 31 December 2020, a party related to Thomas J. Jordan, Chairman of the Governing Board, 	
held one SNB share (no change compared to previous year).	
In accordance with the ‘Code of Conduct for members of the Bank Council’, members of the Bank Council may not hold shares in the SNB.	
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 1, 2

Item 20

Share of overfunding / underfunding of pension plans3 in CHF millions

Overfunding / underfunding in accordance with
Swiss GAAP FER 26 3, 4
SNB’s share of overfunding / underfunding in
accordance with Swiss GAAP FER 16

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

57.5

50.7

+ 6.8

–

–

–

1	The pension fund does not have any employer contribution reserves.
2	The pension fund by-laws contain a restructuring clause. The clause will come into effect if it appears likely
that the pension fund coverage ratio will drop below 100%. In such a case, a restructuring concept must
be drawn up to ensure that the shortfall in coverage can be remedied within a reasonable timeframe with the
support of the SNB. The restructuring clause ensures a long-term solution to the problem of a shortfall.
3	The overfunding recorded as at 31 December 2020 is unaudited at the time of reporting.
4	Coverage ratio in accordance with art. 44 of the Ordinance on Occupational Old Age, Survivors’ and Invalidity
Pension Provision (BVV2) is 127.5% as at 31 December 2020, and is unaudited at the time of reporting.
Employee benefit expenses in CHF millions

Employer contributions
Change in share of overfunding / underfunding
Employee benefit expenses as part
of personnel expenses

2020

2019

Change

23.4

22.9

+ 0.6

–

–

–

23.4

22.9

+ 0.6

GENERAL OVERHEADS

Item 21

In CHF millions

Premises
Maintenance of mobile tangible
assets and software
Consulting and other third-party support
Administrative expenses
Contributions

2

Other general overheads
Total

1

2020

2019

Change

25.6

18.7

+ 6.9

20.6

19.8

+ 0.8

41.2

39.9

+ 1.3

20.5

23.9

– 3.4

5.8

7.1

– 1.3

11.4

11.9

– 0.5

125.0

121.4

+ 3.6

1	Auditing fees for the 2020 financial year totalled CHF 0.3 million (2019: CHF 0.3 million). The External
Auditor did not provide any consulting services (2019: none).
2	Mainly contributions towards the Study Center Gerzensee (SNB foundation).
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4.3 NOTES REGARDING OFF-BALANCE-SHEET BUSINESS
LIQUIDITY-SHORTAGE FINANCING FACILITY

Item 22

The liquidity-shortage financing facility is a credit line for eligible counterparties
to bridge unexpected short-term liquidity bottlenecks. Liquidity can be
drawn by way of special-rate repo transactions. The amounts stated are the
maximum amounts that can be drawn.
In CHF millions

Lending commitment

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

36 840.5

39 432.0

– 2 591.5

–

–

–

36 840.5

39 432.0

– 2 591.5

Amount drawn
Amount not drawn

COMMITMENTS GRANTED IN THE CONTEXT
OF INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

Item 23

Commitments to the IMF include irrevocable lending commitments and
other commitments which the SNB has granted in the context of international
cooperation. The amounts stated are the maximum liabilities arising from
these commitments.
Overview: Undrawn lending commitments and exchange arrangement for international payment
instruments in CHF millions

New Arrangements to Borrow (NAB)1
Lending commitment to PRGT

2

Bilateral lending commitment to
National Bank of Ukraine 2

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

6 796.6

7 024.6

– 228.0

463.1

1 168.2

– 705.1

88.1

96.7

– 8.6

8 500.0

8 500.0

–

Total undrawn lending commitments

15 847.8

16 789.5

– 941.7

Exchange arrangement for international
payment instruments (voluntary trading
arrangement)4

1 957.1

2 246.2

– 289.1

Bilateral lending commitment to IMF 3

1	For further details, cf. item 03, p. 190.
2	For further details, cf. item 05, p. 192.
3	Bilateral lending commitment to the IMF in the maximum amount of CHF 8.5 billion; revolving and
with a federally guaranteed repayment of principal and payment of interest (cf. accountability report,
chapter 7.2.1).
4	For further details, cf. item 04, p. 191.
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OTHER LIABILITIES NOT CARRIED ON BALANCE SHEET

Item 24

In CHF millions

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

Additional funding for the BIS 1

82.8

86.8

– 4.0

Liabilities from long-term rental,
maintenance and leasing contracts 2

51.6

57.9

– 6.3

134.3

144.7

– 10.4

Total

1	BIS shares are 25% paid up. The additional funding obligation is calculated in SDRs.
2	Including leasehold interest on Metropol building in Zurich.

ASSETS PLEDGED OR ASSIGNED AS COLLATERAL
FOR SNB LIABILITIES

Item 25

In CHF millions

Book value

31.12.2020
Liabilities or
amount
drawn

Book value

31.12.2019
Liabilities or
amount
drawn

Foreign currency investments
in EUR

8 053.4

7 035.1

9 687.3

8 457.8

Foreign currency investments
in USD

857.1

175.1

3 293.4

3 299.7

Foreign currency investments
in GBP

2 351.7

2 344.2

1 542.7

1 544.3

11 262.2

9 554.5

14 523.4

13 301.9

Total

1

1	Mainly collateral lodged in connection with repo transactions and futures.
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Item 26

OUTSTANDING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 1
In CHF millions

Contract
value

Interest rate instruments

120 037.1

31.12.2020
Replacement value
Positive

Negative

157.3

140.5

Contract
value

215 162.9

31.12.2019
Replacement value
Positive

Negative

134.4

136.5

–

–

–

–

–

–

Forward contracts 1

44.3

0.2

0.0

1 157.0

0.2

0.7

Interest rate swaps

63 749.6

155.6

140.1

117 753.9

131.3

131.1

Futures

56 243.2

1.6

0.3

96 252.0

2.8

4.7

Foreign exchange

22 538.9

234.7

209.4

10 237.9

48.1

41.6

Forward contracts 1

20 513.5

234.7

205.3

9 043.2

48.1

39.6

2 025.3

0.0

4.0

1 194.8

0.0

2.0

14 151.4

61.4

0.0

7 140.5

1.1

5.3

Repo transactions in CHF

Options
Equities / indices

2

0.7

0.0

0.0

1.1

0.0

0.0

14 150.7

61.4

–

7 139.3

1.1

5.3

Credit instruments

249.6

1.5

3.9

531.5

0.7

14.0

Credit default swaps

249.6

1.5

3.9

531.5

0.7

14.0

156 976.9

454.9

353.7

233 072.8

184.2

197.4

Forward contracts

1

Futures

Total

1	Including spot transactions with value date in the new year.
2	Only transactions to be settled in the new year.
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FIDUCIARY INVESTMENTS

Item 27

Fiduciary business covers investments which the SNB makes in its own name
but on the basis of a written contract exclusively for the account of and at
the risk of the counterparty (mainly the Confederation). The transactions are
stated at nominal value inclusive of accrued interest.
In CHF millions

Fiduciary investments for the Confederation
Other fiduciary investments
Total

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

Change

1 153.3

1 051.1

+ 102.2

6.9

6.3

+ 0.6

1 160.1

1 057.4

+ 102.7
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5
Report of the External Auditor
for the General Meeting of
Shareholders
REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of the Swiss
National Bank, which comprise the balance sheet, income statement,
statement of changes in equity and notes (pp. 175 – 211 of the financial report)
for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Bank Council’s responsibility

The Bank Council is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements
in accordance with the requirements of Swiss law and the accounting principles
detailed in the notes. Unless otherwise stated, the accounting principles are
based on the Swiss GAAP FER standards. Departures from Swiss GAAP FER
occur only if the special nature of the Swiss National Bank needs to be taken into
account. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Bank
Council is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss
Auditing Standards. These standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making these risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control
system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020
comply with Swiss law and give a true and fair view of the financial position and
the results of operations in accordance with the accounting and valuation
principles detailed in the notes.

Opinion

REPORT ON KEY AUDIT MATTERS BASED ON THE CIRCULAR 1/2015
OF THE FEDERAL AUDIT OVERSIGHT AUTHORITY
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter: In absolute figures, foreign currency investments constitute the
Swiss National Bank’s most important balance sheet position. Due to their
composition and amount, even small changes to the negotiable securities prices
and the Swiss franc exchange rates can lead to material effects on the valuation
in the balance sheet as well as on gross income, and therefore also on the Swiss
National Bank’s equity. Therefore, the valuation of the negotiable securities
within foreign currency investments was considered to be an area of focus in
our audit.

Foreign currency investments

Our audit approach for the foreign currency investments comprised, among
others, the following main audit procedures: we compared the valuation
of the negotiable securities (money market instruments, bonds and equities)
included within foreign currency investments with reference values that we
obtained by applying our own valuation approach. The valuation methodology
we used took into account, among other things, market liquidity and other
characteristics relevant to the valuation of the individual negotiable securities.
Further, we tested the valuation approach used in the relevant IT applications.
Further information on foreign currency investments can be found in items
02 and 25 of the notes to the annual financial statements.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the
Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence (art. 47 NBA in conjunction with
art. 728 CO and art. 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible
with our independence.
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In accordance with art. 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard
890, we confirm that an internal control system exists, which has been
designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions
of the Bank Council.
We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings
complies with the provisions of the National Bank Act and recommend that the
financial statements submitted to you be approved.

kpmg ltd

philipp rickert
Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge
Zurich, 26 February 2021
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carla scoca
Licensed Audit Expert
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Proposals of the Bank Council
to the General Meeting of Shareholders

At its meeting of 26 February 2021, the Bank Council approved the financial
report for 2020 for submission to the Federal Council and to the General
Meeting of Shareholders.
The External Auditor signed its report on 26 February 2021.
On 12 March 2021, the Federal Council approved the financial report.
The Bank Council presents the following proposals to the General Meeting
of Shareholders:
1. that the financial report for 2020 be approved;
2. that a dividend totalling CHF 1.5 million be paid to shareholders as part
of the profit appropriation;
3. that the Bank Council be granted discharge;
4. that Romeo Lacher, Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Julius Baer Group Ltd. and Bank Julius Baer & Co. Ltd. and
Christoph Mäder, President of economiesuisse, be elected
to the Bank Council for the remainder of the 2020 – 2024 term of office;
5. that KPMG Ltd be appointed as the External Auditor for
the 2021 – 2022 term of office.

APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT
In CHF millions

2020

Annual result (art. 29 NBA)

20 869.6

− Allocation to provisions for currency reserves
(art. 30 para. 1 NBA)

– 7 907.4

= Distributable annual result (art. 30 para. 2 NBA)

12 962.2

+ Profit carried forward
(distribution reserve before appropriation of profit)

83 982.4

= Net profit (art. 31 NBA)

96 944.6

− Payment of a dividend of 6% (art. 31 para. 1 NBA)

– 1.5

− Profit distribution to Confederation and cantons
(art. 31 para. 2 NBA)1

– 6 000.0

= Balance carried forward to 2021 financial statements
(distribution reserve after appropriation of profit)

90 943.1

1	Profit distribution agreement of 29 January 2021 between the Federal Department of Finance and the
Swiss National Bank.
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1
Chronicle of monetary events
in 2020

On 1 January, the partially revised Federal Act on Currency and Payment
Instruments (CPIA) comes into force. This revokes the deadline for
exchanging banknotes and allows for banknotes from the sixth series, issued
in 1976, and all subsequent series to be exchanged at the SNB at any time
(cf. p. 79).

January

On 9 January, the SNB announces that it plans to conclude a supplementary
agreement with the Federal Department of Finance (FDF) concerning the
profit distribution for 2019 and 2020. The reason for this is the high level of
the distribution reserve, in the amount of around CHF 86 billion, given the
expected annual profit of approximately CHF 49 billion (cf. Annual Report
2019, pp. 92, 155 and 159 – 160).
On 21 January, the SNB announces that it has joined the Bank of Canada,
the Bank of England, the Bank of Japan, the European Central Bank (ECB),
the Sveriges Riksbank and the Bank for International Settlements (BIS)
in creating a working group to share experiences as they assess the potential
cases for central bank digital currency (CBDC) in their home jurisdictions.
The working group is liaising closely with the Financial Stability Board and
the Committee on Payments and Market Infrastructures (CPMI) of the BIS,
in particular (cf. p. 122).
On 2 March, the SNB announces that in February the FDF and the SNB
entered into a supplementary agreement to the agreement of 9 November
2016 on the distribution of the SNB’s profits. The supplementary agreement
provides for an increase in the distributions to the Confederation and the
cantons for the 2019 and 2020 financial years of CHF 1 billion to CHF 3
billion, provided that the distribution reserve after the profit appropriation
exceeds the threshold of CHF 30 billion. If the distribution reserve after
appropriation of profit exceeds the threshold of CHF 40 billion, an additional
CHF 1 billion may be distributed. As a result, the total distribution comes
to CHF 4 billion (cf. Annual Report 2019, pp. 159– 160).

March

On 2 March, the SNB reports a profit of CHF 48.9 billion for 2019. For the
financial year just ended, it sets the allocation to the provisions for currency
reserves at CHF 5.9 billion. After taking into account the distribution reserve
of CHF 45.0 billion, net profit comes to CHF 88.0 billion. This allows the
payment of a dividend of CHF 15 per share, the legally stipulated maximum
amount, as well as a profit distribution to the Confederation and the cantons
of CHF 1 billion. Since the distribution reserve after appropriation of
profit exceeds CHF 20 billion, the Confederation and the cantons are also
entitled to a supplementary distribution of CHF 1 billion. Pursuant to the
supplementary agreement concluded with the FDF in February, an additional
distribution of CHF 2 billion is to be made. Of the total amount to be
distributed (CHF 4 billion), one-third accrues to the Confederation and twothirds to the cantons (cf. Annual Report 2019, pp. 159– 160).

220

Annual Report 2020, Selected information

On 15 March, the Bank of Canada, the Bank of England, the Bank of Japan,
the ECB, the US Federal Reserve (Fed) and the SNB announce a coordinated
action to enhance the provision of liquidity via the standing US dollar
liquidity swap arrangements. The pricing of operations will be lowered by 25
basis points and they will begin offering US dollars weekly with an 84-day
maturity. The changes will take effect from the week of 16 March (cf. p. 74).
The coronavirus pandemic is weighing heavily on the Swiss economy. At
its quarterly assessment of 19 March, the SNB decides to maintain its
expansionary monetary policy. It keeps the SNB policy rate and interest on
sight deposits at the SNB at – 0.75%. The SNB is intervening more strongly
in the foreign exchange market to contribute to the stabilisation of the
situation. To strengthen the banks in their role as credit providers during
these difficult times, the SNB raises the exemption threshold as of 1 April
2020, thus reducing the negative interest burden on the banking system.
The threshold factor increases from 25 to 30 (cf. pp. 46 et seq. and 66 ). With
a view to further increasing the banks’ room for manoeuvre, the SNB is
examining whether a relaxation of the countercyclical capital buffer would
be possible despite the risks on the mortgage and real estate markets
(cf. p. 109).
On 20 March, the Bank of Canada, the Bank of England, the Bank of Japan,
the ECB, the Fed and the SNB announce a coordinated action to enhance the
provision of liquidity via the standing US dollar liquidity swap arrangements.
They increase the frequency of seven-day maturity operations from weekly
to daily as of 23 March (cf. p. 74).
On 25 March, the SNB announces that, as part of a package of measures
it is compiling with the Confederation and the Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority (FINMA), it is setting up the new SNB COVID-19
refinancing facility (CRF) as of 26 March. The aim of the CRF is to
strengthen the supply of credit to the Swiss economy. The facility allows
banks to obtain liquidity from the SNB, which is secured by federally
guaranteed loans, at an interest rate of – 0.75%. The banks are thus able to
expand their lending rapidly and on a large scale and, at the same time, to
access the required liquidity. Under the CRF, the SNB can conduct additional
refinancing transactions in order to supply the banking system with further
liquidity if required. In order to ease the burden on the banking system, and
after consulting with FINMA, the SNB also submits a proposal to the Federal
Council requesting that the countercyclical capital buffer be reduced from
2% to 0% with immediate effect (cf. p. 47).
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On 11 May, the SNB announces that the CRF will be expanded. Effective
immediately, banks can now also obtain liquidity by assigning claims
secured by loan guarantees or credit default guarantees offered by cantons,
provided these have been granted in order to cushion the economic impact
of the coronavirus pandemic. Claims secured by joint and several guarantees
provided for startups by the federal government in cooperation with the
cantons are now likewise deemed to be eligible collateral (cf. p. 47).

May

On 15 May, the SNB announces its intention to communicate the statutory
recall of the eighth series banknotes two months in advance in the first
half of 2021. After their recall by the SNB, the banknotes lose their status as
legal tender. They can, however, be exchanged at the SNB counters in Berne
and Zurich or at an SNB agency for an unlimited period of time (cf. p. 79).
The coronavirus pandemic and the measures implemented to contain it
have led to a severe downturn in economic activity and a decline in inflation
both in Switzerland and abroad. At its quarterly assessment of 18 June, the
SNB decides to maintain its expansionary monetary policy. It keeps the SNB
policy rate and interest on sight deposits at the SNB at – 0.75% and remains
willing to intervene more strongly in the foreign exchange market.
Furthermore, under the CRF, the SNB is providing the banking system with
additional liquidity and thus supporting the supply of credit to the economy
at favourable terms. Since the launch of the CRF, the SNB has provided
the banks with approximately CHF 10 billion in liquidity at the SNB policy
rate of – 0.75% (cf. pp. 46 et seq. and 71).

June

In addition, the SNB presents its annual Financial Stability Report. The
pandemic is posing significant challenges for the Swiss banking sector.
Overall, Swiss banks are well positioned to deal with these challenges. They
have a solid capital base for managing the heightened risks caused by
the pandemic-related economic downturn. Capital and liquidity buffers in the
banking sector play a central role in enabling the banks to fulfil their function
as credit providers even in the event of a significant shock such as
a pandemic. Together with the Confederation’s guaranteed loan programme
and the CRF, these buffers should ensure that small and medium-sized
enterprises have access to loans to bridge liquidity shortfalls caused by the
pandemic (cf. p. 106 et seq.).
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On 19 June, the SNB announces that, in view of the improvements in
US dollar funding conditions and low demand, the Bank of England, the
Bank of Japan, the ECB and the SNB, in consultation with the Fed, have
jointly decided to reduce the frequency of their seven-day maturity US dollar
liquidity-providing operations as of 1 July from daily to three times per week
(cf. p. 75).
On 29 June, the SNB announces that, following the introduction of the CRF,
it has reviewed the interest rates for its standing facilities and adjusted the
calculation of the special rate for the liquidity-shortage financing facility as
of 1 July. The lower limit for the special rate will be reduced from at least
0.5% to at least 0% (cf. p. 72). In addition, the SNB announces that, from
1 July, it will be conducting additional open market operations as required to
selectively provide liquidity to the money market (cf. p. 67).
On 14 August, the SNB announces that it will conduct its second survey on
payment methods in Switzerland. The aim of the survey, to be carried out
over the coming months, is to obtain representative information on the Swiss
population’s use of various payment methods and to identify any possible
changes in this respect over time (cf. p. 78).

August

In view of continuing improvements in US dollar funding conditions and low
demand, the SNB announces on 20 August that the Bank of England, the
Bank of Japan, the ECB and the SNB, in consultation with the Fed, have jointly
decided to further reduce the frequency of their seven-day maturity
operations from three times per week to once per week. This operational
change is effective as of 1 September (cf. p. 75).
At the time of the SNB’s quarterly assessment of 24 September, the pandemic
continues to exert a strong influence on economic developments. The
SNB decides to maintain its expansionary monetary policy and keep the SNB
policy rate and interest on sight deposits at the SNB at – 0.75%. In view of
the fact that the Swiss franc is still highly valued, the SNB remains willing to
intervene more strongly in the foreign exchange market, while taking the
overall exchange rate situation into consideration. The SNB continues to
supply the banking system with generous amounts of liquidity via the CRF.
It is also active on the repo market as needed (cf. pp. 46 et seq.).
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In addition, the SNB announces that, from 30 September, it will be
publishing more detailed data on its money and foreign exchange market
operations. Regarding money market operations, the SNB will now publish
information on the conditions and volume of individual monetary policyrelated transactions at the end of each month for the previous month.
With respect to foreign exchange market operations, the volume of which has
hitherto been communicated annually in the accountability report, the
volume of interventions will now be disclosed at the end of each quarter for
the previous quarter (cf. p. 65).
On 9 October, the SNB, together with six other central banks and the BIS,
releases a report assessing the feasibility of publicly available central bank
digital currencies (CBDCs) in helping central banks deliver their public
policy objectives. The report outlines foundational principles and core
features of a CBDC, without prejudging any decision on whether or not to
introduce CBDCs in the relevant jurisdictions. The central banks will
continue to investigate CBDC feasibility without committing to issuance
(cf. p. 122).

October

On 30 October, the SNB announces that it is expanding its data offering with
respect to Switzerland’s financial accounts. It will now publish quarterly
as well as annual data. Furthermore, it is shortening the time to publication
from ten to four months (cf. p. 134).
December

The pandemic is continuing to have a strong adverse effect on the economy.
At its quarterly assessment of 17 December, the SNB decides to maintain
its expansionary monetary policy. It keeps the SNB policy rate and interest
on sight deposits at the SNB at – 0.75%. In light of the highly valued Swiss
franc, the SNB remains willing to intervene more strongly in the foreign
exchange market. In so doing, it takes the overall exchange rate situation into
consideration. Furthermore, it is continuing to supply generous amounts of
liquidity to the banking system via the CRF (cf. pp. 46 et seq.).

January 2021

On 29 January 2021, the SNB announces that it has signed a new agreement
with the FDF on the SNB’s profit distributions. Provided that the SNB’s
financial situation permits, an amount of up to CHF 6 billion per annum will
now be distributed to the Confederation and the cantons. The new agreement
governs the SNB’s profit distributions through to the 2025 financial year.
It already covers the 2020 financial year and thus retroactively replaces the
2016 – 2020 agreement and the supplementary agreement of 2020, which
together provided for a maximum distribution of CHF 4 billion (cf. pp. 101,
168 and 172).
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2
Bank supervisory and management
bodies, Regional Economic Councils
as at 1 January 2021

Bank Council
(2020 – 2024 term of office)

Barbara Janom Steiner

Attorney-at-law, President of the Bank Council,
Head of the Nomination Committee,
Member of the Compensation Committee, 2015/2020 1

* Olivier Steimer

Member of the board of directors at various companies,
Vice President of the Bank Council,
Head of the Compensation Committee,
Member of the Nomination Committee, 2009/2020 1

* Vania Alleva

Vice President of the Swiss Federation of Trade Unions
and President of the trade union Unia, 2019/2020 1

Christoph Ammann

Member of the Cantonal Government and
Head of the Department of Economic Affairs,
Energy and Environment of the Canton of Berne, 2019/2020 1

* Monika Bütler

Professor at the University of St. Gallen,
Member of the Compensation and Risk Committees, 2010/2020 1

* Heinz Karrer

Former President of economiesuisse (Swiss Business Federation),
Member of the Audit Committee, 2014/2020 1

Christoph Lengwiler

External lecturer at the Institute of Financial Services Zug IFZ
at Lucerne University of Applied Sciences and Arts,
Head of the Audit Committee, 2012/2020 1

Shelby R. du Pasquier

Attorney-at-law and Partner at Lenz & Staehelin,
Head of the Risk Committee, 2012/2020 1

Ernst Stocker

Member of the Cantonal Government and
Head of the Department of Finance of the Canton of Zurich,
Member of the Audit Committee, 2010/2020 1

* Cédric Pierre Tille

Christian Vitta

Professor at the Graduate Institute of International and
Development Studies, Geneva,
Member of the Nomination and Risk Committees, 2011/2020 1
Member of the Cantonal Government and
Head of the Department of Finance and
Economic Affairs of the Canton of Ticino, 2016/2020 1

In accordance with art. 40 para. 1 NBA, all members of the Bank Council hold Swiss citizenship.
* Elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
1 Assumption of office / re-election to the Bank Council.

Relevant affiliations of Bank Council members
Relevant affiliations of the Bank Council members are listed on the SNB website at
www.snb.ch, The SNB, Supervisory and executive bodies, Bank Council,
Members of the Bank Council.

External Auditor
(2020 – 2021 term of office)

KPMG Ltd
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Governing Board
(2015 – 2021 term of office)

Thomas J. Jordan

Chairman of the Governing Board,
Head of Department I, Zurich

Fritz Zurbrügg

Vice Chairman of the Governing Board,
Head of Department II, Berne

Andréa M. Maechler

Member of the Governing Board,
Head of Department III, Zurich

Enlarged Governing Board
(2015 – 2021 term of office)

Thomas J. Jordan

Chairman of the Governing Board,
Head of Department I, Zurich

Fritz Zurbrügg

Vice Chairman of the Governing Board,
Head of Department II, Berne

Andréa M. Maechler

Member of the Governing Board,
Head of Department III, Zurich

Martin R. Schlegel

Alternate Member of the Governing Board,
Department I, Zurich

Dewet Moser

Alternate Member of the Governing Board,
Department II, Berne

Thomas Moser

Alternate Member of the Governing Board,
Department III, Zurich

Board of Deputies
(2015 – 2021 term of office)

Martin R. Schlegel

Alternate Member of the Governing Board,
Department I, Zurich

Dewet Moser

Alternate Member of the Governing Board,
Department II, Berne

Thomas Moser

Alternate Member of the Governing Board,
Department III, Zurich

In accordance with art. 44 paras. 1 and 3 NBA, all members and alternate members of the Governing Board
hold Swiss citizenship and are resident in Switzerland.

Relevant affiliations of the Enlarged Governing Board
members
Relevant affiliations of the Enlarged Governing Board are listed on the SNB website at
www.snb.ch, The SNB, Supervisory and executive bodies, Enlarged Governing Board.
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Regional Economic Councils
(2020 – 2024 term of office)

Central Switzerland Thomas Herbert, Member of the Board of Directors of
The Globe Stores Ltd, Chairperson
Alain Grossenbacher, Owner and CEO of Eberli AG
Norbert Patt, CEO of Bergbahnen Engelberg-Trübsee-Titlis AG
Adrian Steiner, Member of the Board of Directors and
CEO of Thermoplan AG
Eastern Switzerland Christoph Tobler, Member of the Board and CEO of Sefar Holding Inc.,
Chairperson
Christoph Schmidt, Member of the Management Board of
Weisse Arena Group
Franziska A. Tschudi Sauber, Delegate of the Board of Directors
and CEO of Weidmann Holding AG
Michael Thüler, CEO of stürmsfs ag
Fribourg/Vaud/
Valais

Aude Pugin, CEO of APCO Technologies S.A., Chairperson
Alain Métrailler, Managing Director of Dénériaz SA Sion
Alain Berset, Chief Business Officer of WIFAG-Polytype Holding Ltd

Geneva/Jura/
Neuchâtel

Carole Hubscher Clements, President of the Board of
Caran d’Ache SA, Chairperson
Pierre Aebischer, Member of the Board of Directors and
Managing Director of isobar technologies Switzerland SA
Jean-Marc Thévenaz, Managing Director of easyJet Switzerland SA

Italian-speaking
Switzerland

Roberto Ballina, Member of the Board and CEO of Tensol Rail SA,
Chairperson
Riccardo Biaggi, Managing Partner of Fiduciaria Mega SA
Enzo Lucibello, President of DISTI – Distributori Ticinesi

Mittelland

Josef Maushart, Chairman of the Board and CEO of Fraisa Holding AG,
Chairperson
Mirko Feller, CEO of Emch + Berger AG, Berne
Martin Keller, Chairman of the Executive Board of
the fenaco cooperative
Urs Kessler, CEO of Jungfraubahn Holding AG

Northwestern
Switzerland

Stefano Patrignani, Managing Director of Migros Basel, Chairperson
Thomas Ernst, Chairman of the Board of Gruner AG
Thomas Knopf, CEO of Ultra-Brag Ltd
Monika Walser, Co-owner and CEO of de Sede AG

Zurich

Patrick Candrian, Co-owner of Candrian Hospitality Holding Ltd,
Chairperson
Marianne Janik, CEO of Microsoft Switzerland Ltd Liab.Co
Martin Hirzel, Member of the Board of Directors of
Bucher Industries Ltd, President of Swissmem
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3
Organisational chart
as at 1 January 2021

General Meeting of Shareholders	External Auditor

Bank Council	Internal Audit

Governing Board

Enlarged Governing Board

Board of Deputies

Department I

Secretariat General

Secretariat Supervisory and Management Bodies
Communications
Documentation
Research Coordination, Education and Sustainability

Economic Affairs

Monetary Policy Analysis
Forecast and Analysis Switzerland
Forecast and Analysis International
Economic Data Science
Regional Economic Relations

International Monetary Cooperation

Multilateral Coordination
International Policy Analysis
Bilateral Cooperation

Statistics

Balance of Payments and Swiss Financial Accounts
Banking Statistics
Publications and Data Banks

Legal Services
Compliance
Human Resources
Premises and Technical Services
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Department II

Financial Stability

Banking System
Systemically Important Banks
Oversight

Cash

Specialist Support
Procurement and Logistics
Cash Processing
Cash Circulation

Accounting
Controlling
Risk Management
Operational Risk and Security

Department III

Money Market and Foreign Exchange

Money Market
Foreign Exchange and Gold

Asset Management

Portfolio Management
Portfolio Trading

Banking Operations

Banking Operations Analysis
Middle Office
Back Office

Information Technology

Banking Applications
Economic Information Systems
Business Support Processes
Infrastructure

Central IT Services
Financial Market Analysis
Singapore
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4
Publications and other resources

www.snb.ch
The website provides information on the SNB’s organisation and
responsibilities as well as its statistics and publications. It also contains
information for the media, the financial markets, shareholders and the
general public. The website content is available in German, French, Italian
and English.

Websites

On its website, the SNB publishes press releases, speeches by members
of the Governing Board and, once a week, important monetary policy data.
The speeches by members of the Governing Board on monetary policy issues
are usually published in German, French or English, with a summary in
German, French, Italian and English.
The weekly ‘Important monetary policy data’ press release comprises the
SNB policy rate, SARON, the special rate, the interest rate on sight deposits
and the threshold factor. The data also include information on the sight
deposits at the SNB as well as the minimum reserve requirements and banks’
compliance with them.
Also to be found on the website is a glossary, which explains important terms
from the world of finance and monetary policy. The questions and answers
deal with topics relevant to the SNB.

data.snb.ch
On its data portal, the SNB provides an extensive range of data which are
relevant for monetary policy as well as for monitoring the economy. One of
the major datasets is the statistical data compiled by the SNB on banks and
financial markets, the balance of payments, direct investment, the international
investment position and the Swiss financial accounts. Since the end of
September 2020, the SNB has also been publishing more detailed data on its
money and foreign exchange market operations. The data portal comprises
a table selection with predefined tables and charts, datasets with supplementary
data series, and a resources section. This section contains information on
the data portal and an overview for each topic, briefly describing the range of
data available and the correlations. It also features focus articles that are
closely related to the published data.
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YouTube channel and Twitter
The SNB’s YouTube channel offers an extensive range of videos. There
are numerous films showing the design and security features as well
as the production process of the ninth banknote series. The film ‘The Swiss
National Bank – What it does and how it works’, which lasts about
15 minutes, takes a behind-the-scenes look at the SNB and its monetary
policy. The videos are available in German, French, Italian and English.
There are also recordings of the news conferences and general meetings of
shareholders (Web TV) as well as SNB research events (Research TV).
The YouTube channel and the individual videos can be accessed via the SNB
website.

Social media

The SNB provides details on Twitter in four languages about new
information and publications available on its website.

Annual Report
The Annual Report is published at the end of March (online) and
at the beginning of April (print) in German, French, Italian and English.

Publications

Quarterly Bulletin
The Quarterly Bulletin comprises the ‘Monetary policy report’ used for the
Governing Board’s quarterly monetary policy assessment and the ‘Business
cycle signals – Results of the SNB company talks’. The Quarterly Bulletin
is published at the end of March, June, September and December in German,
French and Italian (print and online) and English (online).
Financial Stability Report
The Financial Stability Report assesses the stability of Switzerland’s
banking sector. It is published annually in June in English, and in August
in German and French (print and online).
Direct Investment
The Direct Investment report is published annually in German, French and
English (print and online). It examines the developments in Switzerland’s
direct investments abroad as well as the changes in foreign direct investment
in Switzerland and is published each year in December.
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SNB Economic Studies, SNB Working Papers and
SNB Research Report
SNB Economic Studies (print and online) and SNB Working Papers (online
only) present articles on economic issues and research results. They are
typically published in English. The annual SNB Research Report provides
an overview of the SNB’s research activities in the past year (in English,
online only).
Sustainability Report
The Sustainability Report explains how the SNB puts the principle of
operational sustainability into practice in its interactions with employees,
society and the environment. It is published annually in March in German,
French, Italian and English (online only).
The Swiss National Bank in Brief
The Swiss National Bank in Brief gives an overview of the SNB’s tasks,
its organisation and the legal basis of its activities. It is published annually
in German, French, Italian and English (print and online).
The Swiss National Bank 1907 – 2007
The Swiss National Bank 1907 – 2007, a commemorative publication marking
the 100th anniversary of the Swiss National Bank, deals with the SNB’s
history and various monetary policy topics. All four language versions are
available on the SNB website at www.snb.ch, The SNB, History,
Publications. Commemorative publications in connection with earlier
anniversaries are available on the website in German and French.
The Swiss National Bank in Berne –
an illustrated chronicle
A chronicle of the Swiss National Bank in Berne entitled Die Schweizerische
Nationalbank in Bern – eine illustrierte Chronik was published in
collaboration with the Society for Art History in Switzerland to mark the
100th anniversary of the inauguration of the SNB’s head office at
Bundesplatz 1 in Berne. The bilingual (German and French), illustrated book
is available under www.snb.ch, The SNB, History, SNB celebrates 100th
anniversary of building in Berne.
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Monetary Economic Issues Today
The ‘Monetary Economic Issues Today’ Festschrift published by the SNB to
mark the 75th birthday of Ernst Baltensperger comprises 27 articles covering
a cross-section of monetary economics. It offers an insight into current
research issues and is available from bookshops.
Our National Bank
Our National Bank, a resource for schools and the general public, can be
found at our.snb.ch. It provides easily accessible information on topics such
as the SNB and its monetary policy, the importance of price stability
and the history of the minimum exchange rate. The resource is available in
German, French, Italian and English, and can also be obtained in brochure
form in all four languages (print and online).

Educational resources

Iconomix
Iconomix is the SNB’s web-based educational programme. It offers a range
of teaching material that can be either downloaded or ordered. It is aimed at
teachers of economics and humanities at upper secondary schools, but is also
open to the general public. Iconomix is free of charge and is available in full
in German, French and Italian, and partially in English, at www.iconomix.ch
Swiss National Bank, Library
Email:			
library@snb.ch
Telephone:			
+ 41 58 631 11 50
Postal address:			
P.O. Box, 8022 Zurich
Address:			
SNB Forum, Fraumünsterstrasse 8, 8001 Zurich
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5
Addresses

Head offices
Berne

Bundesplatz 1
P.O. Box
3003 Berne

Telephone
Fax
Email

+ 41 58 631 00 00
+ 41 58 631 50 00
snb@snb.ch

Zurich

Börsenstrasse 15
P.O. Box
8022 Zurich

Telephone
Fax
Email

+ 41 58 631 00 00
+ 41 58 631 50 00
snb@snb.ch

Representative offices
Basel

Freie Strasse 27
P.O. Box
4001 Basel

Telephone
Email

+ 41 58 631 40 00
basel@snb.ch

Geneva

Rue de la Croix-d’Or 19
P.O. Box
1211 Geneva 3

Telephone
Email

+ 41 58 631 40 20
geneve@snb.ch

Lausanne

Avenue de la Gare 18
P.O. Box
1001 Lausanne

Telephone
Email

+ 41 58 631 40 10
lausanne@snb.ch

Lucerne

Münzgasse 6
P.O. Box
6007 Lucerne

Telephone
Email

+ 41 58 631 40 40
luzern@snb.ch

Lugano

Via Giovan Battista Pioda 6
6900 Lugano

Telephone
Email

+ 41 58 631 40 60
lugano@snb.ch

St Gallen

Neugasse 43
P.O. Box
9004 St Gallen

Telephone
Email

+ 41 58 631 40 70
st.gallen@snb.ch

Agencies
The Swiss National Bank maintains agencies operated by cantonal banks in Appenzell,
Chur, Fribourg, Geneva, Glarus, Liestal, Lucerne, Sarnen, Schaffhausen, Schwyz, Sion,
Stans and Zug.
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Branch office
Singapore

8 Marina View #35-02
Asia Square Tower 1
Singapore 018960
UEN T13FC0043D

Telephone
Email

+ 65 65 80 8888
singapore@snb.ch

Fraumünsterstrasse 8
8001 Zurich

Telephone
Email

+ 41 58 631 80 20
forum@snb.ch

SNB Forum
Fraumünsterstrasse 8
8001 Zurich

Telephone
Fax
Email

+ 41 58 631 11 50
+ 41 58 631 50 48
library@snb.ch

SNB Forum
Zurich

Library
Zurich

Website
www.snb.ch
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6
Rounding conventions
and abbreviations

Rounding conventions
The figures in the income statement, balance sheet and tables are rounded;
totals may therefore deviate from the sum of individual items.
The figures 0 and 0.0 are rounded values representing less than half of the unit used,
yet more than zero (rounded zero).
A dash (–) in place of a number stands for zero (absolute zero).

ABBREVIATIONS
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AOA

Auditor Oversight Act

AUD

Australian dollar

BCBS

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BIS)

BCM

Business continuity management

BIS

Bank for International Settlements

CAD

Canadian dollar

CBDC

Central bank digital currency

CCyB

Countercyclical capital buffer

CGFS

Committee on the Global Financial System (BIS)

CLS

Continuous Linked Settlement

CMF

Committee on Financial Markets (OECD)

CNY

Chinese yuan (renminbi)

CO

Swiss Code of Obligations

CPI

Consumer price index

CPIA

Federal Act on Currency and Payment Instruments

CPMI

Committee on Payments and Market Infrastructures (BIS)

CRF

SNB COVID-19 refinancing facility

CSSP

Committee on Statistics and Statistical Policy (OECD)

DKK

Danish krone

ECB

European Central Bank

EPC

Economic Policy Committee (OECD)

ERCO

Ordinance against Excessive Remuneration in
Listed Companies Limited by Shares

ETH

Federal Institute of Technology

EUR

Euro

Eurostat

EU Statistical Office

FDF

Federal Department of Finance

Fed

US Federal Reserve

FINMA

Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority

FinMIA

Financial Market Infrastructure Act

FMI

Financial market infrastructure

FOH

Federal Office for Housing
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FSB

Financial Stability Board

FS-ISAC

Financial Sector Information Sharing and Analysis Centre

FX

Foreign exchange

GAAP

Swiss Accounting and Reporting Recommendations (Swiss GAAP FER)

GBP

Pound sterling

GDP

Gross domestic product

GFXC

Global Foreign Exchange Committee

G20

Group of the 20 leading advanced and emerging economies

ICS

Internal control system

ILO

International Labour Organization

IMF

International Monetary Fund

IMFC

International Monetary and Financial Committee (IMF)

ISDA

International Swaps and Derivatives Association

JPY

Japanese yen

KRW

South Korean won

LCH

London Clearing House Ltd

Libor

London Interbank Offered Rate

MC

Markets Committee (BIS)

MMDRC

Money market debt register claims

NAB

New Arrangements to Borrow (IMF)

NBA

National Bank Act

NBO

National Bank Ordinance

NCSC

National Cyber Security Centre

NGFS

Central Banks and Supervisors Network for Greening the Financial System

NWG

National Working Group on Swiss Franc Reference Rates

OASI

Old age and survivors’ insurance

OECD

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

OPEC

Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries

PEPP

Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (ECB)

PRGT

Poverty Reduction and Growth Trust (IMF)

Repo

Repurchase agreement

SARON

Swiss Average Rate Overnight

SCION

Scalability, Control and Isolation on Next-Generation Networks

SDDS Plus

Special Data Dissemination Standard Plus (IMF)

SDR

Special Drawing Right (IMF)

SDX

SIX Digital Exchange

SECO

State Secretariat for Economic Affairs

SEK

Swedish krona

SFSO

Swiss Federal Statistical Office

SGD

Singapore dollar

SIC

Swiss Interbank Clearing

SIF

State Secretariat for International Finance
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SR

Official Compilation of Federal Laws and Decrees

SSFN

Secure Swiss Finance Network

SWIFT

Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication

TBTF

Too big to fail

TLTRO

Targeted Longer-Term Refinancing Operations (ECB)

TPA

Triparty Agent

USD

US dollar
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